
AGENDA FOR

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Contact: Michael Cunliffe
Direct Line: 0161 2535399
E-mail: m.cunliffe@bury.gov.uk
Web Site: www.bury.gov.uk

To: All Members of Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Councillors: R Caserta (Chair), T Cummings, J Harris, 
N Jones, K Leach, B Mortenson, M Powell, L Smith, 
S Smith, Susan Southworth, R Walker and C Walsh

Dear Member/Colleague

Overview and Scrutiny Committee

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee which will be held as follows:-

Date: Tuesday, 10 March 2020

Place: Meeting Rooms A & B Bury Town Hall

Time: 6.00 pm

Briefing

Facilities:

If Opposition Members and Co-opted Members require 
briefing on any particular item on the Agenda, the 
appropriate Director/Senior Officer originating the 
related report should be contacted.

Notes:



AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES  

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee are asked to consider 
whether they have an interest in any matters on the agenda and, if so, to 
formally declare that interest.

3  PUBLIC QUESTION TIME  

A period of 30 minutes has been set aside for members of the public to 
ask questions on matters considered at the last meeting and set out in 
the minutes or on the agenda for tonight’s meeting.

4  MINUTES  (Pages 1 - 14)

Minutes of the meeting held on 30th January 2020 and the 11th February 
2020 are attached.

5  COMMUNITY ASSET TRANSFER UPDATE  (Pages 15 - 22)

A report from Councillor Tariq, Cabinet Member for Children and Young 
People is attached.

6  BURY INTEGRATED COMMISSIONING FUND  (Pages 23 - 120)

A report from Councillor E O’Brien is attached.

7  BURY AND RADCLIFFE MARKETS UPDATE  (Pages 121 - 124)

A report from Councillor Jane Black, Member for Corporate Affairs & HR is 
attached.

8  URGENT  BUSINESS  

Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair 
agrees may be considered as a matter of urgency.



173

Minutes of: OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Date of Meeting: 30th January 2020

Present: Councillor R Caserta (in the Chair)
Councillors T Cummings, J Harris, N Jones, M Powell, 
L Smith, S Smith, S Southworth, R Walker, C Walsh
Mrs Wild and Mr McKay (co-opted members)

Also in 
Attendance:

Public Attendance:

Councillor Tariq, Cabinet Member for Children and Families
Councillor Quinn, Cabinet Member for Environment
Councillor Gold – for item 10
Lynne Ridsdale, Executive Director – Corporate Core & 
Deputy Chief Executive
Paul Lakin, Director of Economic Regeneration & Capital 
Growth 
Crispian Logue, Head of Service (Strategic Planning and 
Economic Development)
Karen Dolton, Executive Director – Children and Young 
People
Neil Long, Assistant Director, Operations
Julie Kenrick, Head of Service, Bury Adult Education

Three members of the public were present at the meeting.

Apologies for Absence: Councillor B Mortenson

OSC.XXX DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

OSC.XXX PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 

Mrs Birchmore asked what had been achieved by the expenditure in Radcliffe and 
what public consultation had there been.

Paul Lakin responded that this was detailed in the report.  The consultants had 
worked with the Radcliffe Regeneration Task Group to agree projects and had 
worked with councillors and businesses to test option.

Mr Jim McDougall from Climate Action Bury asked why there had been little 
progress since the motion at Council.

Councillor Quinn responded that there had been a lot of action, providing a 
number of examples such as increased recycling rates, work with City of Trees, 
working with housing developers to provide Passivhaus construction, LED lighting, 
and Radcliffe and Redvales flood defences.

OSC.XXX RADCLIFFE REGENERATION

Lynne Ridsdale, Executive Director – Corporate Core & Deputy Chief Executive, 
introduced the report which set out details of spend and the work of the cross-

Document Pack Page 1 Agenda Item 4



174

party, task force.  The overall budget for the scheme had been approved by Full 
Council, and a report providing more specific details of expenditure and decisions 
made would be brought back to Scrutiny at a later meeting.

Members of the committee raised a number of queries and issues including that 
some of the expenditure was simply used for ‘surface dressing’ and was failing to 
get the investment achieved such as in places like Ramsbottom.  Concerns were 
raised about the lack of support being provided to businesses to invest in 
Radcliffe, such as reducing business rates or rents.  The potential of Radcliffe in 
terms of transport links was noted.

Paul Lakin, Director of Economic Regeneration & Capital Growth confirmed that 
the works currently undertaken is only the start of works and a plan for the area, 
including exploring opportunities such as the strong towns fund will be 
undertaken.

Members of the committee also asked how the benefits of the investment and 
their returns was monitored and assessed.

Crispian Logue, Head of Service (Strategic Planning and Economic Development) 
stated that it was difficult to measure, but feedback on environmental 
improvements or increased footfall will help to measure this.  A strategic 
framework for Radcliffe was currently being developed.

The committee also noted that the needs of the local community were important, 
a gentrification of the area was not what was wanted as this could push out local 
people. 

Paul Lakin agreed, highlighting the need to use the river and the natural 
environment and develop events for all (e.g. free walking groups).  There is also a 
need to address the challenging infrastructure; with signification council ownership 
this is an opportunity to create a town centre that works.

Councillor Tariq noted the successes in the town, such as the market, increased 
community engagement, increased footfall, and the likelihood of a new school in 
the future.  All of which should be a catalyst for further regeneration in the future.

It was agreed:

The report was noted.

It was agreed that a more detailed report on expenditure and commissioning be 
presented to a future meeting of the committee.

OSC.XXX SEN STRATEGY

Councillor Tariq, Cabinet Member for Children and Families, provided an 
introduction to the report.

Members of the committee asked what was being done around out of borough 
placements and if a budget had been requested to invest in bringing them back.

Document Pack Page 2



175

Karen Dolton, Executive Director – Children and Young People, stated that there 
was a plan to bring sixty-nine children back into the borough, which in itself would 
generate savings.  Therefore, there was no need to ask for extra money.  The 
benefits of bringing children back to the borough where emphasised as this will 
bring them closer to family networks.  Bury is going to take a proactive / can do 
approach to providing services in the future.

Following questions from the committee about school provision as a result of 
bringing children back in borough, Karen Dolton confirmed that the service would 
be working with schools to develop models of provision such as at Elmsbank and 
St Monica’s.

Karen Dolton also explained the process on EHCs and work with health colleagues 
to give the necessary levels of support.

It was agreed: 

The report be noted.

OSC.XXX DEVELOPING SOCIAL EMOTIONAL AND MENTAL HEALTH (SEMH) 
PROVISION IN BURY

It was agreed: 

The report be noted and was recognised by the committee as a good piece of 
work.

OSC.XXX CHILDREN MISSING IN EDUCATION AND THOSE NOT ATTENDING 
SCHOOL REGULARLY

The work undertaken was also noted as being a good piece of work.

Members of the committee commented on the loss of social interaction that arose 
from children being educated at home.

Karen Dolton also explained why children are lost from the system, such as 
families moving during the school holidays and not notifying their old school.

It was agreed: 

The report be noted.

OSC.XXX RAISING THE PARTICIPATION IN LEARNING FORUM

Following discussion at the meeting, Karen Dolton agreed to present a further 
report on NEATS to the meeting of the 11 March 2020.

It was agreed: 

Document Pack Page 3



176

The report be noted.

Monthly updates be provided to the committee on this topic.

A further report on NEATS be brought to the meeting of 11 March 2020.  

OSC.XXX ADULT LEARNING SERVICE ADVISORY GROUP ANNUAL REPORT

Councillor Richard Gold presented the annual report.

Julie Kenrick discussed the recent peer review by Blackburn and agreed to forward 
information to members of the committee.

Members of the committee noted the importance of continuing to use former 
Childrens Centres to provide services in the community.

It was agreed: 

The report be noted.

OSC.XXX HIGHWAYS CAPITAL PROGRAMME

Members of the committee asked for details on the programme for resurfacing 
cul-de-sacs and for prioritising work.

Councillor Alan Quinn, Cabinet Member for Environment, discussed the process for 
prioritising works using local and Department of Transport data.  However, he 
stressed that major roads would take priority, so some works would be limited due 
to financial constraints.

Neil Long, Assistant Director, also confirmed that the Council was more proactive 
in street maintenance, using tools such as the Jet Patcher to repair problems 
quickly before more significant work was needed.

Councillor Quinn confirmed a list of works to be done was due to be completed 
imminently.

It was agreed: 

The report be noted.

OSC.XXX WASTE MANAGEMENT

Committee members noted that there are still a lot of complaints about the bin 
collection service, with street being missed.

Document Pack Page 4



177

Councillor Quinn confirmed that training of all staff was needed to address this 
concern.

Committee members also asked about charging for replacing brown bins, and 
what happened if any bins were damaged by the compactor.

Councillor Quinn stated that we would apologise and replace bins damaged by the 
wagons.  Occasionally bins can be damaged in this way.  The £10 replacement 
charge was introduced, not to make a profit, but to stop abuse where people were 
simply not looking for their bins.

It was agreed: 

The report be noted.

COUNCILLOR R CASERTA
Chair 

(Note:  The meeting started at 7.00pm and ended at 9.10pm)

Document Pack Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



173

Minutes of: OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Date of Meeting: 11th February 2020

Present: Councillor R Caserta (in the Chair)
Councillors T Cummings, J Harris, N Jones, B Mortenson, 
Susan Southworth, R Walker 

Also in 
Attendance:

Public Attendance:

Councillor O’Brien

Two members of the public were present at the meeting.

Apologies for Absence:Councillor S Smith (CL), Councillor L Smith, Councillor M 
Powell and Councillor C Walsh

OSC.XXX DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

OSC.XXX PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 

Mrs Susan Sollazzi from Bury Climate Action submitted the following question: 
“Given that the revenue and capital reports you are about to consider include no 
allocations aimed at achieving Bury Council's stated aim of becoming carbon 
neutral by 2030, and given that such aim cannot be achieved without considerable 
investment of both revenue and capital (for example in appointing a Climate 
Officer and team to formulate and coordinate climate action planning; in 
improving housing stock and replacing vehicle fleets to reduce emissions) could 
the Scrutiny Committee Members state whether they are satisfied that the Council 
is taking its pledge to the people of Bury sufficiently seriously, and if not, what 
powers they have to ensure the required change?”

Councillor Caserta pointed out that as this is a scrutiny committee it cannot really 
explain the Council’s position with regards to this question.

Councillor O’Brien, agreed that the question raised an important issue, which was 
passed unanimously at Council.  He explained that there had been a lot of positive 
action since the passing of the resolution, including the banning of fracking on 
Council land; partnership working with a number of agencies on the City of Trees; 
reducing use of plastic and introducing a deposit return scheme; and increased 
recycling.

Councillor O’Brien, stated that there was nothing specifically for this issue in the 
budget, but committed to resource being available in terms of financial and officer 
capacity as soon as possible.  However, the key thing is not for the Council to do 
this to communities, but to work with them, schools, businesses and other groups 
as all had a part to play.

OSC.XXX MONTH 9 CORPORATE MONITORING REPORT

Document Pack Page 7



Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 11th February 2020

174

Councillor O’Brien, Cabinet Member for Finance & Housing attended the meeting 
to present this item, however, it was assumed that all members of the committee 
had read the report and the following questions and comments were made:

Councillor Harris asked why the libraries are reported as making a loss, when the 
numbers were so reduced and why is there a forecast overspend at the gallery 
and museum.  Councillor Harris stated this showed a lack of control.

Councillor O’Brien explained that the gallery and museum had an unrealistic 
savings target as they were expected to generate more income.  The libraries are 
now fewer in number and are better placed to serve the community.  They are 
expected to make savings in the future.

Councillor Walker raised concerns about the central library as this has lost two 
thirds of its floor space and the area used for exhibitions is often closed to set up 
or take down exhibits.  Has this brought in the international tourists members 
believed it would.  The Cultural Quarter has twenty four bars in it.

Councillor Harris supported this point, stating the venue had a lot of potential and 
asked if a change in the team running it was needed, bringing in someone with 
more expertise.

Councillor O’Brien stated that when Tony Trehy had previously presented 
initiatives to the committee, there has been a lot of progress, including Bury Town 
of Culture, Victoria Wood statue and exhibit, etc. and we need to take the 
initiative and build on these.  We need a different niche that places like 
Manchester and Salford.

Councillor Jones raised concerns about unrealistic targets and that the level of 
reserves had dropped again.

Councillor O’Brien pointed out that we were in the last year of a three year cycle 
of £32m cuts, on top of the £67m that had already taken place.  This is 
compounded with the national picture of uncertainty, and pressure on Adult Social 
Care and Childrens’ budgets.  Therefore, £4m shortfall is a relatively small 
amount, which will further reduce to £3.5m next year and although it gave him no 
pleasure in reporting this, it had to be considered along with issues like fair 
funding for the borough and increased pressures on fewer staff.  He also pointed 
out that we have more in general reserves than we had in 2010, which better 
protects the Council from any unexpected shocks to the system.

Councillor Jones disagreed and stated that there was not enough transformation.  
He pointed out that a £47k increase in bank charges showed that the organisation 
was not well run.  This totalled to £0.5m over a five year period.  If the Council 
invested in improvements it would not pay as much.  He agreed that there are 
unforeseen costs in Adults and Childrens’ services, but there are other services 
such as libraries reducing from twelve to four and did this result in a reduction in 
staffing or are the same people running fewer libraries.

Councillor O’Brien confirmed that the savings from the libraries was mainly due to 
a reduction in staffing.  He also pointed out the transformation of the Council was 
not finalised yet, but the Strategic Commissioning Board has been set up to 

Document Pack Page 8



Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 21 November 2019

175

oversee progress.  Councillor O’Brien highlighted a number of initiatives to make 
savings, including working with the CCG to avoid duplication; increase in business 
start-ups; greater scrutiny of delivery of proposals by senior officers; planning 
over the next three years to be better able to adapt to challenges; and freeing up 
earmarked reserves which are no longer needed.  However, he confirmed that 
there is still a lot of work to do.

Councillor Caserta asked why there was going to be joint financing of the Council 
and the CCG.

Councillor O’Brien confirmed that the two organisation have shared objectives.  
Both organisations need each other to make transformation work.

Councillor Caserta asked why the Council’s budgets was risked by the £8.7m debt 
and £2m loss from the CCG being brought in to the two organisations.  Why was 
the risk split 50:50 when places like Rochdale had 70:30 shared risk?

Councillor O’Brien stated that it was an ongoing, shared risk for the benefit of the 
people of Bury.

Mike Woodhead stated the CCG had broken even on budgets over the last five 
years, although this year they needed additional support.  The share of risk is 
based on how much each organisation brings in, hence different agreements in 
places like Rochdale.  Bury’s agreement was made at Cabinet in March 2019 and 
sets out the risks and benefits.

Councillor Jones noted underspend / carry over of £900k refurbishment monies for 
the market and asked why this had happened.

Councillor O’Brien explained that undertaking such work is not unusual and it was 
important to engage with the market traders.

Councillor Jones asked what had been achieved by the Executive Director of 
Economic Growth, as a lot had been promised but nothing seemed to have been 
delivered, examples of Prestwich and Radcliffe initiatives were given.  A question 
was also asked as to why Radcliffe was not part of the future high street fund bid.

Councillor O’Brien confirmed that there had been successes, such as the new bus 
station in Radcliffe, new Lidl, and the ‘Jewel in the Crown’ – the market.  
Initiatives had to be planned strategically, which is why it was felt Prestwich, and 
not Radcliffe, be part of the future high street fund bid.

Councillor Walker asked if consideration had been given to merging some back 
office services, e.g. Legal Services, with other authorities.

Councillor O’Brien stated that benchmarking had shown Bury to be the most 
efficient and lean, therefore unlikely to get much benefit from co-working with 
other authorities at this time.

Mike Woodhead also pointed out that the creation of the Corporate Core with the 
Council and CCG would bring about further, internal efficiencies.

Document Pack Page 9



Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 11th February 2020

176

Councillor Caserta raised concerns about the comment of the ‘Jewel in the Crown’ 
as it was not clear what benefits this was having for the Council or the community.

Councillor Caserta raised concerns about Table 11 where surpluses of over £4m 
for Council Tax and Business Rates were higher than the combined figure of just 
over £2m reported last year.  Were the figures last year wrong / hidden last time 
and was the increase in Council Tax, blamed on austerity, justified?

Mike Woodhead and Lisa Kitto explained that this is due to different assumptions 
being made by people responsible for this.  Therefore, last year’s figures were 
correct based on the assumptions made at the time.

The report was noted.

OSC.XXX TREASURY MANAGEMENT REPORT

Councillor O’Brien, Cabinet Member for Finance & Housing attended the meeting 
to present this item, however, it was assumed that all members of the committee 
had read the report and the following questions and comments were made:

Councillor Harris asked for more information on how the Council invested in 
property and are we getting good returns.

Councillor O’Brien confirmed we were getting better returns that if the money was 
in the bank and that this information on individual investments would be made 
available.

Paul Lakin also confirmed that the property in Lytham that was empty is under 
offer to a national retail chain.

Councillor Walker asked who advised on investments and are we saddling future 
Councils with long term debt.

Lisa Kitto explained that investment was a specific area and specialists Link 
Advisors are used.  This is also not long term debt.  It is also structured to pay 
less now and more in 20-25years time when the value of the loan will be less due 
to inflation.

Councillor Jones stated that for years the administration had blames austerity and 
the government for the state of the Council’s budgets.  But a lot of money had 
just been found and asked why this had only been done now.

Councillor O’Brien stated this was nonsense, we had lost £100m from Council 
budgets and the minor accounting change identified this year was not comparable.  
New capacity and leadership now had led to changes of decisions on financial 
management.

It was agreed: 

The report be noted.

Document Pack Page 10



Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 21 November 2019

177

OSC.XXX REVENUE BUDGET REPORT 2020/21

Councillor O’Brien, Cabinet Member for Finance & Housing attended the meeting 
to present this item, however, it was assumed that all members of the committee 
had read the report and the following questions and comments were made:

Councillor Caserta asked if there was any risk to income from potential 
Government clawback of Business Rates.

Mike Woodhead confirmed that amounts in the pilot are confirmed until 2021.

Councillor Harris asked if it seemed that we are better off as a Council this year.

Councillor O’Brien replied that this is the least worst settlement we have had in a 
long time, but we still need to keep up with our plans as these figures were only 
for one year and we do not know if there will be increased demands from Adult 
and Childrens’ social care.

It was agreed: 

The report be noted.

OSC.XXX HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT

Councillor O’Brien, Cabinet Member for Finance & Housing attended the meeting 
to present this item, however, it was assumed that all members of the committee 
had read the report and the following questions and comments were made:

Councillor Harris asked if, based on the levels of bad debt reported, we had not 
got to grips with this and what plans were for collection.

Councillor O’Brien noted this concern, reflecting that a lot of this is due to the roll 
out of Universal Credit, the impact of which has been recognised by the 
Government.  He confirmed that there were a range of initiatives in place to 
collect this debt, such as teams in Six Town Housing and work with Citizens’ 
Advice.  

Councillor O’Brien also pointed out that, while we should not be complacent, our 
levels of bad debt provision are adequate.

Councillor Caserta asked for Mike Woodhead’s views and also whether the Council 
Tax team, reported as successful in the past, still existed.

Mike Woodhead confirmed that arrears can be volatile but we are strengthening 
our debt recovery processes and looking to improve all the time.

Councillor O’Brien confirmed the Council Tax team still existed and were 
successful.  Work was ongoing to look to replicate their success in the collection of 
housing debts.

Document Pack Page 11



Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 11th February 2020

178

It was agreed: 

The report be noted.

OSC.XXX DEDICATED SCHOOLS GRANT

Councillor O’Brien, Cabinet Member for Finance & Housing attended the meeting 
to present this item, however, it was assumed that all members of the committee 
had read the report and the following questions and comments were made:

Councillor Walker asked what was meant by ‘high needs’.

Steve Goodwin explained the Dedicated Schools Grant was split between three 
different categories of needs in 2015.  The high needs block relates to children 
that cost the most to educate, although the reasons for this could be quite varied.  
We have a five year plan to get a more sustainable and longer term plan to cover 
accumulated debts.  This is required to be achieved in five years by the 
Department of Education, otherwise they will introduce their recovery plan.  Steve 
Goodwin stated he is confident we will not need to use this.

Karen Dolton confirmed this is the cost to the authority, not the school.  A report 
is to be brought to a future meeting to show if we are getting value for money 

It was agreed: 

The report be noted.

OSC.XXX CAPITAL STRATEGY AND PROGRAMME

Councillor O’Brien, Cabinet Member for Finance & Housing attended the meeting 
to present this item, however, it was assumed that all members of the committee 
had read the report and the following questions and comments were made:

Councillor Jones asked if the £10m spend on the operational fleet was a 
breakdown upgrade.

Donna Ball confirmed that most of the fleet was at the end of its operational life.  
It would be replaced on a three year phased programme.  The waste fleet is likely 
to be first as replacements can take up to a year to get.  It is also hoped to trial 
an electric vehicle.

Councillor Caserta asked for a breakdown of spend in Radcliffe.

Councillor O’Brien confirmed this will be brought back later this year.

Mike Woodhead also confirmed that future spend will need to go through a more 
rigorous capital gateway with Manchester City Council, to provide plans are 
credible, rational and value for money.

Councillor Caserta asked for a breakdown on s106 monies.

Document Pack Page 12



Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 21 November 2019

179

Mike Woodhead stated there is an annual report done by the monitoring officer 
which will include this.

Councillor Caserta asked what we do with bequests of money.  

Mike Woodhead confirmed that there is around £0.75m of money.  A future item 
will be brought back with detail on this.

Councillor Jones pointed out that two of the six townships apparently did not get 
any funding.

Councillor O’Brien stated this was not listed specifically, for example Whitefield 
would be subject to investment at Wheatfields and the Uplands.  However, as 
there were no specific details nothing was shown in the report.

Councillor Caserta asked that the committee and local councillors be kept in the 
loop on any township decisions.

Councillor Harris expressed concerns that money should not be spent just because 
it was there.

Paul Lakin concurred.

Councillor Jones asked who signs off the expenditure, particularly high amounts.

Councillor O’Brien explained there was a top level process for operational decision 
sign off.

Councillor Jones asked who signs off smaller amount.

Lynne Ridsdale stated there was a consistent delegated approval process.  A 
report on spend in Radcliffe will be brought to a future meeting.

It was agreed: 

The report be noted.

COUNCILLOR R CASERTA
Chair 

(Note:  The meeting started at 7.00 pm and ended at 8.55pm)

Document Pack Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



1

MEETING: OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

DATE: TUESDAY 10 MARCH 2020

SUBJECT: UPDATE FOLLOWING THE CALL IN MEETING – 
CHILDREN’S CENTRES REPORT

REPORT FROM: SANDRA BRUCE, ASSISTANT DIRECTOR (EARLY HELP 
AND SCHOOL READINESS)

CONTACT OFFICER: SANDRA BRUCE

1. Introduction

1.1. The Community Asset Transfer of Children Centre buildings is premised on the 
provider continuing to comply with statutory requirements in relation to any 
offer, laid out in the Children Act 2006 and associated guidance including 
requirements set out in the regulatory framework for inspection.

1.2. The transfer and delivery of the Children Centre offer will need to reflect current 
drivers both from a GM and local perspective of meeting needs early and 
locally, with greater emphasis on communities contributing to the development 
and delivery of services.

2. Background

Executive Summary

 In November 2019 Cabinet agreed, in principle, to explore Community Asset 
Transfer of 5 of its Children Centre buildings.

 The transfer of assets was the subject of a call in meeting of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee in January 2020 and will be further reviewed by the 
Committee on 10 March 2020.

 This report provides O and S with an update on progress; including the statutory 
requirements linked to the Children Centre offer and framework for inspection 
which will need to be considered as part of any transfer of buildings.

Recommendations
It is recommended that O and S 

 Review the information and offer any comment or feedback on progress of the 
Community Asset Transfer process 

Agenda
Item

SCRUTINY REPORT  

Document Pack Page 15 Agenda Item 5



2

2.1. The LA has a statutory duty to provide a universal offer to parents and young 
children set out in the Children Act 2006 and the associated guidance of 2013 
through its Children Centre provision.

2.2. Whilst the Act is not prescriptive of the offer it lays out certain principles that 
the LA must deliver on.

2.3. A Childrens Centre is defined as a place or group of places which is managed on 
behalf of or under the arrangements with the LA to ensure that early childhood 
services are provided. 

2.4. The LA should provide universal and targeted early childhood services and 
must provide some of those services on site.

2.5. The core purpose of the Centre is to improve outcomes for young children and 
reduce inequalities between families in greatest need and their peers in

 Child development and school readiness
 Parenting aspirations
 Child and family health and life chances

2.6 Whilst the LA can make its own arrangements on how it delivers the offer it 
needs to ensure that there are sufficient centers to meet local needs. 

2.7 The statutory guidance also makes clear that any offer should integrate with 
the provision both of universal services but also targeted services including 
when families require intervention from social care.  The transfer of assets must 
ensure that the offer integrates with Bury’s early help approach through its 
adoption of the Stockport Family Model as well as the principles underpinning 
the approach of restorative practice and a strength based practice model.  Any 
new provider will also need to ensure it understands Burys approach to 
neighborhood working and commitment to the mainstreaming and embedding 
of the principles underpinning its Troubled Families agenda.

2.8 In addition to statutory responsibility and guidance, the LA must also ensure 
that its offers meets the requirements set out in the OFSTED inspection 
framework for Childrens Centres.  Whilst this framework has been suspended it 
has not been revoked and therefore the LA will still need to be able to meet 
inspection requirements should these be re-introduced and any provider will 
need to keep relevant data and to evidence positive impact of services on 
children families and communities.

3 Community Asset Transfer

3.1 Cabinet has already agreed to the principle of exploring transfer of Children 
Centre Buildings as part of community asset transfer.  This ‘fits’ with Burys 
commitment to engaging locally with communities, the principles of co-
production and co-delivery and this process could provide a dynamic 
opportunity to engage with other sectors and partners in delivering quality early 
years services as part of an integrated early help offer which is more directly 
linked to local need and influenced by the community.

3.2 The process to complete the Community Asset Transfer toolkit is underway.  A 
meeting with key stakeholders has been held to draw up draft guidance linked 

Document Pack Page 16



3

to the Children Centre Offer which will be core to the toolkit and sets out 
expectations for any provider. 

3.3 The offer is draft as any provider will need to evidence their commitment and 
strategy for engaging local communities to contribute to the offer.  The current 
draft offer is available at appendix 1.

3.4 The toolkit has been completed and work is currently on going to complete the 
necessary associated information which is on track for completion by end of 
March 2020 at which point applications will be invited from providers who wish 
to lease the buildings alongside evidence of how they will meet statutory 
requirements.  The progress of transfer will be dependent on what offers are 
received as to whether this process progresses.

3.5 It will be imperative that any community asset transfer is done in partnership 
with the LA as the LA will retain responsibility under the Act to deliver the 
universal offer for families with children under 5

4  Financial implications

4.1 Assuming full transfer of costs to new management arrangements the net full 
year effect saving will be £136,289.  However, this is not the driver for 
considering this step and the LA will continue to have responsibility for building 
maintenance as the ‘landlord’ which will likely reduce savings made in the short 
to medium term.  

5 Legal implications

5.1 As identified in the original cabinet paper, any legal issues arising will be 
addressed in the Community Asset Transfer toolkit which is on track for 
completion by the end of March 2020.

6 Associated Risks

6.1 Whilst there remains a limited Children Centre offer which meets the basic 
statutory requirements, buildings are not being fully utilized and the 
expectation for the LA to deliver a sound and qualitative offer to families that 
demonstrates impact cannot currently be evidenced.  Should the inspection 
framework be reintroduced Bury is currently at risk of being found inadequate 
in its offer.  However, Bury is in a position to build a new and exciting offer 
which would allow for co-production and design and could see buildings utilized 
in new and different ways to meet its statutory role as well as have a much 
greater impact on its communities, if assets are transferred to the right 
provider who it can partner on delivering the offer.

6.2 In maintaining the status quo, continuation of existing arrangements will 
perpetuate the current ineffective use of Children’s Centre buildings, and the 
associated ongoing revenue costs. Further, no provision has been made for 
capital investment in existing assets that will be required over time.  

6.3 In seeking interest, there is a risk that there is no interest, or that the provider 
is unable/unprepared to meet ongoing running costs or deliver on the statutory 

Document Pack Page 17



4

requirements and wider vision of the offer.  Officers will seek to support and 
partner with providers especially from Voluntary and Community Sector 
organisations in the development of sustainable business cases.

7 Conclusion

7.1 The process for transfer is currently underway and on track.  The viability of 
the process will be more clear once the toolkit is completed and offers invited in 
April. 

7.2 Community Asset Transfer offers an opportunity to build a real community offer 
whilst also meeting statutory requirements.  There is the opportunity to better 
integrate the Early Years offer with the wider locality early help offer as well as 
supporting better integration when families need a more targeted response 
from Social Care.  The transfer of assets could allow the right provider to 
partner with the LA to build a more dynamic and sustainable offer which has 
greater impact for our families.

7.3 The process of inviting providers and assessing applications received is due to 
be completed by the end of May 2020 with a view to return for cabinet approval 
by July 2020 and transition and implementation due to be completed by 
August/September 2020. This is currently on track but is dependent on the 
quality of applications and this will be clearer in May

Appendix 1 – Draft Offer

Children Centre 
Offer.docx

List of Background Papers:-

Contact Details:-

Sandra Bruce 
Assistant Director (Early Help and School Readiness)
s.bruce@bury.gov.uk
March 2020 

Executive Director sign off Friday 28 February 2020

JET Meeting Date: Monday 2 March 2020

Document Pack Page 18

mailto:s.bruce@bury.gov.uk


Appendix 1   Bury Children Centres –The Offer 2020

The Children Centre Vision

Bury Children Centres will improve outcomes for young children and their families and reduce 
inequalities, particularly for those families in greatest need of support.

Principles

 The Centre offers will meet the statutory requirements set out in Children Act 2006 
pertaining to Children Centre provision linked to Early Years

 Any provider will implement and maintain a quality assurance framework which evidences 
quality of provision and impact  for families

 Any provider will engage with the GMCA work programmes linked to key outcomes in early 
years with a focus on school readiness and ensure any offer meets these requirements.

 The provider will engage with the community to ensure that the offer links specifically to 
individual community need/priority, is co-produced and where appropriate co-delivered

 The offer will integrate with the wider early help offer through Burys ‘Team Around…’ 
 The provider will ensure Advisory Groups are established representing partners, businesses, 

third sector and local community. 
 The Children Centre Offer is not wholly linked to buildings and any provider needs to 

consider both how buildings are utilised across the community need as well as considering 
other local resources that can be engaged and used  to deliver the offer 

Proposed Offer

This is not an exhaustive list but any provider would need to evidence as a minimum the ability to 
engage with key stakeholders to develop a wide range of offer across Family need including

Children Centre Offer Example of activity Outcome focus

Sessional Support

Group sessions where 
parents/carers can stay 
with their child/ren 

 Pre-natal
 Post natal
 Learning  

through Play
 Speech and 

language
 Support with 

parenting across 
universal and 
targeted 
services 
(Solihull/ 
Webster 
Stratton/who let 
the dads out)

Improving Education 
for all Children (School 
Readiness)

Effective early 
intervention in 
safeguarding

Document Pack Page 19



Targeted Support in Early 
Learning/School Readiness

Early Years Advisory 
teachers  based in each 
of the 3 localities will be 
available to help 
establish early years 
quality networks

Effective early 
intervention in 
safeguarding 

School Readiness

Midwifery Offer 
Build on current delivery 
of ante natal care and 
link to GMCA 1001 
critical days pathways

 Booking in 
clinics

 Baby massage
 HV mobile 

clinics
 Parental Infant 

Mental Health 
support

 Bonding and 
attachment

Improving Parental 
and Child Health

Parent/carer support

Examples of this include 
advice, support and 
guidance for 
parents/carers, such as 

 Essential 
Parenting online 
platform,

  promotion of 
campaigns 
around early 
language Tiny 
Happy People, 
Hungry Little 
Minds

 Bury Directory
 CAB/DWP/Job 

Clubs
 Housing Advice 

Surgeries
 Relationship 

Support (How to 
Argue Better)

Effective early 
intervention in 
safeguarding

Improving Parental 
and Child Health

Promoting the 
economic prospects of 
families

Document Pack Page 20



Targeted Family Support

 Lead on 
developing Early 
Help 
assessments and 
TATF plans

 Home visits to 
offer 
support/advice

 Targeted group 
activity or 1:1 
support

Effective early 
intervention in 
safeguarding

Facilitate key networking 
opportunities and support 
to share expertise and 
ensure a quality and 
consistent  offer actress 
the whole of Bury

Examples may include
 Parent toddler 

leads forum
 Child minder 

network
 Private provider 

forums

Improving Education 
for all Children (School 
Readiness)

Focus on Children with 
special/additional needs

The offer will include a 
support to parents with 
children with additional 
needs to ensure access 
to appropriate 
assessment and support. 
This may include

 Parent support 
groups

Improving Parental 
and Child Health

Effective early 
intervention in 
safeguarding

Data and Quality 
Assurance

The offer across the 
Centres will maintain 
data and take feedback 
which will ensure we the 
advisory group is 
focused on the impact 
of the offer and is 
continually improving 

Document Pack Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 1 of 98

DECISION OF: Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Cabinet

DATE: 10th March 2020
11th March 2020

SUBJECT: Bury Integrated Commissioning Fund

REPORT FROM: Councillor O’Brien, Cabinet member for Finance 
and Housing

CONTACT OFFICER: Mike Woodhead, Joint Chief Finance Officer

TYPE OF DECISION: CABINET KEY DECISION 

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION/STATUS:

This paper is within the public domain

SUMMARY:
On 4 September 2019, the Cabinet approved the 
proposed expansion of the health and social care 
commissioning pooled budget and the creation of a wider 
integrated commissioning fund (ICF).  Cabinet delegated 
to the Chief Executive, Chief Finance Officer and Council 
Solicitor in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Housing the power to finalise the terms of 
the Section 75 (s75) and the Financial Framework.

Due to the large financial sums involved, it is 
appropriate to bring the Section 75 and Financial 
Framework back to Cabinet for formal approval.  

The s75 Agreement and Financial Framework have been 
shared and discussed with the external auditors of both 
organisations.  They are based very closely on 
documentation already in use over recent years in other 
localities where similar arrangements exist.  Auditors 
have not raised any concerns of note.  The Council’s 
legal team have satisfied themselves regarding the 
legitimacy and robustness of the documentation.

A variation in financial contributions is allowed for in the 

REPORT FOR DECISION

Document Pack Page 23 Agenda Item 6



                                                                        

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 2 of 98

terms of the s75 Agreement and Financial Framework 
and is standard practice in these kinds of arrangements.  
The proposed variation is:

2019/20
£m

2020/21
£m

TOTAL
£m

Council +10.5 -10.5 0.0
CCG -10.5 +10.5 0.0
TOTAL 0.0 0.0 0.0

By agreeing to this variation, the Council will enable the 
CCG to achieve its statutory financial duties in 2019/20 
and hit financial control totals, thereby accessing c£4m 
of historic surplus funds that it would not otherwise 
receive in 2020/21.  

Any perceived risk regarding the CCG refusing or being 
unable to increase their contribution in 2020/21 is 
mitigated by:
 The Section 75 being a legally binding document
 The Joint Accountable Officer and Joint CFO posts 

having authority in the CCG
 The CCG being a public sector, publicly funded and 

underwritten body
 Any request to further alter the 2020/21 

contributions would require full agreement from both 
organisations.

Therefore, the risk to the Council is negligible.

The increased Council contribution can be funded from 
earmarked reserves, much of which are in place to cover 
risks and won’t be called on in the current financial year.  
This is acceptable on the basis that these reserves will 
effectively be fully replenished in a very short time scale 
(April 2020) with the increased CCG contribution.  We 
can also take comfort from the knowledge that there are 
significant increases coming into reserves on April 1, 
from the Collection Fund Surplus, as agreed in the 
Budget passed at Full Council in February 2020.

OPTIONS & 
RECOMMENDED OPTION

This paper recommends that Cabinet:

 Approve the s75 Agreement and Financial Framework 
attached to this report

 Approve a variation in the financial contributions 
(outlines above and in this paper) to be made to the 
pool by the Council and the CCG during 2019/20 and 
2020/21

IMPLICATIONS:

Corporate Aims/Policy Do the proposals accord with the Policy 

Document Pack Page 24



                                                                        

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 3 of 98

Framework: Framework? Yes
Statement by the S151 Officer:
Financial Implications and Risk 
Considerations:

The risks and mitigations are fully laid out in 
the report.  Risks to the Council are 
negligible.  The Bury Locality will benefit in 
2020/21 by c£4m.

Health and Safety n/a

Equality/Diversity implications: No

Considered by Monitoring Officer: Yes           Comments

Section 75 partnership agreements provided 
by the National Health Service Act 2006 allow 
budgets to be pooled between local health 
and social care organisations and authorities. 
Resources and management structures can 
be integrated and functions can be 
reallocated between partners. The legal 
mechanisms allowing budgets to be pooled 
under the section 75 partnership agreement 
enable greater integration between health 
and social care. This legislative provision 
enables a strategic and more efficient 
approach to commissioning local services 
across organisations and a basis to form new 
organisational structures that integrate 
health and social care. 
The associated Financial Framework 
Agreement attached to this report makes 
provision for governance and accountability 
of an integrated commissioning fund, 
responsibilities of each partner organisation, 
management responsibilities, budgeting and 
budgetary control.

Wards Affected:

Scrutiny Interest: Overview and Scrutiny

TRACKING/PROCESS DIRECTOR:

Chief Executive/
Strategic Leadership 

Team

Cabinet 
Member/Chair

Ward Members Partners

Scrutiny Committee Committee Council

JH

MW 
w

Document Pack Page 25



                                                                        

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 4 of 98

Bury Integrated Commissioning Fund

1. Executive Summary

1.1. On 4 September 2019, the Cabinet approved the proposed expansion of the health 
and social care commissioning pooled budget and the creation of a wider integrated 
commissioning fund (ICF).  Cabinet delegated to the Chief Executive, Chief Finance 
Officer and Council Solicitor in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Housing the power to finalise the terms of the Section 75 (s75) and the Financial 
Framework.

1.2. Due to the large financial sums involved, it is appropriate to bring the Section 75 and 
Financial Framework back to Cabinet for formal approval.  This paper recommends 
that Cabinet:

 Approve the s75 Agreement and Financial Framework attached to this report
 Approve a variation in the financial contributions to be made to the pool by the 

Council and the CCG during 2019/20 and 2020/21

1.3. The s75 Agreement and Financial Framework have been shared and discussed with the 
external auditors of both organisations.  They are based very closely on 
documentation already in use over recent years in other localities where similar 
arrangements exist.  Auditors have not raised any concerns of note.  The Council’s 
legal team have satisfied themselves regarding the legitimacy and robustness of the 
documentation.

1.4. A variation in financial contributions is allowed for in the terms of the s75 Agreement 
and Financial Framework and is standard practice in these kinds of arrangements.  The 
proposed variation is:

2019/20
£m

2020/21
£m

TOTAL
£m

Council +10.5 -10.5 0.0
CCG -10.5 +10.5 0.0
TOTAL 0.0 0.0 0.0

1.5. By agreeing to this variation, the Council will enable the CCG to achieve its statutory 
financial duties in 2019/20 and hit financial control totals, thereby accessing c£4m of 
historic surplus funds that it would not otherwise receive in 2020/21.  

1.6. Any perceived risk regarding the CCG refusing or being unable to increase their 
contribution in 2020/21 is mitigated by:

 The Section 75 being a legally binding document
 The Joint Accountable Officer and Joint CFO posts having authority in the CCG
 The CCG being a public sector, publicly funded and underwritten body
 Any request to further alter the 2020/21 contributions would require full 

agreement from both organisations.
Therefore, the risk to the Council is negligible.

1.7. The increased Council contribution can be funded from earmarked reserves, much of 
which are in place to cover risks and won’t be called on in the current financial year.  

Document Pack Page 26



                                                                        

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 5 of 98

This is acceptable on the basis that these reserves will effectively be fully replenished 
in a very short time scale (April 2020) with the increased CCG contribution.  We can 
also take comfort from the knowledge that there are significant increases coming into 
reserves on April 1, from the Collection Fund Surplus, as agreed in the Budget passed 
at Full Council in February 2020.

2. Background

2.2. In September 2015, NHS Bury CCG and Bury Metropolitan Borough Council signaled 
their ambition to work more closely to ensure better outcomes for the Borough of Bury 
through the most economic, efficient and effective use of the Bury pound to improve 
outcomes for the residents of the Borough. This ambition is very much in keeping with 
the advent of health and social care devolution

2.3. The Bury Locality Plan for Health and Social Care Transformation 2017-21 further 
reinforced this ambition and set out the desire to form a ‘One Commissioning 
Organisation’ (OCO) which would have a remit to:

 Bring together health and social care commissioning functions of the CCG and 
Council into one structure 

 Create pooled and aligned budget arrangements for health and social care;
 Develop a single health and social care commissioning strategy;
 Create a shared approach to maximizing social value;
 Strategically commission for outcomes against a wide ranging and dynamic 

local evidence base; and
 Recognise the role of the new Local Care Organisation as a single provider 

accountable for delivering all age services at a neighborhood level.

2.4. During the last 2 years, work has been undertaken to progress and develop the 
arrangements needed to enable this, and a number of significant developments have 
established a more solid base from which future developments can be shaped, 
including:

 Co-location of the CCG and Council staff members within the Bury Campus from 
June 2018;

 Establishment of an OCO Shadow Partnership Board in April 2018 which 
includes Clinicians, Lay Members, Executives and Elected Members

 Reviewed 4 areas to test how commissioning would work through an integrated 
model – Mental Health, CHC and LD, Carers and SEND; 

 Established a single Joint Executive Team across both CCG and Council;
 Appointed a single CCG Chief Executive and CCG Accountable Officer in October 

2018; and 
 Appointed a single Chief Finance Officer across both the CCG and LA in June 

2019.
 Approval to establish the Strategic Commissioning Board as a sub-committee of 

the Governing Body and Council Cabinet.

2.5. Key principles that underpin the establishment of the OCO are that:
 strong and effective clinical and political leadership must be maintained; and
 a place-based approach, focusing on outcomes, engaging communities and 

using community assets must be embraced;

2.6. As part of the wider Public Service Reform agenda and the devolution arrangements 

Document Pack Page 27



                                                                        

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 6 of 98

within Greater Manchester there is also a move to integrate public services more 
widely, joining up not only health and social care services but health services with the 
full range of Council functions; and together with wider public service and community 
partners.

2.7. By joining up CCG functions with ‘everything the Council does’, the Council and CCG 
are able to set joined-up objectives to improve further the health and wellbeing of the 
people of Bury and bring to bear the full powers, influence, resources and capability of 
the CCG and Council, working together to achieve those objectives.

2.8. Many of the localities in Greater Manchester have made significant progress in 
integrating health and social care commissioning, and with the wider integration 
agenda. Our proposals for Bury have learned from their experiences, whilst adapting 
them to be right for Bury.

2.9. By creating the Bury OCO the CCG and Council can work together better to: 
 Improve health and wellbeing outcomes for and with the people of Bury, and 

reduce inequalities
 Provide a single and consistent commissioning voice to providers, including the 

Locality Care Organisation 
 Enable commissioning staff to work together to commission more joined up 

services which are more cost effective and possibly less costly
 Make a real shift towards enabling and supporting people to stay well and 

independent in their own communities.

2.10. The benefit of the OCO is a place-based approach to: 
 common strategic and operational business plans;
 making best use of available resources;
 providing a more effective and efficient service to the Bury population;
 having an efficient means to jointly commissioning services; and
 retaining and building on the key strengths of each respective organisation to 

further enhance performance and delivery.

2.11. It is essential that appropriate financial arrangements and mechanisms are in place 
between the Council and CCG to support the OCO. This paper sets out those 
arrangements.

2.12. It is important to note that each organisation remains accountable as a statutory body 
for discharging its duties.

4 Governance

4.1 The Integrated Commissioning Fund is overseen by the Bury Strategic Commissioning 
Board (SCB), a sub-committee of the CCG Governing Body and Council Cabinet. Its 
membership includes equal representation from the CCG and Council. 

4.2 The SCB terms of reference are included at appendix 5.
  
5  s75 Agreement

5.1 Appendix 6 shows the final s75 Agreement. At its meeting on 4 September 2019, the 
Cabinet delegated to the Chief Executive, Chief Finance Officer and Council Solicitor 
(in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and Housing) the power to 

Document Pack Page 28



                                                                        

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 7 of 98

finalise the s75 and associate Financial Framework.  However, due to the large 
financial sums involved, it is appropriate to seek formal Cabinet approval for the final 
documents.

5.2 s75 Agreements have been in use since 2006 and are widespread between CCGs and 
Councils (all English CCGs and Councils have at least one s75).  The CCG and Council 
have already managed a s75 Agreement for 5 years (the Better Care Fund). 

5.3 The s75 Agreement and Financial Framework have been shared and discussed with 
the external auditors of both organisations.  They are based very closely on 
documentation already in use over recent years in other localities where similar 
arrangements exist.  Auditors have not raised any concerns of note.  The Council’s 
legal team have satisfied themselves regarding the legitimacy and robustness of the 
documentation.

5.4 There are restrictions on the functions that can legally be held within a s75 
arrangement as set out in detail at Appendices 1-4.  For that reason, the s75 
Agreement does not, in itself, cover the full range of funds and activities of the ICF.

6 Structure of the Integrated Commissioning Fund

6.1 Whilst the simplest approach would be to pool all health and social care 
commissioning current constraints of s75 legislation prevents the inclusion of some 
council and CCG functions. Section 75 is applicable only to prescribed health related 
functions. CCGs cannot delegate functions related to the commissioning of surgery, 
radiotherapy, termination of pregnancies, endoscopy, class 4 laser treatments or other 
invasive treatments, emergency ambulance services or delegated family health 
services. Meanwhile councils cannot delegate specific functions relating to adoption 
services, appointment of the director of adult social services, approving MHA mental 
health professionals, recovery of costs, charging for accommodation and parts of the 
Children’s Act as set out in detail at Appendices 2 and 4.

6.2 Alongside this there are health and social care services for which the Council and CCG 
report and hold budgets but the governance arrangement is either collaboratively with 
other GM organisations or with a lead commissioner e.g. ambulance services and 
delegated co-commissioning budgets. The SCB would therefore be unable to make a 
binding decision on these service related funds.

6.3 Therefore, the Bury ICF comprises 3 categories of budget: pooled, aligned, and in-
view.  Each category has its own governance protocols.

Category Description Governance
Pooled Formal agreement provided for 

under Section 75 of the NHS 
Act 2006

Decisions about the 
utilisation of the pooled 
budget is made by the SCB.

Aligned Covers all other locality health 
related functions, where it is 
either not currently legally 
possible to pool or the locality 
is not yet in a position to pool.

Recommendations on 
utilisation of the aligned 
funds are made by the SCB 
with decision taken by the 
appropriate sovereign 
commissioner.

In View Areas of health and social care 
resource that are influenced but 

Decisions about the 
utilisation of in view health 

Document Pack Page 29



                                                                        

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 8 of 98

not directly commissioned by 
the locality e.g. the delegated 
primary care co-commissioning 
budget, GM ambulance 
commissioning. 
Potentially non health related 
functions elements of the 
Council to health and social 
care.

and social care budgets are 
made by committees/bodies 
outside of Bury e.g. NHSE, 
GMJCB and lead 
commissioners.
This will be shared for 
information purposes only 
with the SCB.

6.4 In summary the SCB is wholly accountable for the pooled element of the fund; 
considers and make recommendations on the aligned element of the pool; and is 
provided with reports on the in-view element of the fund to support the function of the 
board.

6.5 The following table summarises the makeup of the ICF (excluding any agreements to 
vary contributions, as set out in section 8 of this report).

Integrated Commissioning Fund
Section 75 

Pooled Budget
£000

Aligned Budget
£000

In View Budget
£000

Total Integrated 
Commissioning 

Fund
£000

Bury CCG Budgets 194,653 75,663 36,561 306,877
Bury LA Budget - Direct Expenditure 171,717 165,096 0 336,814

TOTAL Expenditure Resource 366,370 240,760 36,561 643,691

Bury LA Budget - Income Budgets -76,248 -121,703 0 -197,952

TOTAL Income Resource -76,248 -121,703 0 -197,952

NET Resources 290,121 119,056 36,561 445,739

6.6 To note, where a decision is required above service level e.g. at a contract level 
containing services spanning more than one category of budget, it will be taken by the 
appropriate sovereign commissioner. 

7 Integrated Commissioning Fund Financial Framework

7.1 A s75 agreement needs to be underpinned by a detailed Financial Framework outlining 
the approach to: 

 Financial regulations
 Risk management and audit
 Basis of contribution and contingency
 Treatment of underspends
 Reporting on financial and operational performance
 Conditions of entry and exit from the pool
 Exit strategy
 VAT, insurance & legal implication

7.2 The Financial Framework applies to the whole ICF rather than just the s75 pool, i.e. it 
applies to both the pooled and aligned budgets.

Document Pack Page 30



                                                                        

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 9 of 98

7.3 Appendix 7 details the Financial Framework. As with the s75, Cabinet previously 
delegated to the Chief Executive, Chief Finance Officer and Council Solicitor (in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and Housing) the power to finalise 
this framework.  However, due to the large financial sums involved, it is appropriate 
to seek formal Cabinet approval for the final documents.

8 Variation to s75 Contributions

8.1 A variation in financial contributions is allowed for in the terms of the s75 Agreement 
and financial framework and is standard practice in these kinds of arrangements.  The 
proposed variation is:

2019/20
£m

2020/21
£m

TOTAL
£m

Council +10.5 -10.5 0.0
CCG -10.5 +10.5 0.0
TOTAL 0.0 0.0 0.0

8.2 By agreeing to this variation, the Council will enable the CCG to achieve its statutory 
financial duties in 2019/20 and hit its financial control totals, thereby accessing c£4m 
of historic surplus funds that it would not otherwise receive in 2020/21.  This is at no 
risk to the Council, as the proposed variation gives an equal and opposite benefit to 
the Council in 2020/21.

8.3 Any perceived risk regarding the CCG refusing or being unable to increase their 
contribution in 2020/21 is mitigated by:

 The Section 75 being a legally binding document
 The Joint Accountable Officer and Joint CFO posts having authority in the CCG
 The CCG being a public sector, publicly funded and underwritten body
 Any request to further alter the 2020/21 contributions would require full 

agreement from both organisations.

Therefore, the risk to the Council is negligible.

8.4 The increased Council contribution can be funded from earmarked reserves, much of 
which are in place to cover risks and won’t be called on in the current financial year.  
This is acceptable on the basis that these reserves will effectively be fully replenished 
in a very short time scale (April 2020) with the increased CCG contribution.  We can 
also take comfort from the knowledge that there are significant increases coming into 
reserves on April 1, from the Collection Fund Surplus, as agreed in the Budget passed 
at Full Council in February 2020.

9 Recommendations

9.1 Cabinet is asked to:

 Approve the s75 Agreement and Financial Framework attached to this report
 Approve the variation (per para 8.1) in the financial contributions to be made to 

the pool by the Council and the CCG during 2019/20 and 2020/21

Mike Woodhead

Document Pack Page 31



                                                                        

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 10 of 98

Joint CFO

Document Pack Page 32



                                                                        

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 11 of 98

Appendix 1: Functions of NHS Bodies that can be subject to S75 partnership 
arrangements

Legislation Function

Sections 3 & 3A of the 
NHS Act 2006 (NHS Act)

*Note these functions 
need to be read together 
with the exclusions in 
Annex 2

Duty of a CCG to arrange for the provision of the following to 
the extent it considers necessary to meet the reasonable 
requirements of the persons for whom it has responsibility:

 hospital accommodation;

 other accommodation for the purposes of any service 
under the NHSA;

 medical, dental, ophthalmic, nursing and ambulance 
services;

 such other services or facilities for the care of pregnant 
women, women who are breastfeeding and young 
children as the CCG considers are appropriate as part of 
the health service;

 such other services or facilities for the prevention of 
illness, the care of persons suffering from illness and 
the after-care of persons who have suffered from 
illness as the CCG considers are appropriate as part of 
the health service;

 such other services or facilities as are required for 
the diagnosis and treatment of illness.

Power of a CCG to arrange for the provision of such services or 
facilities as it considers appropriate for the purposes of the 
health service that relate to securing improvement:

 in the physical and mental health of the persons for 
whom it has responsibility; or

 in the prevention, diagnosis and treatment of illness 
in those persons.

NB: This includes rehabilitation services and services 
intended to avoid admission to hospital.

Section 3B of the NHS Act

*Note these functions 
need to be read together 
with the exclusions in 
Annex 2

Regulations may require NHS England (NHSE) to arrange the 
provision, to such extent as it considers necessary to meet all 
reasonable requirements, for the provision as part of the health 
service of:

 dental services of a prescribed description;

 services or facilities for members of the armed forces 
or their families;

 services or facilities for persons who are detained in 
prison or in other accommodation of a prescribed 
description;

 such other services or facilities as may be 
prescribed.

Document Pack Page 33



                                                                        

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 12 of 98

Legislation Function

Section 83 of the NHS Act From 1 April 2016 the function of arranging the provision of 
primary medical services where these are commissioned under 
an APMS contract.

Duty of the CCG to arrange for the provision of, in co- 
operation with relevant voluntary agencies, after-care 
services for persons who are:

 detained under section 3 of the MHA; or

 admitted to a hospital in pursuance of a hospital 
order made under section 37 of the MHA; or

 transferred to a hospital in pursuance of a hospital 
direction made under section 45A of the MHA; or;

 a transfer direction made under section 47 or 48 of 
the MHA;

and then cease to be detained and (whether or not 
immediately afterwards) leave hospital, until such time as the 
CCG and the local social services authority are satisfied that 
the person concerned is no longer in need of such services 
(but they shall not be so satisfied in the case of a community 
patient while he remains such a patient).

Section 117 of the 
Mental Health Act 1983 
(MHA)

Function of providing the after-care services referred to 
above.

Section 12A(1) of the 
NHSA and the National 
Health Service (Direct 
Payments) Regulations 
2013

The function of making direct payments

Regulation 8A of the 
Healthy Start Scheme and 
Welfare Foods 
(Amendment) Regulations 
2005

The function of arranging the provision of Healthy Start 
vitamins.

Schedule 1A of the 
Mental Capacity Act 
2005

Functions relating to the Deprivation of Liberty

Document Pack Page 34



                                                                        

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 13 of 98

Appendix 2: Functions of NHS Bodies that cannot be the subject of Section 75 
partnership arrangements

Legislation Function

Sections 3, 3A & 3B of 
the NHS Act 2006 
(NHSA)

The function of arranging the provision of:
 surgery;

 radiotherapy;

 termination of pregnancy;

 endoscopy;

 the use of Class 4 laser treatments and other 
invasive treatments;

 emergency ambulance services.

Sections 83*, 92 & 99 of 
the NHSA

The function of arranging the provision of:

 primary medical services

 primary dental services

(*From 1 April 2016 the function of arranging the provision of 
primary medical services where these are commissioned 
under an APMS contract will be able to be the subject of a 
S75 partnership arrangement.)

Document Pack Page 35



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 14 of 98

Appendix 3: Functions of local authorities (Health-Related Functions) that can be 
the subject of S75 partnership arrangements

Legislation Function

Schedule 1 of the Local 
Authority Social Services 
Act 1970

*Note these functions 
need to be read together 
with the exclusions in 
Annex 4

This Schedule covers a wide range of social services 
functions. If you require any further details, please let us 
know.

Regulation 8A of the 
Healthy Start Scheme 
and Welfare Foods 
(Amendment) 
Regulations 2005

The function of providing Healthy Start vitamins.

Sections 7 or 8 of the 
Disabled Persons 
(Services, Consultation 
and Representation) Act 
1986

 Duty to arrange an assessment for persons on 
discharge from hospital, having received medical 
treatment for mental disorder as an in-patient for a 
continuous period of not less than 6 months, of their 
needs for healthcare services. (This duty is not yet in 
force).

 Duty of local authority to take into account abilities of 
a carer

The functions of providing or securing the provision of 
recreational facilities.

Section 19 of the Local 
Government 
(Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 The functions of local authorities under the Education Acts as 

defined in section 578 of the Education Act 1996;

Part I of the Housing 
Grants, Construction and 
Regeneration Act 1996 
and under Parts VI and 
VII of the Housing Act 
1996

Functions of local housing authorities.

Section 126 of the 
Housing Grants, 
Construction and 
Regeneration Act 1996

Functions relating to regeneration and development.

Environmental Protection 
Act 1990

Functions of waste collection or disposal.

Document Pack Page 36



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 15 of 98

Legislation Function

Sections 180 & 181 of 
the Local Government 
Act 1972

Functions of providing environmental health services.

Highways Act 1980 
and Section 39 of the 
Road Traffic Act 1988

Functions of local highway authorities.

Sections 63 & 93 of the

Transport Act 1985

Functions relating to passenger transport and travel concession 
schemes.

Sections 22, 23(2) & 26 
of the National 
Assistance Act 1948 
(NAA) 

Where the partners enter into a Section 75 partnership 
arrangement in respect of the provision of accommodation 
under S21 or 26 of the NAA the function of charging for that 
accommodation

Section 17 of the Health and 
Social Services and Social 
Security Adjudications Act 
1983 (1983 Act)

Where the partners enter into a Section 75 partnership 
arrangement in respect of the provision of welfare services 
under any enactment mentioned in Section 17(2)(a) to (c) of 
the 1983 Act, the function of charging for those services.

Functions under or by 
virtue of Sections 2B or 
6C(1) of, or Schedule 1 
to, the NHSA

 Functions relating to the improvement of public 
health;

 Public-health functions of the Secretary of State 
(where local authorities are required by Regulations 
to exercise these);

 Local authority functions under Schedule 1 of the 
NHSA, including:
- medical inspection and treatment of pupils; and
- weighing and measuring of children.

Document Pack Page 37



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 16 of 98

Appendix 4: functions of local authorities that cannot be the subject of S75 
partnership arrangements

Legislation Nature of Function

Sections 22, 23(3), 26(2) 
(but note exception in 
Annex 3 – see *) 
26(3),26(4), 43, 45
and 49 of the 
National Assistance 
Act 1948

Functions relating to charging for accommodation, recovery of 
costs of providing certain services and defrayment of expenses 
for local authority officer applying for appointment as deputy 
for certain patients.

Section 6 of the Local 
Authority Social Services Act 
1970

Function of appointing an officer, to be known as the director 
of adult social services.

Section 3 of the 
Adoption and Children 
Act 2002

Function of maintaining an adoption service and providing 
the requisite facilities for that purpose.

Sections 114 & 115 of the 
Mental Health Act 1983 
(MHA)

Function of approving a person to act as an approved mental 
health professional for the purposes of the MHA.

Power of an approved mental health professional to enter 
and inspect premises.

Parts VII to IX and 
Section 86 of the Children 
Act 1989

Functions relating to:

 the provision of accommodation for children by 
voluntary organisations;

 private children’s homes/ limits on number of foster 
children;

 privately fostered children;

 children accommodated in care homes or 
independent hospitals.

Document Pack Page 38



Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page  of 98

Appendix 5: Strategic Commissioning Board Terms of Reference including 
governance structure

Strategic Commissioning Board
Terms of Reference

Context  

1. As part of the Bury Locality Plan for Health and Social Care Transformation 2017 
to 2021 and to progressing the wider public service reform agenda there is a 
commitment to full alignment and integration between the Council and the 
Clinical Commissioning Group to form Bury Health and Social Care OCO.

2.  As part of this commitment the statutory bodies have agreed to form a single 
“Strategic Commissioning Board” in Bury to bring together the integrated 
governance of health and social care commissioning in its widest sense.  

3. The following document sets out the terms of reference for the Strategic 
Commissioning Board (SCB).  

4. Any changes to these Terms of Reference must be approved by the Council 
Cabinet and the CCG Governing Body

Statutory Framework  

5. The SCB is not a statutory body. It is not intended to replace any of the existing 
statutory bodies in the locality; instead it is a joint committee of the two 
statutory organisations, Bury Metropolitan Borough Council (“the Council”) and 
NHS Bury Clinical Commissioning Group (“the CCG”). The SCB will have 
overarching responsibility for all powers as have been delegated to it by the two 
statutory organisations (subject to any reserved matters) and set out in the 
associated Scheme of Delegation.

Role of the Strategic Commissioning Board  

6. The SCB will be responsible for setting the principles and high-level strategic 
direction across the full responsibilities of health and care commissioning that is 
the responsibility of the two partners and will align wider Council, CCG and public 
services by inclusion so far as possible.
 

7. The SCB has been established to make decisions on the objectives, priorities, 
strategic design, commissioning and overall delivery of health and care services, 
including the oversight of their effectiveness, quality and performance.

8. In performing its role, the SCB will exercise its functions in accordance with 
duties delegated to it to support the delivery of the Bury Locality Plan for Health 
and Social Care Transformation 2017 to 2021, and its successor strategies and 
plans; including the Bury Strategy.

Document Pack Page 39



                                                                                                                            

i

9. Members of the SCB have a collective responsibility for its operation. In 
undertaking its role, clinical and democratic accountability will be implicit within 
all decisions, as will respect for all professional areas of knowledge and expertise. 
Decisions will be based on achieving better outcomes and experience for the 
residents of Bury and those that use services within the Borough, better quality 
and better value.

10. The ethos of partnership working will underpin the programme of work, 
recognising that on occasion, difficult decisions may be required to benefit the 
population of Bury.
 

11. The SCB will have responsibility for providing a Bury response to Greater 
Manchester commissioning matters. 

Core Business

12. As the SCB will operate as a “place based”, strategic, outcomes-based 
commissioner, the items of business for the SCB are likely to be:

a) Understanding the aspirations, strengths and needs of Bury communities
b) Leading collaboratively agreement of priorities for improvement
c) Leading collaboratively the agreement of commissioning and enabling 

strategies and associated use of financial and other resources
d) Enabling and supporting others to fulfil their roles within the system
e) Providing oversight and gaining assurance in respect of outcomes, quality, 

performance and finance 
f) Providing leadership, oversight and assurance in respect of the 

development of an effective “OCO”

13. The items of business for the SCB are unlikely to include detailed plans for 
operational service design and re-design.

Membership  

14. The Strategic Commissioning Board shall consist of the following members: 
 Councillors – Cabinet Members of the Council to include no more than 7 

voting Cabinet Members;
 CCG Governing Body Members – 9 members to include 7 voting members, 

of which the majority will be clinicians; and 2 non-voting members;
 The joint Chief Executive and Accountable Officer;
 The joint Chief Finance Officer (including S151 responsibilities); and
 The joint Director of Strategic Commissioning.

15. In addition, other Officers and representatives will be invited to the SCB, and 
will be recognised as in attendance, enabled to participate fully in discussions to 
inform the decisions of the SCB, but will not hold voting rights. This will include, 
but is not limited to:

 2 opposition party representatives;
 additional members of the CCG Governing Body (who are not members of 

the SCB)
 additional members of the CCG/Council Joint Executive Team or any such 

equivalent successor team (who are not members of the SCB)

Document Pack Page 40



                                                                                                                            

ii

Chair

16. The SCB will be jointly chaired by the Council’s Leader on behalf of the Council 
and the CCG Chair on behalf of the CCG, with chairing responsibility rotated 
between meetings. 
 

17.In the event of the Chair of the SCB being unavailable for all or part of the 
meeting, the following deputising arrangements will apply:

 The Deputy Council Leader will deputise for the Council Leader; and
 The CCG Chair will nominate a deputy drawn from the CCG members of 

the SCB.  

Quorum

18.The meeting will achieve quoracy if the following requirements are satisfied:
 A minimum of 3 elected members, of which 1 must be the Leader or 

Deputy Leader of the Council;
 A minimum of 3 Governing Body representatives, of which 2 must be 

practicing clinicians; and
 At least one joint Officer.  

Voting

19.It is anticipated that decisions will be made by consensus, however in the event 
that this cannot be achieved, a vote will be undertaken. Each voting member of 
the SCB will have one vote and a simple majority vote will be sufficient to carry the 
decision. In the event that the vote is tied, the presiding Chair of the SCB meeting 
in session will have a casting vote which will be exercised in such a way that is 
respectful of the partnership arrangements under which the SCB is established.

Deputies

20.Deputies are only permitted in respect to the Chairing of the SCB or Officer 
members.
 

21.With the exception of deputising arrangements for the Chair of the SCB, nominated 
deputies will not hold a vote nor will they count towards quoracy.  

Frequency of meetings 

22.The SCB will routinely meet at monthly times; a schedule of pre-arranged meeting 
dates will be distributed on an annual basis with a proposed annual calendar of 
business. 
 

23.The meetings of the SCB shall be held in public:
a) subject to any exemption provided by law   

b) the SCB may resolve to exclude the public from a meeting that is open to 
the public (whether during the whole or part of the proceedings) whenever 
publicity would be prejudicial to the public interest by reason of the 
confidential nature of the business to be transacted or for other special 

Document Pack Page 41



                                                                                                                            

iii

reasons stated in the resolution and arising from the nature of that business 
or of the proceedings or for any other reason permitted by both the Public 
Bodies (Admission to Meetings) Act 1960 (as amended or succeeded from 
time to time) and the Local Government Act 1972.  

Attendance

24.Members are expected to attend every meeting.

25. Where a member is unable to attend a meeting, apologies should be notified in 
advance to the Chair of the meeting.

Conduct of Meetings

26.The SCB will give no less than five clear working days’ notice of its meetings.
  

27.The agenda and supporting papers will be published at least 5 clear working days 
in advance of the meeting, not including the publication day and the day of the 
meeting. Authors of papers presented must use the required template. Papers 
must be received by the committee secretary in line with the published deadlines 
unless, in exceptional circumstances, explicit agreement has been reached with the 
SCB Chair. 
 

28. The SCB will be appropriately resourced to ensure the timely distribution of 
papers, production of minutes, action and decision tracking, and the maintenance 
of the formal record and documentation of the business of the SCB. 

29. Presenters of papers can expect all SCB members to have read the papers and 
should keep to a summary that outlines the purpose of their paper/report and key 
issues arising since the time of publication which may materially influence the 
decision or actions of the SCB. SCB members and others in attendance may 
question the presenter.

Conflict of Interest

30. As a statutory Joint Committee formed by the two statutory organisations, the 
SCB must comply with the standards set by the Local Government Act 2000 as set 
out in Part 5(a) of the Council’s Constitution and Section 140 of the National Health 
Service Act 2006 (as amended) as set out in Section 6 of the CCG Constitution.

31. In addition, the Register of Interests will be maintained for the members of the 
SCB and published on the Council and CCG websites.

Reporting

32.A highlight report from the SCB will be submitted to the Governing Body and 
Cabinet meetings, drawing the attention of the respective Statutory Committee to 
any items where further action is required. The SCB minutes will be included as an 
appendix to this report. 

Document Pack Page 42



                                                                                                                            

iv

Monitoring Compliance

33.Meetings of the SCB shall be conducted in accordance with the provisions of both 
bodies Constitutions, Standing Orders, Scheme of Reservation and delegation of 
the respective partners and the duties delegated.

34.The SCB shall submit an annual report to the Governing Body and Council, 
incorporating progress, reporting arrangements, frequency of meetings and 
membership attendance. A summary of which will be included within the respective 
Governance Statements.

35.A review of effectiveness of the SCB will be undertaken at the end of the first year 
of operation and at further intervals as agreed appropriate.

36.The Terms of Reference of the SCB will be reviewed at least annually and 
submitted through the appropriate Governance arrangements for approval. 

Document Pack Page 43



                                                                                                                            

v

APPENDIX 6: Section 75 Agreement

Dated: 1st October 2019

The Council of the Metropolitan Borough of 
Bury
and

NHS Bury Clinical Commissioning Group

PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT RELATING TO 
THE COMMISSIONING OF HEALTH AND 

SOCIAL CARE SERVICES
(INCLUDING THE BETTER CARE FUND)

Document Pack Page 44



                                                                                                                            

vi

Contents

Item Page

PARTIES 1

BACKGROUND 1
1 DEFINED TERMS AND INTERPRETATION 2
2 TERM 6
3 GENERAL PRINCIPLES 7
4 PARTNERSHIP FLEXIBILITIES 7
5 FUNCTIONS 7
6 COMMISSIONING ARRANGEMENTS GENERAL 8
7 ESTABLISHMENT OF A POOLED FUND 9
8 POOLED FUND MANAGEMENT 10
9 FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS 11
10 NON FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS 11
11 FUTURE BUDGET SETTLEMENTS RISK 11
12 RISK SHARE ARRANGEMENTS OVERSPENDS AND UNDERSPENDS 12
13 CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 12
14 VAT 12
15 AUDIT AND RIGHT OF ACCESS 13
16 LIABILITIES AND INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY 13
17 STANDARDS OF CONDUCT AND SERVICE 14
18 CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 14
19 GOVERNANCE 15
20 REVIEW 15
21 COMPLAINTS 16
22 TERMINATION & DEFAULT 16
23 DISPUTE RESOLUTION 17
24 FORCE MAJEURE 19
25 CONFIDENTIALITY 19
26 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION AND ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION 
REGULATIONS 20
27 OMBUDSMEN AND PROHIBITED ACTS 20

Document Pack Page 45



                                                                                                                            

vii

28 INFORMATION SHARING AND DATA PROTECTION 21
29 NOTICES AND PUBLICITY 22
30 VARIATION 23
31 CHANGE IN LAW 23
32 WAIVER 23
33 SEVERANCE 23
34 ASSIGNMENT AND SUB CONTRACTING 23
35 EXCLUSION OF PARTNERSHIP AND AGENCY 23
36 THIRD PARTY RIGHTS 24
37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT 24
38 COUNTERPARTS 24
39 GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION 24
SCHEDULE 1 – COMMISSIONING STRATEGY – LOCALITY PLAN 26
SCHEDULE 2 – GOVERNANCE – STRATEGIC COMMISSIONING BOARD 27
SCHEDULE 3 – FINANCIAL FRAMEWORK 28
SCHEDULE 4 - JOINT WORKING OBLIGATIONS 29
SCHEDULE 5 - PERFORMANCE ARRANGEMENTS 31
SCHEDULE 6 – CORPORATE POLICIES 34

Document Pack Page 46



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 8 of 98

THIS AGREEMENT is made on 1st day of October 2019

PARTIES

(1) The Council of the Metropolitan Borough of Bury of the Town Hall, Knowsley 
Street, Bury, BL9 0SW (the "Council") 

NHS Bury Clinical Commissioning Group of Townside Primary Care Centre, 1 
Knowsley Place, Knowsley Street, Bury, BL9 0SN (the "CCG") 

BACKGROUND

(A) The Council has responsibility for commissioning and/or providing social care 
services on behalf of the population of the borough of Bury.

The CCG has the responsibility for commissioning health services pursuant to the 
2006 Act in the borough of Bury. 

The purpose of this Agreement is to set out the terms on which the Partners have 
agreed to collaborate and to establish a framework through which the Partners 
can secure the future position of health and social care services through lead or 
joint commissioning arrangements.  It is also the means through which the 
Partners will pool funds and align budgets as agreed between the Partners.

Section 75 of the 2006 Act gives powers to local authorities and clinical 
commissioning groups to establish and maintain pooled funds out of which 
payment may be made towards expenditure incurred in the exercise of prescribed 
local authority functions and prescribed NHS functions.

(B) The aims and benefits of the Partners in entering in to this Agreement are to:

a) improve the quality and efficiency of the Services;

b) improve the outcomes for Service Users

c) meet the National Conditions and Local Objectives; [and] 

d) make more effective use of resources through the establishment and 
maintenance of a pooled fund for revenue expenditure on the Services. 

(C) The Partners have jointly carried out consultations on the proposals for this 
Agreement with persons likely to be affected by the arrangements. Additional 
consultations will be undertaken as necessary, and in line with each Partner’s 
obligations regarding consultation with affected parties, in respect of any future 
proposals to vary the Individual Services.

(D) The Partners are entering into this Agreement in exercise of the powers referred 
to in Section 75 of the 2006 Act and/or Section 13Z(2) and 14Z(3) of the 2006 
Act as applicable, to the extent that exercise of these powers is required for this 
Agreement.

Document Pack Page 47



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 9 of 98

1 DEFINED TERMS AND INTERPRETATION

1.1 In this Agreement, save where the context requires otherwise, the following 
words, terms and expressions shall have the following meanings:

2000 Act means the Freedom of Information Act 2000.

2004 Regulations means the Environmental Information Regulations 2004.

2006 Act means the National Health Service Act 2006.

2012 Act means the Health and Social Care Act 2012.

Affected Partner means, in the context of Clause 24, the Partner whose 
obligations under the Agreement have been affected by the occurrence of a Force 
Majeure Event

Agreement means this agreement including its Schedules and Appendices.

Annual Report means the annual report produced by the Partners in accordance 
with Clause 19 (Review)

Approved Expenditure means any expenditure approved by the Partners in 
writing or as set out in the Service Specification above any Contract Price, 
Permitted Expenditure or agreed Third Party Costs.

Authorised Officers means an officer of each Partner appointed to be that 
Partner's representative for the purpose of this Agreement.

Better Care Fund means the Better Care Fund as described in NHS England 
Publications Gateway Ref. No.00314 and NHS England Publications Gateway Ref. 
No.00535 as relevant to the Partners.

Quarterly Report means the quarterly report produced by the Partners and 
provided to the Strategic Commissioning Board 

CCG Statutory Duties means the Duties of the CCG pursuant to Sections 14P to 
14Z2 of the 2006 Act 

Change in Law means the coming into effect or repeal (without re-enactment or 
consolidation) in England of any Law, or any amendment or variation to any Law, 
or any judgment of a relevant court of law which changes binding precedent in 
England after the Commencement Date

Commencement Date means 00:01 hrs on 1st October 2019

Confidential Information means information, data and/or material of any 
nature which any Partner may receive or obtain in connection with the operation 
of this Agreement and the Services and:

(a) which comprises Personal Data or Sensitive Personal Data or which relates 
to any patient or his treatment or medical history;

Document Pack Page 48



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 10 of 98

(b) the release of which is likely to prejudice the commercial interests of a 
Partner or the interests of a Service User respectively; or

(c) which is a trade secret.

Contract Price means any sum payable under a Services Contract as 
consideration for the provision of goods, equipment or services as required as 
part of the Services and which, for the avoidance of doubt, does not include any 
Default Liability or Performance Payment with the exception on CQUIN on NHS 
Contracts.

Data Protection Legislation means:

a) The Data Protection Act   2018 )
b) The General Data Protection Regulation EU 2016/679 
c) The Law Enforcement Directive EU 2016/680; and 
d) All applicable laws and regulations relating to processing personal data and 

privacy, including the guidance and codes of practice issued by the 
Information Commissioner, where applicable

Default Liability means any sum which is agreed or determined by Law or in 
accordance with the terms of a Services Contract to be payable by any Partner(s) 
as a consequence of (i) breach by any or all of the Partners of an obligation(s) in 
whole or in part) under a Services Contract or (ii) any act or omission of a third 
party for which any or all of the Partners are, under the terms of the relevant 
Services Contract.

Financial Contributions means the financial contributions made by each 
Partner to a Pooled Fund in any Financial Year.

Financial Year means each financial year running from 1 April in any year to 31 
March in the following calendar year. 

Force Majeure Event means one or more of the following:
(a) war, civil war (whether declared or undeclared), riot or armed conflict;

(b) acts of terrorism;

(c) acts of God;

(d) fire or flood;

(e) industrial action;

(f) prevention from or hindrance in obtaining raw materials, energy or other 

supplies;

(g) any form of contamination or virus outbreak; and
(h) any other event,

in each case where such event is beyond the reasonable control of the Partner 
claiming relief 

Functions means the NHS Functions and the Health Related Functions.

Document Pack Page 49



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 11 of 98

Health Related Functions means those of the health related functions of the 
Council, specified in Regulation 6 of the Regulations as relevant to the 
commissioning of the Services and which may be further described in the 
relevant Service Specification.

Host Partner means the Partner that will host the Pooled Fund. For this pooled 
fund Bury MBC will be the host partner.

Indirect Losses means loss of profits, loss of use, loss of production, increased 
operating costs, loss of business, loss of business opportunity, loss of reputation 
or goodwill or any other consequential or indirect loss of any nature, whether 
arising in tort or on any other basis.

Individual Service means one of the Services which has been agreed by the 
Partners to be included within this Agreement using the powers under Section 75 
as documented in a Service Specification.

Integrated Commissioning means arrangements by which both Partners 
commission Services in relation to an individual Service on behalf of each other in 
exercise of both the NHS Functions and Council Functions through integrated 
structures. 

Joint (Aligned) Commissioning means a mechanism by which the Partners 
jointly commission a Service.  For the avoidance of doubt, a joint (aligned) 
commissioning arrangement does not involve the delegation of any functions 
pursuant to Section 75.

Law means:

(a) any statute or proclamation or any delegated or subordinate legislation;

(b) any enforceable community right within the meaning of Section 2(1) 
European Communities    Act 1972;

(c) any guidance, direction or determination with which the Partner(s) or 
relevant third party (as applicable) are bound to comply to the extent that 
the same are published and publicly available or the existence or contents 
of them have been notified to the Partner(s) or relevant third party (as 
applicable); and

(d) any judgment of a relevant court of law which is a binding precedent in 
England.

Lead Commissioning Arrangements means the arrangements by which one 
Partner commissions Services in relation to an Individual Service on behalf of the 
other Partner in exercise of both the NHS Functions and the Health Related 
Functions.

Lead Commissioner means the Partner responsible for commissioning an 
Individual Service under a Service Specification.

Losses means all damage, loss, liabilities, claims, actions, costs, expenses 
(including the cost of legal and/or professional services), proceedings, demands 

Document Pack Page 50



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 12 of 98

and charges whether arising under statute, contract or at common law but 
excluding Indirect Losses and "Loss" shall be interpreted accordingly.

Month means a calendar month.

National Guidance means any and all guidance in relation to the Service 
Specifications, as issued from to time to time by NHS England, the Department of 
Communities and Local Government, the Department of Health, the Local 
Government Association either collectively or separately.

NHS Functions means those of the NHS functions listed in Regulation 5 of the 
Regulations as are exercisable by the CCG as are relevant to the commissioning 
of the Services and which may be further described in each Service Schedule. 

Non Pooled Fund means the budget detailing the financial contributions of the 
Partners which are not included in a Pooled Fund in respect of a particular Service 
as set out in the relevant Service Specification 

Non-Recurrent Payments means funding provided by a Partner to a Pooled 
Fund in addition to the Financial Contributions pursuant to arrangements agreed 
in accordance with Clause [9.4].

Overspend means any expenditure from a Pooled Fund in a Financial Year which 
exceeds the Financial Contributions for that Financial Year. 

Partner means each of the CCG and the Council, and references to "Partners" 
shall be construed accordingly.

Strategic Commissioning Board means the Strategic Commissioning Board 
responsible for review of performance and oversight of this Agreement as set out 
in Clause 19.2 and Schedule 2 or such other arrangements for governance as the 
Partners agree.

Strategic Commissioning Board Quarterly Reports means the reports that 
the Pooled Fund Manager shall produce and provide to the Strategic 
Commissioning Board on a Quarterly basis 

Permitted Budget means in relation to a Service where the Council is the 
Provider, the budget that the Partners have set in relation to the particular 
Service (including the budgets for all the commissioning staff of each party).

Permitted Expenditure has the meaning given in Clause 7.2.

Personal Data means Personal Data as defined by the Data Protection Act 2018.

Pooled Fund means any pooled fund established and maintained by the Partners 
as a pooled fund in accordance with the Regulations

Pooled Fund Manager means such officer of the Host Partner which includes a 
Section 113 Officer for the relevant Pooled Fund established under an Individual 
Service as is nominated by the Host Partner from time to time to manage the 
Pooled Fund in accordance with Clause 8.

Document Pack Page 51



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 13 of 98

Provider means a provider of any Services commissioned under the 
arrangements set out in this Agreement [including the Council where the Council 
is a provider of any Services].

Public Health England means the SOSH trading as Public Health England.

Quarter means each of the following periods in a Financial Year:

1 April to 30 June

1 July to 30 September

1 October to 31 December

1 January to 31 March 

and "Quarterly" shall be interpreted accordingly.

Regulations means the means the NHS Bodies and Local Authorities Partnership 
Arrangements Regulations 2000 No 617 (as amended). 

Service Specification means a specification setting out the arrangements for a 
particular Service within a Commissioning Plan agreed by the Partners to be 
commissioned under this Agreement.

Sensitive Personal Data means Sensitive Personal Data as defined in the Data 
Protection Act 2018.

Services means such health and social care services as agreed from time to time 
by the Partners as commissioned under the arrangements set out in this 
Agreement.

Services Contract means an agreement entered into with a Provider by one or 
more Partners in accordance with the relevant Commissioning Plan.

Service Users means those individual for whom the Partners have a 
responsibility to commission the Services.

SOSH means the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. 

Third Party Costs means all such third party costs (including legal and other 
professional fees) in respect of each Individual Service as a Partner reasonably 
and properly incurs in the proper performance of its obligations under this 
Agreement and as agreed by the Strategic Commissioning Board. 

Underspend means expenditure from any Pooled Fund in any Financial Year is 
less than the aggregate value of the Financial Contributions made for that 
Financial Year

Working Day means 9.00am to 5.00pm on any day except Saturday, Sunday, 
Christmas Day, Good Friday or a day which is a bank holiday (in England) under 
the Banking & Financial Dealings Act 1971.

Document Pack Page 52



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 14 of 98

1.2 In this Agreement, all references to any statute or statutory provision shall be 
deemed to include references to any statute or statutory provision which amends, 
extends, consolidates or replaces the same and shall include any orders, 
regulations, codes of practice, instruments or other subordinate legislation made 
thereunder and any conditions attaching thereto.  Where relevant, references to 
English statutes and statutory provisions shall be construed as references also to 
equivalent statutes, statutory provisions and rules of law in other jurisdictions.

1.3 Any headings to Clauses, together with the front cover and the index are for 
convenience only and shall not affect the meaning of this Agreement.  Unless the 
contrary is stated, references to Clauses and Schedules shall mean the clauses 
and schedules of this Agreement.

1.4 Any reference to the Partners shall include their respective statutory successors, 
employees and agents.

1.5 In the event of a conflict, the conditions set out in the Clauses to this Agreement 
shall take priority over the Schedules. 

1.6 Where a term of this Agreement provides for a list of items following the word 
"including" or "includes", then such list is not to be interpreted as being an 
exhaustive list.

1.7 In this Agreement, words importing any particular gender include all other 
genders, and the term "person" includes any individual, partnership, firm, trust, 
body corporate, government, governmental body, trust, agency, unincorporated 
body of persons or association and a reference to a person includes a reference 
to that person's successors and permitted assigns.

1.8 In this Agreement, words importing the singular only shall include the plural and 
vice versa.

1.9 In this Agreement, "staff" and "employees" shall have the same meaning and 
shall include reference to any full or part time employee or officer, director, 
manager and agent.

1.10 Subject to the contrary being stated expressly or implied from the context in 
these terms and conditions, all communication between the Partners shall be in 
writing.

1.11 Unless expressly stated otherwise, all monetary amounts are expressed in 
pounds sterling but in the event that pounds sterling is replaced as legal tender in 
the United Kingdom by a different currency then all monetary amounts shall be 
converted into such other currency at the rate prevailing on the date such other 
currency first became legal tender in the United Kingdom.

1.12 All references to the Agreement include (subject to all relevant approvals) a 
reference to the Agreement as amended, supplemented, substituted, novated or 
assigned from time to time.

2 TERM

2.1 This Agreement shall come into force on the Commencement.

Document Pack Page 53



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 15 of 98

2.2 This Agreement shall continue until it is terminated in accordance with Clause 
[22]. 

2.3 The duration of the arrangements for each Service shall be as set out in the 
relevant Service Contract.

2.4 This Agreement supersedes the BCF 2017 Agreement without prejudice to the 
rights and liabilities of the Partners under the BCF 2017 Agreement.

3 GENERAL PRINCIPLES

3.1 Nothing in this Agreement shall affect: 

3.1.1 the liabilities of the Partners to each other or to any third parties for the 
exercise of their respective functions and obligations (including the 
Functions); or

3.1.2 any power or duty to recover charges for the provision of any services 
(including the Services) in the exercise of any local authority function.

3.2 The Partners agree to:

3.2.1 treat each other with respect and an equality of esteem;

3.2.2 be open with information about the performance and financial status of 
each; and

3.2.3 provide early information and notice about relevant problems.

4 PARTNERSHIP FLEXIBILITIES

4.1 This Agreement sets out the mechanism through which the Partners will work 
together to commission services. This may include one or more of the following 
commissioning mechanisms: 

4.1.1 Lead Commissioning Arrangements; 

4.1.2 Integrated Commissioning; 

4.1.3 Joint (Aligned) Commissioning

4.1.4 the establishment of one or more Pooled Funds 

in relation to Individual Services (the "Flexibilities")  

4.2 Where there is Lead Commissioning Arrangements and the CCG is Lead Partner, 
the Council delegates to the CCG and the CCG agrees to exercise on the Council’s 
behalf the Health Related Functions to the extent necessary for the purpose of 
performing its obligations under this Agreement in conjunction with the NHS 
Functions. 

4.3 Where there is Lead Commissioning Arrangements and the Council is Lead 
Partner, the CCG delegates to the Council and the Council agrees to exercise on 
the CCG's behalf the NHS Functions to the extent necessary for the purpose of 

Document Pack Page 54



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 16 of 98

performing its obligations under this Agreement in conjunction with the Health 
Related Functions.

4.4 Where the powers of a Partner to delegate any of its statutory powers or 
functions are restricted, such limitations will automatically be deemed to apply to 
the relevant Service Specification and the Partners shall agree arrangements 
designed to achieve the greatest degree of delegation to the other Partner 
necessary for the purposes of this Agreement which is consistent with the 
statutory constraints. 

5 FUNCTIONS 

5.1 The purpose of this Agreement is to establish a framework through which the 
Partners can secure the provision of health and social care services in accordance 
with the terms of this Agreement.  

5.2 This Agreement shall include such Functions as shall be agreed from time to time 
by the Partners as are necessary to commission the Services in accordance with 
their obligations under this Agreement. 

5.3 Where the Partners add a new Commissioning Plan to this Agreement it will need 
to be agreed by both Parties in accordance with the governance arrangements 
set out in this Agreement and include as a minimum details of who will act as the 
lead commissioner, the budget and other resource contribution of each party.

5.4 The Partners shall not enter into a Commissioning Plan unless they are satisfied 
that the Commissioning Plan in question will improve health and well-being in 
accordance with this Agreement.

6 COMMISSIONING ARRANGEMENTS GENERAL

6.1 The Partners shall comply with the commissioning arrangements as set out in the 
relevant Service Specification

6.2 The Partners shall comply with all relevant legal duties and guidance of both 
Partners in relation to the Services being commissioned.  

6.3 Each Partner shall keep the other Partner and the Strategic Commissioning Board 
regularly informed of the effectiveness of the arrangements including any 
Overspend or Underspend in the Integrated Commissioning Fund.

6.4 Where there are Integrated Commissioning or Lead Commissioning Arrangements 
in respect of an Individual Service then prior to any new Services Contract being 
entered into the Partners shall agree in writing: 

6.4.1 how the liability under each Services Contract shall be apportioned in the 
event of termination of the relevant Individual Service; and

6.4.2 whether the Services Contract should give rights to third parties (and in 
particular if a Partner is not a party to the Services Contract to that 
Partner, the Partners shall consider  whether or not the Partner that is 
not to be a party to the Services Contract should be afforded any rights 
to enforce any terms of the Services Contract under the Contracts 

Document Pack Page 55



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 17 of 98

(Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 and if it is agreed that such rights 
should be afforded the Partner entering the Services Contract shall 
ensure as far as is reasonably possible that such rights that have been 
agreed are included in the Services Contract and shall establish how 
liability under the Services Contract shall be apportioned in the event of 
termination of the relevant Individual Service.)]

6.5 The Partners shall comply with the arrangements in respect of Joint (Aligned) 
Commissioning as set out in the relevant Service Specification, which shall 
include where applicable arrangements in respect of the Service Contracts.

Integrated Commissioning

6.6 Where there are Integrated Commissioning arrangements in respect of Individual 
Services:

6.6.1 Both Partners shall work in cooperation and shall endeavour to ensure 
that Services in fulfilment of the NHS Functions and Health Related 
Functions are commissioned with all due skill, care and attention.  

6.6.2 Each Partners shall be responsible for compliance with and making 
payments of all sums due from them to a Provider pursuant to the terms 
of a Service Contract.

6.6.3 Both Partners shall work in cooperation and endeavour to ensure that 
the relevant Services as set out in each Service Specification are 
commissioned within each Partners Financial Contribution in respect of 
that particular Service in each Financial Year. 

6.6.4 The Partners shall comply with the arrangements in respect of the 
Aligned and In View Commissioning as set out in the relevant Service 
Specification.

Appointment of a Lead Partner

6.7 Where there are Lead Commissioning Arrangements in respect of the Service the 
Lead Partner shall:

6.7.1 exercise the NHS Functions in conjunction with the Health Related 
Functions as identified in the Service Specification;

6.7.2 endeavour to ensure that the NHS Functions and the Health Related 
Functions are funded within the parameters of the Financial 
Contributions of each Partner in relation to each particular Service in 
each Financial Year.

6.7.3 commission Services for individuals who meet the eligibility criteria set 
out in the Service Specification;

6.7.4 contract with Provider(s) for the provision of the Services on terms 
agreed with the other Partner;

Document Pack Page 56



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 18 of 98

6.7.5 comply with all relevant legal duties and guidance of both Partners in 
relation to the Services being commissioned;

6.7.6 where Services are commissioned using the NHS Standard Form 
Contract, perform the obligations of the “Commissioner” and “Co-
ordinating Commissioner” with all due skill, care and attention and 
where Services are commissioned using any other form of contract to 
perform its obligations with all due skill and attention;

6.7.7 undertake performance management and contract monitoring of all 
Service Contracts including (without limitation) the use of contract 
notices where Services fail to deliver contracted requirements;

6.7.8 make payment of all sums due to a Provider pursuant to the terms of 
any Services Contract; and

6.7.9 keep the other Partner and Strategic Commissioning Board regularly 
informed of the effectiveness of the arrangements including any 
Overspend or Underspend in a Pooled Fund

7 ESTABLISHMENT OF A POOLED FUND

7.1 In exercise of their respective powers under Section 75 of the 2006 Act, the 
Partners have agreed to establish and maintain such pooled funds for revenue 
expenditure as agreed by the Partners.  At the Commencement Date there shall 
be a single Pooled Fund in respect of this Agreement which is inclusive of the 
Better Care Pooled Fund.

7.2 Subject to Clause 7.3, it is agreed that the monies held in a Pooled Fund may 
only be expended on the following:  

7.2.1 the Contract Price;

7.2.2 where the Council is to be the Provider, the Permitted Budget; 

7.2.3 Third Party Costs where these are set out in the relevant Service 
Specification or as otherwise agreed in advance in writing by the 
Strategic Commissioning Board

7.2.4 Approved Expenditure as set out in the relevant Service Specification or 
as otherwise agreed in advance in writing by the Strategic 
Commissioning Board 

7.2.5 The management costs in relation to hosting arrangements including but 
not limited to audit costs.

7.3 The Partners may only depart from the definition of Permitted Expenditure to 
include or exclude other revenue expenditure with the express written agreement 
of each Partner [or Strategic Commissioning Board].

7.4 For the avoidance of doubt, monies held in the Pooled Fund may not be expended 
on Default Liabilities unless this is agreed by all Partners in accordance with 
Clause 7.3. 

Document Pack Page 57



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 19 of 98

7.5 Pursuant to this Agreement, the Partners agree to appoint a Host Partner for the 
Pooled Funds the Host Partner shall be the Partner responsible for:

7.5.1 administering the records of the funds contributed to the Pooled Fund on 
behalf of itself and the other Partners; 

7.5.2 administering the records of the funds expended from the Pooled Fund 
on behalf of itself and the other Partners;

7.5.3 administering the records of the funds contributed and expended by the 
Parties in relation to Aligned and In View funds

7.5.4 appointing the Pooled Fund Manager;

7.5.5 ensuring that the Pooled Fund Manager complies with its obligations 
under this Agreement.

7.5.6 For the avoidance of doubt each Partner shall administer its own 
financial transaction initially within its own accounting ledger and see 
reimbursement from the Host Partner out of the Pooled Fund.

8 POOLED FUND MANAGEMENT

8.1 The Partners hereby agree that the Host Partner shall appoint an officer to act as 
the Pooled Fund Manager for the purposes of Regulation 7(4) of the Regulations, 
subject to the consent of the other Party (such consent not to be unreasonably 
withheld).

8.2 The Pooled Fund Manager shall have the following duties and responsibilities (and 
shall have the power to delegate any of these functions to suitably qualified staff 
subject to the terms of the Financial Framework):

8.2.1 the day to day operation and management of the Pooled Fund; 

8.2.2 ensuring that all expenditure from the Pooled Fund is in accordance with 
the provisions of this Agreement and the relevant Commissioning Plans; 

8.2.3 maintaining an overview of all joint financial issues affecting the Partners 
in relation to the Services and the Pooled Fund; 

8.2.4 ensuring that full and proper records for accounting purposes are kept in 
respect of the Pooled Fund and liaising with internal and external 
auditors as necessary; 

8.2.5 reporting to the Strategic Commissioning Board as required by this 
Agreement and by the Strategic Commissioning Board;

8.2.6 ensuring action is taken to manage any projected under or overspends 
relating to the Pooled Fund in accordance with this Agreement;

8.2.7 preparing and submitting to the Strategic Commissioning Board 
Quarterly Reports (or more frequent reports if required by the Strategic 
Commissioning Board) and an annual return about the income and 

Document Pack Page 58



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 20 of 98

expenditure from the Pooled Fund together with such other information 
as may be required by the Partners and the Strategic Commissioning 
Board to monitor the effectiveness of the Pooled Fund and to enable the 
Partners to complete their own financial accounts and returns. The 
Partners agree to provide all necessary information to the Pooled Fund 
Manager in time for the reporting requirements to be met including 
(without limitation) comply with any reporting requirements as may be 
required by relevant National Guidance and as agreed between the 
Partners; 

8.3 In carrying out their responsibilities as provided under Clause 8.2, the Pooled 
Fund Manager shall comply with the Financial Framework; have regard to 
National Guidance and the recommendations of the Strategic Commissioning 
Board; and be accountable to the Partners for delivery of those responsibilities.

8.4 The Strategic Commissioning Board may agree to amending the allocation of the 
Pooled Fund between Individual Services.

9 FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS 

9.1 The Financial Contribution of the CCG and the Council to the Pooled Fund shall be 
as set out in each Commissioning Plan. For the first Financial Year of operation 
shall be as set out in Schedule 3.

9.2 The Financial Contribution of the CCG and the Council to any Pooled Fund for 
each subsequent Financial Year of operation will be determined by the Parties and 
set out in writing on or before the 31 March of the preceding year in accordance 
with the Financial Framework.

9.3 No provision of this Agreement shall preclude the Partners from making 
additional contributions of Non-Recurrent Payments to the Integrated 
Commissioning Fund from time to time by mutual agreement. Any such additional 
contributions of Non-Recurrent Payments shall be explicitly recorded in Strategic 
Commissioning Board minutes and recorded in the budget statement as a 
separate item.

Any grant conditions (or other ring fenced funding) shall be subject to the 
relevant conditions that apply, and both parties hereby agree to comply with 
those conditions.

10 NON FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS 

10.1 Both Parties shall review non-financial contributions toward the Integrated 
Commissioning Fund including staff (including the Pooled Fund Manager), 
premises, IT support and other non-financial resources necessary to perform its 
obligations pursuant to this Agreement (including, but not limited to, 
management of Services Contracts and the Pooled Fund) as part of the annual 
review. 

Document Pack Page 59



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 21 of 98

11 FUTURE BUDGET SETTLEMENTS RISK 

11.1 In the event that financial settlements and budget uplifts for future years are 
insufficient to meet rising demands and rising costs. Possible scenarios for which 
include but are not limited to:

 Local Government grant funding from government (Revenue Support 
Grant) is projected to reduce significantly

 NHS allocation growth is significantly less than anticipated plans;
 Both Partners may be required to produce medium term efficiency plans in 

order to receive multi-year financial settlements;
 Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership impose additional 

requirements.

11.2 The principles of response to these risks and future pressures will be: 

 As far as is possible, the value of the single budgets will be kept at their 
equivalent current value

 Treatment of remaining resource gaps will be addressed within the 
single consolidated fund during the period to 2022/2023 with both Partners 
agreeing to vary contributions over 4 years to mitigate variable pressures 
in health and care services. It is agreed that Bury MBC will increase the 
value of Bury MBC resources within the ICF by a maximum sum of £12.0 
million in 2019/2020 and the CCG will make a reciprocal contribution in 
2020/21 should this be necessary.

12 RISK SHARE ARRANGEMENTS OVERSPENDS AND UNDERSPENDS

Risk share arrangements 

12.1 The Partners have agreed risk share arrangements as set out in the Financial 
Framework, which provide for risk share arrangements arising within the 
commissioning of services from the Integrated Commissioning Fund. The 
agreement from commencement of this agreement is that each organisation will 
share financial risk on a 50:50 basis. The variance to the total net budget 
allocation at the end of each financial year will be financed on a 50:50 basis.

Overspends in Pooled Fund 

12.2 The Host Partner for the Pooled Fund shall manage expenditure from a Pooled 
Fund within the Financial Contributions and shall use reasonable endeavours to 
ensure that the expenditure is limited to Permitted Expenditure.

12.3 The Host Partner shall not be in breach of its obligations under this Agreement if 
an Overspend occurs PROVIDED THAT it has used reasonable endeavours to 
ensure that the only expenditure from the Pooled Fund has been in accordance 
with Permitted Expenditure and it has informed the Strategic Commissioning 
Board in accordance with Clause 12.4.

12.4 In the event that the Pooled Fund Manager identifies an actual or projected 
Overspend the Pooled Fund Manager must ensure that the Strategic 
Commissioning Board is informed as soon as reasonably possible. 

Document Pack Page 60



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 22 of 98

Overspends in Non-Pooled Funds

12.5 Where in Joint (Aligned) Commissioning Arrangements either Partner forecasts an 
overspend in relation to a Partners Financial Contribution to a Non-Pooled Fund or 
Aligned Fund that Partner shall as soon as reasonably practicable inform the 
other Partner and the Strategic Commissioning Board. 

12.6 Where there is a Lead Commissioning Arrangement the Lead Commissioner is 
responsible for the management of the Non-Pooled Fund (Aligned Fund). The 
Lead Commissioner shall as soon as reasonably practicable inform the other 
Partner and the Strategic Commissioning Board. 

Underspend 

12.7 In the event that expenditure from any Pooled Fund or Non Pooled Fund in any 
Financial Year is less than the aggregate value of the Financial Contributions 
made for that Financial Year or where the expenditure in relation to an Individual 
Service is less than the agreed allocation to that particular Individual Service the 
Partners shall agree how the monies shall be spent, carried forward and/or 
returned to the Partners. Such arrangements shall be subject to the Law and the 
Standing Orders and Standing Financial Instructions (or equivalent) of the 
Partners.

13 CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

13.1 Neither Pooled Funds nor Aligned and In View Funds shall normally be applied 
towards any one-off expenditure on goods and/or services, which will provide 
continuing benefit and would historically have been funded from the capital 
budgets of one of the Partners. If a need for capital expenditure is identified this 
must be agreed by the Partners and the capital expenditure must comply with 
applicable grant conditions.

14 VAT

The Partners shall agree the treatment of the Pooled Fund for VAT purposes in 
accordance with any relevant guidance from HM Revenue and Customs. 

15 AUDIT AND RIGHT OF ACCESS  

15.1 All Partners shall promote a culture of probity and sound financial discipline and 
control.  The Host Partner shall arrange for the audit of the accounts of the 
Pooled Fund.

15.2 The Host Partner shall keep and maintain until six years after the agreement has 
been completed, or as long a period as may be agreed between the parties, full 
and accurate records of the agreement including: 

15.2.1 the Services provided under it;

15.2.2 all expenditure reimbursed by the Partners;

15.2.3 all payments made by the Partners.

Document Pack Page 61



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 23 of 98

15.3 All internal and external auditors and all other persons authorised by the Partners 
will be given the right of access by them to any document, information or 
explanation they require from any employee or member of the relevant Partner in 
order to carry out their duties. This right is not limited to financial information or 
accounting records and applies equally to premises or equipment used in 
connection with this Agreement.  Access may be at any time without notice, 
provided there is good cause for access without notice.

15.4 The Partners shall comply with relevant NHS and the Council’s finance and 
accounting obligations as required by relevant Law.

16 LIABILITIES AND INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY 

16.1 Subject to Clause 16.2, and 16.3, if a Partner (“First Partner”) incurs a Loss 
arising out of or in connection with this Agreement (including a Loss arising under 
an Individual Service) as a consequence of any act or omission of another Partner 
(“Other Partner”) which constitutes negligence, fraud or a breach of contract in 
relation to this Agreement or any Services Contract then the Other Partner shall 
be liable to the First Partner for that Loss and shall indemnify the First Partner 
accordingly. 

16.2 Clause 16.1 shall only apply to the extent that the acts or omissions of the Other 
Partner contributed to the relevant Loss. Furthermore, it shall not apply if such 
act or omission occurred as a consequence of the Other Partner acting in 
accordance with the instructions or requests of the First Partner or the Strategic 
Commissioning Board. 

16.3 If any third party makes a claim or intimates an intention to make a claim against 
either Partner, which may reasonably be considered as likely to give rise to 
liability under this Clause 16. the Partner that may claim against the other 
indemnifying Partner will:

16.3.1 as soon as reasonably practicable give written notice of that matter to 
the Other Partner specifying in reasonable detail the nature of the 
relevant claim;

16.3.2 not make any admission of liability, agreement or compromise in relation 
to the relevant claim without the prior written consent of the Other 
Partner (such consent not to be unreasonably conditioned, withheld or 
delayed);

16.3.3 give the Other Partner and its professional advisers reasonable access to 
its premises and personnel and to any relevant assets, accounts, 
documents and records within its power or control so as to enable the 
Indemnifying Partner and its professional advisers to examine such 
premises, assets, accounts, documents and records and to take copies at 
their own expense for the purpose of assessing the merits of, and if 
necessary defending, the relevant claim.

16.4 Each Partner shall ensure that they maintain policies of insurance (or equivalent 
arrangements through schemes operated by the National Health Service 
Litigation Authority) in respect of all potential liabilities arising from this 

Document Pack Page 62



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 24 of 98

Agreement and in the event of Losses shall seek to recover such Loss through the 
relevant policy of insurance (or equivalent arrangement)

16.5 Each Partner shall at all times take all reasonable steps to minimise and mitigate 
any loss for which one party is entitled to bring a claim against the other 
pursuant to this Agreement.

Conduct of Claims

16.6 In respect of the indemnities given in this Clause 16:

16.6.1 the indemnified Partner shall give written notice to the indemnifying 
Partner as soon as is practicable of the details of any claim or 
proceedings brought or threatened against it in respect of which a claim 
will or may be made under the relevant indemnity;

16.6.2 the indemnifying Partner shall at its own expense have the exclusive 
right to defend conduct and/or settle all claims and proceedings to the 
extent that such claims or proceedings may be covered by the relevant 
indemnity provided that where there is an impact upon the indemnified 
Partner, the indemnifying Partner shall consult with the indemnified 
Partner about the conduct and/or settlement of such claims and 
proceedings and shall at all times keep the indemnified Partner informed 
of all material matters.

16.6.3 the indemnifying and indemnified Partners shall each give to the other 
all such cooperation as may reasonably be required in connection with 
any threatened or actual claim or proceedings which are or may be 
covered by a relevant indemnity.

17 STANDARDS OF CONDUCT AND SERVICE

17.1 The Partners will at all times comply with Law and ensure good corporate 
governance in respect of each Partner (including the Partners respective 
Constitutions, Standing Orders, Standing Financial Instructions and Codes of 
Conduct). 

17.2 The Council is subject to the duty of Best Value under the Local Government Act 
1999.  This Agreement and the operation of the Integrated Commissioning Fund 
is therefore subject to the Council’s obligations for Best Value and the other 
Partners will co-operate with all reasonable requests from the Council which the 
Council considers necessary in order to fulfil its Best Value obligations.

17.3 The CCG is subject to the CCG Statutory Duties and these incorporate a duty of 
clinical governance, which is a framework through which they are accountable for 
continuously improving the quality of its services and safeguarding high 
standards of care by creating an environment in which excellence in clinical care 
will flourish.  This Agreement and the operation of the Integrated Commissioning 
Fund are therefore subject to ensuring compliance with the CCG Statutory Duties 
and clinical governance obligations.

17.4 The Partners are committed to an approach to equality and equal opportunities as 
represented in their respective policies.  The Partners will maintain and develop 

Document Pack Page 63



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 25 of 98

these policies as applied to service provision, with the aim of developing a joint 
strategy for all elements of the service.

18 CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

18.1 The Partners shall comply with their respective policies for identifying and 
managing conflicts of interest.

18.2 The Strategic Commissioning Board shall maintain a register of conflicts of 
interests. In the event of a conflict arising between the Parties’ respective policies 
the matter shall be referred to the Accountable Officer for resolution. This 
acknowledges that there is one Accountable Officer over the 2 statutory 
organisations. Should the Accountable Officer be unable to reach a resolution the 
matter shall be determined as a dispute in accordance with Clause 23.

19 GOVERNANCE

19.1 Section 75 of the 2006 Act states that the partner organisations retain the 
statutory responsibilities and remain accountable for the prescribed services set 
out for each in various legislation.

19.2 Overall strategic oversight of the development of Integrated Commissioning is 
vested in the Councils Executive Cabinet and the CCG Governing Body, which 
shall remain the statutory decision making bodies.

19.3 The Parties have established the Strategic Commissioning Board to provide 
oversight and leadership for delivery of Integrated Commissioning.

19.4 The Strategic Commissioning Board is based on a joint working group structure.  
Each member of the Strategic Commissioning Board shall be an officer of one of 
the Partners and will have individual delegated responsibility from the Partner 
employing them to make decisions which enable the Strategic Commissioning 
Board to carry out its objects, roles, duties and functions as set out in this Clause 
19 and Schedule 2. The Strategic Commissioning Board will ensure compliance 
with both Parties’ Constitutions, standards of clinical and corporate governance 
and management and behavioural standards expected. 

19.5 The Parties will ensure membership and attendance is appropriate to carry out 
the required functions of the Strategic Commissioning Board. 

19.6 The senior management and officers delivering Integrated Commissioning will be 
given sufficient relevant delegated authority to carry out their role.

19.7 The terms of reference of the Strategic Commissioning Board shall be as set out 
in Schedule [2] as may be amended or varied by written agreed from time to 
time. 

19.8 Each Partner has secured internal reporting arrangements to ensure the 
standards of accountability and probity required by each Partner's own statutory 
duties and organisation are complied with.  

Document Pack Page 64



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 26 of 98

19.9 The Strategic Commissioning Board shall be responsible for making decisions 
related to the Pooled Fund in accordance with the relevant standing financial 
instructions and scheme of delegation. 

19.10 The Strategic Commissioning Board shall be responsible for the overall approval 
of Commissioning Plans and business cases. 

19.11 The Strategic Commissioning Board shall report to the CCG Governing Body and 
Council Cabinet.

19.12 The Service Specification shall confirm the governance arrangements in respect 
of the Individual Service and how that Individual Service is reported to the 
Strategic Commissioning Board. 

20 REVIEW 

20.1 The Partners shall produce a Quarterly Report which shall be provided to the 
Strategic Commissioning Board in such form and setting out such information as 
required by Strategic Commissioning Board including but not limited to:

20.1.1 the performance of the Partnership Arrangements against the 
performance management framework in the preceding Quarter; and

20.1.2 any forecast overspend or underspend of the Financial Contributions.

20.2 Save where the Strategic Commissioning Board agree alternative arrangements 
(including alternative frequencies) the Partners shall undertake an annual review 
(“Annual Review”) of the operation of this Agreement, the Integrated 
Commissioning Fund and the provision of the Services within 3 Months of the end 
of each Financial Year.

20.3 Subject to any variations to this process required by the Strategic Commissioning 
Board, Annual Reviews shall be conducted in good faith.

20.4 The Partners shall within [20] Working Days of the annual review prepare an 
Annual Report for submission to each of the Parties respective Governing Bodies 
including but not limited to:

20.4.1 the performance of the Partnership Arrangements against the Aims and 
Outcomes;

20.4.2 the performance of the individual Services against the Service Levels 
and other targets contained in the relevant contracts;

20.4.3 plans to address any underperformance in the Services;

20.4.4 actual expenditure compared with agreed budgets, and reasons for and 
plans to address any actual or potential underspends or overspends; 

20.4.5 review of plans and performance levels for the following year; 

20.4.6 plans to respond to any changes in policy or legislation applicable to the 
Services or the Partnership Arrangements;

Document Pack Page 65



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 27 of 98

20.4.7 a review of the non-financial contributions and whether to withdraw or 
substitute such non-financial contributions as agreed;

20.4.8 review of targets and priorities for the forthcoming Financial Year.

21 COMPLAINTS 

21.1 In this Agreement “complaints” shall include complaints, concerns and comments 
that come to the attention of the Parties through any source and in any medium; 
and shall include complaints about any aspect of the Services commissioned and 
about the function of commissioning.

21.2 The Partners’ own complaints procedures shall apply to this Agreement. The 
Partners agree to assist one another in the management of complaints arising 
from this Agreement or the provision of the Services and shall keep records of all 
complaints and provide the same for review by the Strategic Commissioning 
Board every Quarter of this Agreement (or as otherwise agreed between the 
Partners).

21.3 Complaints will be handled in accordance with the policies of the most 
appropriate Party. In the event of there being a dispute over which is the most 
appropriate Party, the role shall fall to the Lead Commissioner for the service 
involved. 

22 TERMINATION & DEFAULT 

22.1 This Agreement may be terminated by either Partner giving not less than 3 
Months' notice in writing to terminate this Agreement.

22.2 If any Partner (“Relevant Partner”) fails to meet any of its obligations under this 
Agreement, the other Partners (acting jointly) may by notice require the Relevant 
Partner to take such reasonable action within a reasonable timescale as the other 
Partners may specify to rectify such failure.  Should the Relevant Partner fail to 
rectify such failure within such reasonable timescale, the matter shall be referred 
for resolution in accordance with Clause 23. 

22.3 Termination of this Agreement (whether by effluxion of time or otherwise) shall 
be without prejudice to the Partners’ rights in respect of any antecedent breach 
and the provisions of Clauses 
15 (Audit and Right of Access), 16 (Liabilities and Insurance and Indemnity), 22 
(Termination & Default), 25 (Confidentiality), 26 (Freedom of Information and 
Environmental Protection Regulations) and 28 (Information Sharing).

22.4 In the event of termination of this Agreement, the Partners agree to cooperate to 
ensure an orderly wind down of their joint activities and to use their best 
endeavours to minimise disruption to the health and social care which is provided 
to the Service Users.

22.5 Upon termination of this Agreement for any reason whatsoever the following shall 
apply:

22.5.1 the Partners agree that they will work together and co-operate to ensure 
that the winding down and disaggregation of the integrated and joint 

Document Pack Page 66



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 28 of 98

activities to the separate responsibilities of the Partners is carried out 
smoothly and with as little disruption as possible to service users, 
employees, the Partners and third parties, so as to minimise costs and 
liabilities of each Partner in doing so;

22.5.2 where either Partner has entered into a Service Contract which continues 
after the termination of this Agreement, both Partners shall continue to 
contribute to the Contract Price in accordance with the agreed 
contribution for that Service prior to termination and will enter into all 
appropriate legal documentation required in respect of this;

22.5.3 the Lead Partner shall make reasonable endeavours to amend or 
terminate a Service Contract (which shall for the avoidance of doubt not 
include any act or omission that would place the Lead Partner in breach 
of the Service Contract) where the other Partner requests the same in 
writing Provided that the Lead Partner shall not be required to make any 
payments to the Provider for such amendment or termination unless the 
Partners shall have agreed in advance who shall be responsible for any 
such payment.

22.5.4 where a Service Contract held by a Lead Partner relates all or partially to 
services which relate to the other Partner's Functions then provided that 
the Service Contract allows the other Partner may request that the Lead 
Partner assigns the Service Contract in whole or part upon the same 
terms mutatis mutandis as the original contract.

22.5.5 the Strategic Commissioning Board shall continue to operate for the 
purposes of functions associated with this Agreement for the remainder 
of any contracts and commitments relating to this Agreement; and

22.5.6 Termination of this Agreement shall have no effect on the liability of any 
rights or remedies of either Partner already accrued, prior to the date 
upon which such termination takes effect.

22.6 In the event of termination in relation to an Individual Service the provisions of 
Clause 22.5 shall apply mutatis mutandis in relation to the Individual Service (as 
though references as to this Agreement were to that Individual Service).

23 DISPUTE RESOLUTION

23.1 In the event of a dispute between the Partners arising out of this Agreement, 
either Partner may serve written notice of the dispute on the other Partner, 
setting out full details of the dispute.

23.2 The following principles are to be adhered to for any dispute resolution.

23.2.1 The resolution agreement must be in the best interests of the population 
of Bury. It must maintain the quality of health and social care provision 
now and in the future, deliver the best possible outcomes, support 
innovation where appropriate, make care more cost-effective, and 
allocate risk fairly.

Document Pack Page 67



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 29 of 98

23.2.2 The resolution agreement must promote transparency and 
accountability. It should hold the Parties.to the Agreement accountable 
to each other and to patients and citizens and facilitate the sharing of 
appropriate Information to achieve the ambition of the Locality Plan.

23.2.3 The Parties must engage constructively with each other within the 
dispute resolution process when working to reach agreement.

23.3 This dispute resolution process operates in three stages:

23.3.1 The first stage Involves advice and/or mediation by the Parties clarifying 
which points are in dispute and the basis for the dispute for each 
disputed point. A mediator Is to be agreed by the Parties and, in default 
of such agreement by the Parties, the mediator shall be a person 
nominated by Greater · Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership. 
All relevant information should be exchanged between the Parties to 
ensure that a clear understanding of the disputed points Is established 
as a basis for reaching an agreement cognisant of the above-mentioned 
principles, to avoid the requirement to enter into the second or third 
stages. It Is expected that this process will be conducted within a two 
week period. If the Parties reach an agreement this will be binding upon 
each Party.

23.3.2 The second stage involves more formal negotiation between the Parties 
with the aim of reaching a negotiated position which is acceptable to 
both Parties. This stage will utilise the information shared during the 
stage one process as well as any additional pertinent Information. This 
stage will be facilitated by a mediator to be nominated by the Greater 
Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership (at this stage the 
mediator is being appointed for the Parties on the basis that the 
mediation facilitated by the self-chosen mediator at stage one was 
unsuccessful). It is expected that the process will be conducted within a 
two-week period. If the Parties reach an agreement this will be binding 
upon each Party.   It Is anticipated that both Parties would agree to the 
appointment of the mediator, In the event that one or both Parties do 
not agree the nominee a further nominee would be sought from the 
Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership.

23.3.3 The third stage involves formal arbitration which will be affected by 
means of a mediation panel appointed by the Strategic Commissioning 
Board following nomination by the Greater Manchester Health and Social 
Care Partnership. In the event that one or both Parties do not agree the 
nominee a further nominee would be sought from the Greater 
Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership

23.4 Each of these panel representatives will not be conflicted by the. disputed points 
under question, with conflicts of interest defined in the following categories:

23.4.1 Financial interests: Where an individual" may get direct financial benefits 
from the consequences of a decision.

23.4.2 Non-financial professional interest: Where an Individual may obtain a 
non-financial professional benefit from the consequences of a decision. 

Document Pack Page 68



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 30 of 98

such as Increasing their professional reputation or status or promoting 
their professional career.

23.4.3 Non-financial personal interests: Where an individual may benefit 
personally in ways which are not directly linked to their professional 
career and do not give rise to a direct financial benefit.

23.4.4 Indirect Interests where an individual has a close association with an 
individual who has a financial Interest, a nonfinancial professional 
interest or a non-financial personal interest in a decision (as those 
categories are described above).

23.5 The mediation panel will meet to review the disputed points that have been 
identified by the Parties In the first stage process. The panel may call on expert 
advice and/or on the disputed parties at their discretion. No member of the panel 
will have a strong prior relationship with any organisation or of the key staff 
involved in the dispute.

23.6 Arbitration will be conducted using the 'pendulum principle' for each issue. This 
means that the mediation panel can only find wholly in favour of one of the 
disputed parties for each disputed point; they can neither propose a different 
solution nor split the difference. If there are multiple areas of dispute these will 
be considered separately.

23.6.1 The agreed rationale for the pendulum principle - Application of the 
pendulum principle is designed to reduce the need for arbitration in the 
first place. The Party whose proposal will be accepted will be the one 
whose stance is most consistent with. This Agreement and the principles 
of the Locality Plan. In matters where this Agreement and the principles 
of the Locality Plan do not clearly determine the adjudication the 
accepted proposal is that which is closest to what the mediation panel 
believes is reasonable.

23.6.2 The mediation panel will apply the pendulum principle to the most recent 
proposal made by each Party. It is required that each Party is aware of 
the proposals of the other Party. Where there are multiple areas of 
dispute between the Parties these will normally be treated separately by 
the mediation panel and the pendulum principle applied to each 
Individual Issue of dispute. However, the mediation panel may at its 
discretion decide to adjudicate only once across a number of issues it 
perceives to be linked.

23.7 In making its decision the mediation panel will consider the relative 
reasonableness of the final· offer proposals. In so doing it will act in accordance 
with the overarching principles as detailed above, which Will be updated to 
include any principles established as a result of previous arbitrations. The 
decisions of the mediation panel will be binding upon the Parties.

23.8 Once the mediation panel has reached its decisions it will write jointly to the 
Parties within one Working Day of the panel date informing them of the outcome 
of the arbitration. It is expected that this third stage process will be completed 
within a four-week period.

Document Pack Page 69



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 31 of 98

23.9 Parties involved in any formal dispute have recourse to existing routes to 
challenge if the dispute process has not been followed correctly.

24 FORCE MAJEURE

24.1 Neither Partner shall be entitled to bring a claim for a breach of obligations under 
this Agreement by the other Partner or incur any liability to the other Partner for 
any losses or damages incurred by that Partner to the extent that a Force 
Majeure Event occurs, and it is prevented from carrying out its obligations by that 
Force Majeure Event.

24.2 On the occurrence of a Force Majeure Event, the Affected Partner shall notify the 
other Partner as soon as practicable.  Such notification shall include details of the 
Force Majeure Event, including evidence of its effect on the obligations of the 
Affected Partner and any action proposed to mitigate its effect.

24.3 As soon as practicable, following notification as detailed in Clause 24.2, the 
Partners shall consult with each other in good faith and use all best endeavours 
to agree appropriate terms to mitigate the effects of the Force Majeure Event 
and, subject to Clause 24.4, facilitate the continued performance of the 
Agreement.

24.4 If the Force Majeure Event continues for a period of more than [sixty (60) days], 
either Partner shall have the right to terminate the Agreement by giving 
[fourteen (14) days] written notice of termination to the other Partner.  For the 
avoidance of doubt, no compensation shall be payable by either Partner as a 
direct consequence of this Agreement being terminated in accordance with this 
Clause.

25 CONFIDENTIALITY

25.1 In respect of any Confidential Information a Partner receives from another 
Partner (the "Discloser") and subject always to the remainder of this Clause 25, 
each Partner (the "Recipient”) undertakes to keep secret and strictly confidential 
and shall not disclose any such Confidential Information to any third party, 
without the Discloser’s prior written consent provided that:

25.1.1 the Recipient shall not be prevented from using any general knowledge, 
experience or skills which were in its possession prior to the 
Commencement Date; and

25.1.2 the provisions of this Clause 25 shall not apply to any Confidential 
Information which:

(a) is in or enters the public domain other than by breach of the 
Agreement or other act or omission of the Recipient; or

(b) is obtained by a third party who is lawfully authorised to disclose 
such information.

25.2 Nothing in this Clause 25 shall prevent the Recipient from disclosing Confidential 
Information where it is required to do so in fulfilment of statutory obligations or 

Document Pack Page 70



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 32 of 98

by judicial, administrative, governmental or regulatory process in connection with 
any action, suit, proceedings or claim or otherwise by applicable Law.

25.3 Each Partner: 

25.3.1 may only disclose Confidential Information to its employees and 
professional advisors to the extent strictly necessary for such employees 
to carry out their duties under the Agreement; and

25.3.2 will ensure that, where Confidential Information is disclosed in 
accordance with Clause 25.3.1, the recipient(s) of that information is 
made subject to a duty of confidentiality equivalent to that contained in 
this Clause 25;

25.3.3 shall not use Confidential Information other than strictly for the 
performance of its obligations under this Agreement.

26 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION AND ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION 
REGULATIONS

26.1 The Partners agree that they will each cooperate with each other at their own 
expense to enable any Partner receiving a request for information under the 2000 
Act or the 2004 Regulations to respond to a request promptly and within the 
statutory timescales.  This cooperation shall include but not be limited to finding, 
retrieving and supplying information held, directing requests to other Partners as 
appropriate and responding to any requests by the Partner receiving a request for 
comments or other assistance. 

26.2 Where a Party receives a request for information specifically in relation to a 
function of the other Party, it shall direct the request for information to the other 
Party as soon as practicable after receipt and in any event within two working 
days of receiving the request for information. 

26.3 Where the request relates to functions of both Parties, the Party receiving the 
request for will share the request with the other Party as soon as practicable after 
receipt and in any event within two working days of receiving the request. The 
receiving Party will assist and co-operate with the other as is necessary for it to 
respond to the request within the time for compliance.

26.4 The Partners acknowledge that the decision on whether any exemption to the 
general obligations of public access to information applies to any request for 
information received under the 2000 Act and the 2004 Regulations is a decision 
ultimately for the Receiving Partner. 

26.5 The Partners accept and acknowledge that the final decision regarding the 
disclosure of information under the 2000 Act or 2004 Regulations rests with the 
Receiving Partner. 

26.6 Any and all agreements between the Partners as to confidentiality shall be 
subject to their duties under the 2000 Act and 2004 Regulations.  No Partner 
shall be in breach of Clause 26 if it makes disclosures of information in 
accordance with the 2000 Act and/or 2004 Regulations.

Document Pack Page 71



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 33 of 98

27 OMBUDSMEN AND PROHIBITED ACTS

27.1 The Partners will co-operate with any investigation undertaken by the Health 
Service Commissioner for England or the Local Government Commissioner for 
England (or both of them) in connection with this Agreement.

27.2 Neither Partner shall do any of the following:

a) offer, give, or agree to give the other Partner (or any of its officers, 
employees or agents) any gift or consideration of any kind as an inducement 
or reward for doing or not doing or for having done or not having done any 
act in relation to the obtaining of performance of this Agreement or any 
other contract with the other Partner, or for showing or not showing favour 
or disfavour to any person in relation to this Agreement or any other 
contract with the other Partner; and

b) in connection with this Agreement, pay or agree to pay any commission, 
other than a payment, particulars of which (including the terms and 
conditions of the agreement for its payment) have been disclosed in writing 
to the other Partner,

(together “Prohibited Acts” for the purposes of Clauses 27.2 to 27.6).

27.3 If either Partner or its employees or agents (or anyone acting on its or their 
behalf) commits any Prohibited Act or commits any offence under the Bribery Act 
2010 with or without the knowledge of the other Partner in relation to this 
Agreement, the non-defaulting Partner shall be entitled:

a) to exercise its right to terminate under clause 22 and to recover from the 
defaulting Partner the amount of any loss resulting from the termination; 
and

b) to recover from the defaulting Partner the amount or value of any gift, 
consideration or commission concerned; and

c) to recover from the defaulting Partner any loss or expense sustained in 
consequence of the carrying out of the Prohibited Act or the commission of 
the offence.

27.4 Each Partner must provide the other Partner upon written request with all 
reasonable assistance to enable that Partner to perform any activity required for 
the purposes of complying with the Bribery Act 2010. Should either Partner 
request such assistance the Partner requesting assistance must pay the 
reasonable expenses of the other Partner arising as a result of such request.

27.5 The Partners must have in place an anti-bribery policy for the purposes of 
preventing any of their staff from committing a prohibited act under the Bribery 
Act 2010. If either Partner requests the other Partner’s policies to be disclosed, 
then the Partners shall endeavour to do so within a reasonable timescale and in 
any event within 20 Working Days. 

Document Pack Page 72



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 34 of 98

27.6 Should the Partners become aware of or suspect any breach of Clauses 27.2 to 
27.5, it will notify the other Partner immediately. Following such notification, the 
Partner must respond promptly and fully to any enquiries of the other Partner, 
co-operate with any investigation undertaken by the Partner and allow the 
Partner to audit any books, records and other relevant documentation. 

28 INFORMATION SHARING AND DATA PROTECTION

28.1 In all instances where the Parties share information with each other; and in the 
functioning of the Strategic Commissioning Board, the Parties will adhere to the 
relevant policies and information governance protocols of each Party. In doing so, 
the Parties will ensure that the operation of this Agreement complies with Law, In 
particular the Data Protection Legislation.

28.2 Subject to the following provisions of this section the Parties shall work together 
to establish effective arrangements to permit and control the exchange of 
information to support the Integrated Commissioning arrangements.

28.3 Without prejudice to any other provision of this Agreement each party shall at all 
times comply with the requirements of the Data Protection Legislation  in respect 
of any Personal Data howsoever acquired or processed for the purposes of, or in 
the operation of, the Integrated Commissioning arrangements and no Personal 
Data collected or processed for any purposes connected with this Agreement will 
not be disclosed to any other person otherwise than in strict accordance with the 
provisions of the Data Protection Legislation 

28.4 Each Party shall ensure that in order to process any information for the purposes 
of this Agreement lawfully and fairly in accordance with the first data protection 
principle that it shall notify the subject of such personal information of the 
purposes for which it is gathered and for which it may be disclosed. Where 
necessary, the Parties will obtain the consent of Service Users and other data 
subjects to disclose personal information to be used for the purposes of this 
Agreement.

28.5 Any data disclosed by a Party to the other for use in carrying out the purposes of 
this Agreement will be held and processed strictly in accordance with the Data 
Protection Legislation and any common law obligation of confidentiality.

28.6 The Parties shall:

28.6.1 Keep confidential any information obtained in connection with this 
Agreement and personal service user data, subject to the Data 
Protection Legislation ; and 

28.6.2 Take appropriate technical and organisational measures against 
unauthorised or unlawful processing of such personal data and against 
accidental loss or destruction of or damage to such Personal Data.

29 NOTICES AND PUBLICITY 

29.1 Any notice to be given under this Agreement shall either be delivered personally 
or sent by first class post or electronic mail.  The address for service of each 

Document Pack Page 73



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 35 of 98

Partner shall be as set out in Clause 29.3 or such other address as each Partner 
may previously have notified to the other Partner in writing.  A notice shall be 
deemed to have been served if:

29.1.1 personally delivered, at the time of delivery; 

29.1.2 posted, at the expiration of forty-eight (48) hours after the envelope 
containing the same was delivered into the custody of the postal 
authorities; and

29.1.3 if sent by electronic mail, at the time of transmission and a telephone 
call must be made to the recipient warning the recipient that an 
electronic mail message has been sent to him (as evidenced by a 
contemporaneous note of the Partner sending the notice) and a hard 
copy of such notice is also sent by first class recorded delivery post 
(airmail if overseas) on the same day as that on which the electronic 
mail is sent.

29.2 In proving such service, it shall be sufficient to prove that personal delivery was 
made, or that the envelope containing such notice was properly addressed and 
delivered into the custody of the postal authority as prepaid first class or airmail 
letter (as appropriate), or that the facsimile was transmitted on a tested line or 
that the correct transmission report was received from the facsimile machine 
sending the notice, or that the electronic mail was properly addressed and no 
message was received informing the sender that it had not been received by the 
recipient (as the case may be).

29.3 The address for service of notices as referred to in Clause 29.1 shall be as follows 
unless otherwise notified to the other Partner in writing:

29.3.1 if to the Council, addressed to the Chief Executive Geoff Little Town Hall, 
Knowsley Street, Lancashire, BL9 0SW  

Tel: 0161 253 5000
Email: [                        ] 

and 

29.3.2 if to the CCG, addressed to the Accountable Officer, Geoff Little Town 
Hall, Knowsley Street, Lancashire, BL9 0SW  

Tel: 0161 253 5000
Email: [                  

29.4 Without prejudice to Clause 26, except with the written consent of the other 
Partner, (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed), the Partners 
must not make any press announcements in relation to this Agreement in any 
way.

Document Pack Page 74



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 36 of 98

29.5 The Partners must take all reasonable steps to ensure the observance of the 
provisions of Clause 29.4 by their staff, servants, agents, consultants and sub-
contractors. 

30 VARIATION 

30.1 Subject to Clause 30.2, no variations to this Agreement will be valid unless they 
are recorded in writing and signed for and on behalf of each of the Parties.

30.2 The members of the Strategic Commissioning Board may choose to exercise their 
delegated powers on behalf of their employer organisation (for the avoidance of 
doubt in each case must either be the CCG or the Council) to:

30.2.1 agree the addition of Commissioning Plans or Integrated Commissioning 
Strategies to this agreement following the approval of a detailed 
business case by each of the Parties; and

30.2.2 carry out an Annual Review of this Agreement pursuant to Clause 20 and 
implement necessary changes following the review.

31 CHANGE IN LAW

31.1 The Partners shall ascertain, observe, perform and comply with all relevant Laws, 
and shall do and execute or cause to be done and executed all acts required to be 
done under or by virtue of any Laws. 

31.2 On the occurrence of any Change in Law, the Partners shall agree in good faith 
any amendment required to this Agreement as a result of the Change in Law 
subject to the Partners using all reasonable endeavours to mitigate the adverse 
effects of such Change in Law and taking all reasonable steps to minimise any 
increase in costs arising from such Change in Law.

31.3 In the event of failure by the Partners to agree the relevant amendments to the 
Agreement (as appropriate), the Clause 23 (Dispute Resolution) shall apply.

32 WAIVER

No failure or delay by any Partner to exercise any right, power or remedy will 
operate as a waiver of it nor will any partial exercise preclude any further 
exercise of the same or of some other right to remedy.

33 SEVERANCE

If any provision of this Agreement, not being of a fundamental nature, shall be 
held to be illegal or unenforceable, the enforceability of the remainder of this 
Agreement shall not thereby be affected.

34 ASSIGNMENT AND SUB CONTRACTING

The Partners shall not sub contract, assign or transfer the whole or any part of 
this Agreement, without the prior written consent of the other Partners, which 
shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. This shall not apply to any 

Document Pack Page 75



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 37 of 98

assignment to a statutory successor of all or part of a Partner’s statutory 
functions.

35 EXCLUSION OF PARTNERSHIP AND AGENCY

35.1 Nothing in this Agreement shall create or be deemed to create a partnership 
under the Partnership Act 1890 or the Limited Partnership Act 1907, a joint 
venture or the relationship of employer and employee between the Partners or 
render either Partner directly liable to any third party for the debts, liabilities or 
obligations of the other.  

35.2 Except as expressly provided otherwise in this Agreement or where the context or 
any statutory provision otherwise necessarily requires, neither Partner will have 
authority to, or hold itself out as having authority to:

35.2.1 act as an agent of the other;

35.2.2 make any representations or give any warranties to third parties on 
behalf of or in respect of the other; or

35.2.3 bind the other in any way.

36 THIRD PARTY RIGHTS

Unless the right of enforcement is expressly provided, no third party shall have 
the right to pursue any right under this Contract pursuant to the Contracts 
(Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 or otherwise.

37 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

37.1 The terms herein contained together with the contents of the Schedules 
constitute the complete agreement between the Partners with respect to the 
subject matter hereof and supersede all previous communications 
representations understandings and agreement and any representation promise 
or condition not incorporated herein shall not be binding on any Partner.

37.2 No agreement or understanding varying or extending or pursuant to any of the 
terms or provisions hereof shall be binding upon any Partner unless in writing and 
signed by a duly authorised officer or representative of the parties.

38 COUNTERPARTS

This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts.  Any single 
counterpart or a set of counterparts executed, in either case, by all Partners shall 
constitute a full original of this Agreement for all purposes. 

39 GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION

39.1 This Agreement and any dispute or claim arising out of or in connection with it or 
its subject matter or formation (including non-contractual disputes or claims) 
shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of England and 
Wales.

Document Pack Page 76



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 38 of 98

39.2 Subject to Clause 23 (Dispute Resolution), the Partners irrevocably agree that the 
courts of England and Wales shall have exclusive jurisdiction to hear and settle 
any action, suit, proceedings, dispute or claim, which may arise out of, or in 
connection with, this Agreement, its subject matter or formation (including non-
contractual disputes or claims).

IN WITNESS WHEREOF this Agreement has been executed by the Partners on the 
date of this Agreement

THE CORPORATE SEAL of THE )
COUNCIL OF [                      ] )
was hereunto affixed in the 
presence of:

)

Signed for on behalf of [                 
]
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP

_________________________

Authorised Signatory

Document Pack Page 77



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 39 of 98

SCHEDULE 1– COMMISSIONING STRATEGY – LOCALITY PLAN

Document Pack Page 78



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 40 of 98

SCHEDULE 2– GOVERNANCE – STRATEGIC COMMISSIONING BOARD

SCB TOR.pdf

Document Pack Page 79



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 41 of 98

SCHEDULE 3 – FINANCIAL FRAMEWORK AND POOLED BUDGET 2019/2020

See appendix 7 to this report

Document Pack Page 80



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 42 of 98

SCHEDULE 4 - JOINT WORKING OBLIGATIONS

LEAD COMMISSIONER OBLIGATIONS

Terminology used in this Schedule shall have the meaning attributed to it in the NHS 
Standard Form Contract save where this Agreement or the context requires otherwise.

1 The Lead Commissioner shall notify the other Party if it receives or serves:

1.1 a Change in Control Notice (or equivalent to using a Council standard contract);

1.2 a Notice of an Event of Force Majeure (or equivalent If using a Council standard 
contract);

1.3 a Contract Query (or equivalent if using a Council standard contract);

1.4 Exception Reports and provide copies of the same (or equivalent if using a 
Council standard contract).

2 The Lead Commissioner shall provide the other Party with copies of any and all:

2.1 CQUIN Performance Reports (or equivalent If using a Council standard contract);

2.2 Monthly Reports (or equivalent if using a Council standard contract);

2.3 Review Records (or equivalent if using a Council standard contract); and

2.4 Remedial Action Plans (or equivalent If using a Council standard contract);

2.5 JI Reports (or equivalent if using a Council standard contract);  

2.6 Service Quality Performance Report (or equivalent If using a Council standard 
contract); 

3 The Lead Commissioner shall consult with the other Party before attending:

3.1 an Activity Management Meeting (or equivalent If using a Council standard 
contract);

3.2 Contract Management Meeting (or equivalent If using a Council standard 
contact);

3.3 Review Meeting (or equivalent to using a Council standard contact); and to the 
extent the Service Contract permits, raise issues reasonably requested by a Party 
at those meetings.

4 The Lead Commissioner shall not without the prior approval of the other (acting 
through the Strategic Commissioning Board), such approval not to be 
unreasonably withheld or delayed:

4.1 permanently or temporarily withhold or monies pursuant to the Withholding and 
Retaining of Payment Provisions;

Document Pack Page 81



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 43 of 98

4.2 vary any Provider Plans (excluding Remedial Action Plans (or equivalent if using a 
Council standard contract));

4.3 agree (or vary) the terms of a Joint Investigation or a Joint Action Plan (or 
equivalent if using a Council standard contract);

4.4 give any approvals under the Service Contract;

4.5 agree to or propose any variation to the Service Contract (including any Schedule 
or Appendices);

4.6 suspend all or part of the Services;

4.7 serve any notice to terminate the Service Contact (In whole or in part);

4.8 serve any notice;

4.9 agree (or vary) the terms of a Succession Plan (or equivalent if using a Council 
standard contract);

5 The Lead Commissioner shall advise the other Party of any matter which has 
been referred for dispute and agree what (if any) matters will require the prior 
approval of one or more of the other Parties as part of that process.

6 The Lead Commissioner shall notify the other Party of the outcome of any 
Dispute that is agreed or determined by Dispute Resolution

7 The Lead Commissioner shell share copies of any reports submitted by the 
Service Provider to the Lead Commissioner pursuant to the Service Contract 
(including audit reports)

OBLIGATIONS OF THE OTHER PARTNER

Terminology used in this Schedule shell have the meaning attributed to it in the NHS 
Standard Form Contact save where this Agreement or the context requires otherwise.

8 Each Party shall (at its own cost) provide such cooperation, assistance and 
support to the Lead Commissioner (including the provision of data and other 
information) as is reasonably necessary to enable the Lead Commissioner to:

8.1 resolve disputes pursuant to a Service Contract;

8.2 comply with its obligations pursuant to a Service Contract and this Agreement;

8.3 ensure continuity and a smooth transfer of any Services that have been 
suspended, expired or terminated pursuant to the terms of the relevant Service 
Contract;

9 No Party shall unreasonably withhold or delay consent requested by the Lead 
Commissioner.

10 Each Party (other than the Lead Commissioner) shall:

Document Pack Page 82



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 44 of 98

10.1 comply with the requirements imposed on the Lead Commissioner pursuant to 
the relevant Service Contract in relation to any information disclosed to the other 
Party;  

10.2 notify the Lead Commissioner of any matters that might prevent the Lead 
Commissioner from giving any of the warranties set out in a Services Contract or 
which might cause the Lead Commissioner to be in breach of warranty.

Document Pack Page 83



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 45 of 98

SCHEDULE 5 - PERFORMANCE ARRANGEMENTS

INTEGRATED PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK FOR 
COMMISSIONING

1. INTRODUCTION

This Agreement between the Council and the CCG establishes a framework for joining 
together the commissioning, provision, finances, performance management, and 
governance for the services covered by the Agreement.  This schedule outlines the 
arrangements for the performance management framework for the Agreement.

2. PURPOSE

This schedule aims to ensure that Parties adopt an Integrated performance 
management framework to ensure they plan, deliver, review and act on relevant 
information to commission improved outcomes for the people of Bury. This approach 
will ensure that the actions and Investment of Parties will lead towards the achievement 
of national, regional and local performance targets as well as Improving outcomes for 
the people of Bury.

3. DEFINITION

Performance management Is the overall process that integrates planning, action, 
monitoring and review.  Performance management means knowing:
 What you are aiming for (e.g. purpose, mission, corporate aims, strategic goals etc).
 What you have to do to meet these alms (e.g. business plan, project plan, etc).  
 What the priorities are and ensuing that there are sufficient resources (inputs).
 What the current performance Is through monitoring and reporting.
 How to review progress, detect problems and act in a timely manner to ensure the 

outcome/target is achieved.

4. BENEFITS

Effective performance management enables relevant staff throughout the Partnership 
to:
 Be clear whet the strategic objectives are for commissioning.
 Be clear what outcomes are to be delivered in any one Financial Year.

thereby ensuring better quality Services are delivered to local people.

5. OUTLINE FRAMEWORK

Essentially the performance management framework consists of three processes in 
relation to Joint commissioning.

5.1 BUSINESS PLANNING PROCESS

a) Integrated Commissioning Plans; that state the strategic objectives and key 
performance measures for a period of three to five Financial Years, and 
commissioning intentions for those objectives with timescales for achievement.

Document Pack Page 84



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 46 of 98

b) Contracts that state how performance will be monitored, reported, reviewed and 
necessary action taken, Including performance Indicators.

5.2 REPORTING AND REVIEW PROCESS

a) Overall against delivery of the outcomes in the Integrated Commissioning Plans.

b) Overall progress against delivery on the contracts and identification of reasons for 
under performance.

5.3 PERFORMANCE IMPROVEMENT PROCESS

a) Ensuring action is taken where the continuation of current performance would 
lead to an outcome/target not being met.

b) Application of a range of tools and techniques to improve overall performance.

6  FRAMEWORK DETAIL

6.1 BUSINESS PLANNING PROCESS

6.1.1  It is the responsibility of the relevant Host Partner to develop, and annually 
review a Commissioning Plan on a rolling three Financial Year basis for the 
particular service to be commissioned. Each strategy will be developed by 
adherence to 'commissioning cycle' and in consultation with service users and 
carets.

6.1.2  It is the responsibility of the relevant Host Partner to develop an annual 
Commissioning Plan. This plan will state the outcomes to be achieved, by when 
and what the risks are If they are not achieved.  

6.1.3 Each outcome in the Commissioning Plan should be aligned to one of the strategic 
objectives. Any outcome that is not so aligned should be as to why it is being 
considered.

6.1.4 The Host Partner should then go through a process of developing, negotiating and 
agreeing a contract with each third-party provider regarding the outcomes they 
are to deliver. It will be clear which Services are to be discontinued e.g. in the 
advent of a budget reduction.

6.1.5 Contracts with third party providers should:

Take account of the requirements the Better Care Plan and the agreed 
commissioning strategies and annual plans of the Council and the CCG.

Include a requirement on the provider to develop a detailed service plan (e.g. 
stating what, by when, by who and the risk associated with not achieving the 
outcome) as to how the provider intends achieving the said outcomes. It should 
also require the provider to regularly measure progress against achieving the 
outcomes, to report this to the Host Partner in a timely manner to an agreed 

Document Pack Page 85



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 47 of 98

frequency (e.g. monthly),' and to provide a Performance Improvement Plan or 
Recovery Plan where financial under performance is significantly under par.  

Include a process whereby outcomes may be added I removed as a result of 
changing needs.

6.2 REPORTING AND REVIEW PROCESS

6.2.1 Regular meetings should be held between the Host Partner and the provider to 
review performance.

6.2.2 The Host Partner will monitor services, as part of a basket of measures that 
contribute to the delivery of key outcome, having regard to national, regional and 
local key performance indicators such as:

- Best Value Performative indicators
- Performance Assessment Framework indicators
- National Performance Indicators
- Public Service Agreement target (LPSA)
- Audit and Inspection recommendations
- Self-Assessment Statement actions
- Relevant Operational Plan indicators
- NHS Operating Framework targets
- Vital Signs indicators.

6.2.3 These key indicators form part of a basket of performance measures. Activity and 
Financial Indicators will be another part of the complete basket.

6.2.4 The basket of performance Indicators will be monitored and reported to the 
Strategic Commissioning Board using, wherever possible, existing performance 
reports generated within either the Council or the CCC and making it clear where 
the areas of good performance and those of concern are, i.e. using a simple 
traffic light scheme with exception reporting on the key issues.

6.3 PERFORMANCE IMPROVEMENT PROCES

6.3.1 Where necessary the Host Partner should seek the provider to undertake specific 
performance improvement initiatives where performance Is significantly under 
par.

Document Pack Page 86



                                                                                                                            

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 48 of 98

SCHEDULE 6 – CORPORATE POLICIES

CCG Corporate Policies 

- including Information Governance, Conflicts of Interest and Standards of Business 
Conduct

https://www.buryccg.nhs.uk/your-local-nhs/plans-policies-and-reports/corporate-
policies/

Council Corporate Policies

To be included

Document Pack Page 87

https://www.buryccg.nhs.uk/your-local-nhs/plans-policies-and-reports/corporate-policies/
https://www.buryccg.nhs.uk/your-local-nhs/plans-policies-and-reports/corporate-policies/


/

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 49 of 98

APPENDIX 7: Financial Framework

FINANCIAL FRAMEWORK

Between

NHS Bury Clinical Commissioning Group and

Bury Metropolitan Borough Council

Document Pack Page 88



/

Date:  17 February 2020 Bury ICF Page 50 of 98

This is the Bury Clinical Commissioning Group and Bury Metropolitan Borough Council Financial 
Framework signed on 11 March by:

………………………………………………………..

Authorised Signatory on behalf of NHS Bury Clinical Commissioning Group

………………………………………………………..

Authorised Signatory on behalf of Bury Metropolitan Borough Council

Document Pack Page 89



/

51

Table of Contents
Contents

TABLE OF CONTENTS ...............................................................................4

DEFINED TERMS ......................................................................................6

TERMS OF THE FINANCIAL FRAMEWORK – BURY ECONOMY ....................8

1. CONSULTATION AND APPROVAL ...............................................8

2. FREQUENCY OF REVIEW AND RENEWAL ....................................8

3. SCOPE OF THIS FINANCIAL FRAMEWORK..................................8

4. OBJECTIVES OF THE PARTNERS AND OF THE STRATEGIC 
COMMISSIONING BOARD ..........................................................9

5. OBJECTIVES OF THE STRATEGIC COMMISSIONING BOARD .......9

6. OBJECTIVES AND TARGETS OF INTEGRATED COMMISSIONING10

7. PARTNER RESPONSIBILITIES..................................................10

8. RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE PARTNER ORGANISATIONS’ 
LEADERSHIP ...........................................................................11

9. RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE PARTNER ORGANISATIONS’ 
ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER .......11

10. RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE HOST PARTNER ............................12

11. RESPONSIBILITIES AND ROLE OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
AS THE DESIGNATED POOLED FUND MANAGER .......................12

12. DISSOLUTION OF THE SECTION 75 AGREEMENT......................13

13. CESSATION OF THE POOLED FUND ..........................................14

14. SCOPE OF INTEGRATED COMMISSIONING...............................14

15. BETTER CARE FUNDS ...............................................................15

16. VALUE OF THE INTEGRATED COMMISSIONING FUND ..............15

17. RANGE OF THE POOLED FUND (CROSS BOUNDARY FLOWS AND 
ISSUES) ..................................................................................16

18. ANNUAL FINANCIAL ACCOUNTS ..............................................16

19. ARRANGEMENTS FOR AUDIT AND COUNTER FRAUD ................17

20. ANTI-FRAUD............................................................................17

21. BUDGET SETTING GROUND RULES...........................................18

22. BUDGET SETTING METHODOLOGY ...........................................19

23. ACCURACY OF ACTIVITY PROJECTIONS, TRENDS AND 
INTERVENTIONS .....................................................................19

24. ACCURACY OF COST PROJECTIONS..........................................19

25. ADDRESSING CONFLICTS IN BUDGET SETTING PRIORITIES ...19

26. USE OF INTEGRATED COMMISSIONING FUNDS .......................20

27. FUTURE BUDGET SETTLEMENTS ...............................................20

28. BOUNDARIES TO THE FUND.....................................................20

29. FINALISING THE PRIOR YEAR POSITION ................................20

Document Pack Page 90



/

52

30. TREATMENT OF HISTORICAL OVERSPENDS .............................20

31. PRIOR YEAR AND IN-YEAR OVERSPENDS ................................20

32. TREATMENT OF UNDERLYING AND EMERGING DEFICIT:..........21

33. SETTING SUBSEQUENT YEARS’ BUDGETS.................................21

34. SCENARIOS OF OPERATIONAL PRESSURES AND RISKS IN BUDGET 
SETTING..................................................................................22

35. PRESSURES ON PARTNERS’ BUDGETS......................................22

36. SAVINGS TARGETS, RESERVES AND CONTINGENCIES .............22

37. GOVERNANCE AND DELIVERY OF OUTCOMES...........................24

38. CURTAILING SERVICES ...........................................................25

39. VALUE OF FINANCIAL RISK FROM THE OTHER PARTNER .........25

40. TRANSACTIONS WITHIN THE POOLED FUND ...........................25

41. BUDGET MANAGEMENT GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS..................26

42. IN-YEAR FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE .......................................28

43. RESPONDING TO OVERSPEND TRENDS....................................28

44 RESPONDING TO ANNUAL OVERSPENDS..................................30

45 RESPONDING TO ANNUAL UNDERSPENDS ...............................30

46 DESIGN OF THE FINANCIAL LEDGER........................................30

47 FINANCIAL REPORTING RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE HOST PARTNER 
AND THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER ......................................30

48 MANAGING THE CASH POSITION.............................................30

49 PAYMENT MECHANISMS ..........................................................31

50 DIRECT PAYMENTS ..................................................................31

51 INCOME OPPORTUNITIES ........................................................31

52 INSURANCE AND VAT ..............................................................32

53 CAPITAL INVESTMENT.............................................................32
Appendix 1       ……………………………………………..……………………………...35
 

 

Document Pack Page 91



/

53

                 Defined Terms

Save for the following, defined terms in this Financial Framework shall have the same 
meaning as those in the s75 Agreement.

Aligned Fund means budgets for commissioning prescribed services that the 
statutory organisations or Regulations specify shall not be pooled, but which will 
be managed alongside the Pooled Fund and decisions taken by the appropriate 
statutory organisation.

CCG – Bury Clinical Commissioning Group, one of two partners to the Integrated 
Commissioning Fund and the s75 agreement.  The CCG provides health services to 
the GP registered population of Bury

DHSC – Department of Health and Social Care.

Financial Framework – (this document) describes the ground rules under which the 
financial decisions relating to the Integrated Commissioning Fund will be made.

In View Fund means budgets for commissioning prescribed services are not directly 
controlled by the statutory organisations including the delegated primary care co-
commissioning budgets from NHS England.

Integrated Commissioning Fund means the total of the Pooled Fund, Aligned Fund 
and In-View Fund.  

Partners – the CCG and BMBC are partners to the section 75 agreement and the 
Integrated Commissioning Fund.

Pooled Fund means any pooled fund established and maintained by the Parties as a 
pooled fund in accordance with section 75 of the NHS Act 2006. 

Pooled Fund Host means the Partner that will host and provide the financial 
administrative systems for the Pooled Fund and undertake to perform the duties for 
which they will be responsible, as set out in paragraph 7(4) and 7n(5) of the 
Regulations

Pooled Fund Manager means the Chief Financial Officer of the Strategic 
Commissioning Board

Section 75 agreement (s75) – section 75 of the NHS Act 2006: the legislation that 
allows the establishment of pooled funds between NHS bodies and local authorities at 
a local level.  Decisions will be taken by the Strategic Commissioning Board.

Strategic Commissioning Board – A Board where each statutory organisation 
makes joint decisions which are binding on each other. It will act under the delegated 
authority on behalf of the statutory organisations.

SoDA – Schedule of delegated authorities, or equivalent, of the CCG, BMBC and the 
Integrated Commissioning team.

Bury Health and Wellbeing Board – established as a BMBC committee under s194 
of the Health and Social Care Act 2012, the purpose of which is to promote more 
joined up delivery of services and involves oversight of achievement of the objectives 
of the integrated commissioning function; and oversight of proper governance of the 
integrated commissioning function

The Accountable Officer – this is the Chief Executive of BMBC and the Accountable 
Officer of NHS Bury Clinical Commissioning Group. 

The Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership - is the body made 
up of the 35 NHS organisations and local authorities in the city region, which is 
overseeing devolution and taking charge of the £6bn health and social care budget.

Document Pack Page 92



/

54

BMBC – Bury Metropolitan Borough Council, one of two partners to the Integrated 
Commissioning Fund and the s75 agreement

Document Pack Page 93



/

55

Terms of the Financial Framework – Bury Economy

1. Consultation and approval

1.1. The process for consulting on management and oversight of the Integrated 
Commissioning Fund and the Section 75 agreement (s75) agreement will 
include, as a minimum:

 Approval of the CCG Governing Body
 Approval of the BMBC Executive Cabinet
 Strategic Commissioning Board

1.2. This Financial Framework is to be referred to, in the s75, as an adopted 
document, by both the CCG and BMBC, but will not necessarily be appended to 
the s75.  This approach allows for regular update of the Financial Framework, as 
required, under agreed delegated arrangements.

1.3. The process of consultation for the Financial Framework will be aligned with the 
development of the s75 agreement and the arrangements for the development 
of the Integrated Commissioning Fund.  It will be considered by both Partners, 
as part of the document pack supporting the s75 agreement

2. Frequency of review and renewal

2.1. This Financial Framework will be reviewed and revised, as necessary on an 
annual basis.  This review will involve the designated financial leads and 
governance leads of both Partners.  The Strategic Commissioning Board will 
recommend approval of the reviewed Financial Framework to the:

 The CCG Governing Body
 The BMBC Executive Cabinet

2.2. The Partners may, at some point in the future, agree to extend the period 
between formal review and adoption of the Financial Framework and s75 
Agreement.  Any changes will be subject to approval as above.

2.3. Detailed guidance about specific aspects of this Financial Framework may be 
issued from time to time.  This guidance will be approved by the Strategic 
Commissioning Board, or by specific groups or individuals as delegated.

2.4. Amendments to the framework will require approval of each constituent 
organisation.

3. Scope of this Financial Framework

3.1. This Financial Framework lays out the general rules and sets the scope for the 
management and expenditure of public sector funds originating from NHS and 
Local Government sources.

3.2. It supports the relationship between the Partners via the s75 Agreement and the 
use of Aligned Funds.  It:

 Provides detail of the framework of the formal relationship with regard to 
the management of the Integrated Commissioning Fund;

Document Pack Page 94



/

56

 Sets the expectation that the Partners will continue to work closely 
together; and with Providers, to ensure that the best quality care is 
provided and best value is achieved in the use of resources;

 Recognises the statute and regulations under which the Pooled Fund is 
established i.e. section 75 of the National Health Services Act 2006 and NHS 
Bodies and Local Authorities Partnership Arrangements Regulations 2000.

3.3. This Financial Framework sets out the requirements and makes provision for 
governance and accountability of:

 The Integrated Commissioning Fund;
 Authorities and responsibilities delegated from the Partners
 Financial planning and management responsibilities;
 Budgeting and budgetary control, including forecasting.

3.4. This Financial Framework identifies the responsibilities of each Partner to:

 Support and facilitate the achievement of the objectives of the Integrated 
Commissioning Fund;

 Ensure that the objectives and functions of the Partners and of the 
Integrated Commissioning Fund are complementary and mutually 
supportive;

 Ensure due diligence and appropriate oversight of financial decisions;
 Ensure the achievement of the Partners’ objectives.

4. Objectives of the Partners

4.1. The Single Outcomes Framework has been developed as the shared outcome 
based approach for Bury. Within this five level outcomes have been identified, 
that all partners have signed up to. 

 All people of Bury live healthier, resilient lives and have ownership of their 
wellbeing.

 Bury people live in a clean and sustainable environment.
 People of Bury at all ages have high level and appropriate skills.
 All Bury people achieve a decent standard of living (and are provided with 

opportunities through growth.
 Bury is a safe place to live with all people protected (and feel protected from 

harm).

5. Objectives of the Strategic Commissioning Board

5.1. Section 24 of the National Health Services Act 2006 sets out the requirement of 
the CCG to prepare a plan to improve:

 The health of people for whom it is responsible;
 The provision of health-care to those people,

5.2. The s75 Agreement states that:

The aims and benefits of the Parties in entering in to this Agreement are to:

(A) improve the quality and efficiency of the Services;

(B) improve the outcomes for Service Users

(C) meet the National Conditions and Local Objectives; [and] 

Document Pack Page 95



/

57

(D) make more effective use of resources through the establishment and 
maintenance of a pooled fund for revenue expenditure on the Services. 

5.3. The key objectives of the arrangements are to deliver Integrated Commissioning 
that will focus on developing joined up, population based, public health, and 
preventative and early intervention strategies and adopt an asset based 
approach to providing a single system of health and wellbeing, focusing on 
increasing the capacity and assets of people and place.

5.4. To support the delivery of the Bury Locality Plan  

5.5. The overall project is linked to and delivering the objectives of the Bury Better 
Care Funds but also addresses a significantly larger remit of Integrated 
Commissioning and the wider single commissioning of health and social care 
services.

5.6. These objectives are reflected in the terms of reference of the Strategic 
Commissioning Board.

6. Objectives and targets of Integrated Commissioning

6.1. Both Partners shall recognise the Integrated Commissioning objectives, targets 
and decisions that are shared

6.2. The mandated objectives include:

 NHS Constitution requirements (statute);
 Targets and performance measures identified by NHS England (regulation) / 

GM H&SCP;
 Standards set by external agencies, e.g. CQC, Ofsted and NICE (regulation).
 Adherence to the associated terms of the GM Health & Social Care 

Partnership Investment Agreement

6.3. Advised objectives include:

 Best practice identified by external agencies, e.g. NICE and GM Medicines 
Management Group

6.4. Locally defined objectives include:

 To achieve financial sustainability for the Bury health and social care 
economy.

 Adherence to the Mental Health Investment Target
 Outcomes based Commissioning
 Delivery of efficiencies to address the Bury Locality Plan. 

6.5. The CCG and BMBC have agreed that there will be no change to the executive 
powers of the CCG Governing Body, or the BMBC Executive Cabinet.

Responsibilities

7. Partner responsibilities

7.1. The Partners have stated their commitment to developing Integrated 
Commissioning whilst ensuring the financial health of both Partners; and of other 
organisations in the local health and wellbeing economy.

Document Pack Page 96



/

58

7.2. The Partners recognise their obligation to comply with statute and regulations.

7.3. The Partners recognise that each Partner’s ultimate responsibility for service 
provision and delivery is not changed.  However, they will delegate decision 
making and administration, where this improves the way that services are 
commissioned and where it is feasible.  The Partners will identify limitations and 
restrictions clearly.

7.4. The Partners recognise specific responsibilities regarding services included within 
Integrated Commissioning:

 Obligations and commitments to the residents of; and patients registered 
within Bury;

 Obligations and commitments to the wider population of patients within 
Bury, who are aligned to the Bury care economy;

 Obligations to the Provider community; delivering pace of change whilst 
creating a sustainable provider market.

8. Responsibilities of the Partner organisations’ leadership

8.1. The Partners will agree and approve the strategic objectives for Integrated 
Commissioning.  They will:

 Seek assurance that these are incorporated within the strategic priorities for 
Integrated Commissioning.

8.2. The Partners will approve the policy and performance framework (business plan) 
for Integrated Commissioning and will:

 Ensure the adequacy of the Integrated Commissioning function’s business 
plan and alignment with the partners’ plans

 Approve the adequacy of organisation, staffing and management of 
Integrated Commissioning

9. Responsibilities of the Partner organisations’ Accountable Officer and 
Chief Financial Officer

9.1 The Accountable Officer

 The Chief Executive and Accountable Officer is responsible for: 

o Signing approval of changes to the s75 Agreement;
o Ensuring the record of minutes of meeting of the Strategic 

Commissioning Board is maintained.

 The scope of this role will be subject to approval of each constituent 
organisation.

 The Accountable Officer is a member of the Strategic Commissioning Board.

9.2 Chief Financial Officer

Document Pack Page 97



/

59

9.2.1 The overriding responsibility of the Chief Financial Officer is to gain 
assurance as to the satisfactory standard of financial management, 
accounting and reporting of the Integrated Commissioning Fund.  The 
Chief Financial Officer will:

 Ensure that the Integrated Commissioning arrangements are 
appropriate and sufficiently secure to safeguard public funds;

 Ensure that financial governance and internal controls conform to 
the requirements of regularity, propriety and good financial 
management; sufficient to deliver successful operations;

 Ensure that reporting of Integrated Commissioning on strategic, 
operational and financial performance, budgetary control and risk 
management is adequate and reliable.

9.2.2 The Chief Financial Officer will ensure that the specific obligations of the 
s151 officers are delivered in respect of transactions involving the funds 
of the Council.

9.2.3 The Chief Financial Officer will ensure the adequacy of arrangements to 
deliver new services, programmes and projects.

9.2.4 The Chief Financial Officer will report assurance to respective Audit 
Committees.

9.2.5 The Chief Financial Officer is a member of the Strategic Commissioning 
Board.

10. Responsibilities of the Host Partner

10.1 For the Pooled Fund Bury Metropolitan Council has been appointed as the Host 
Partner.  

10.2 The scope of role of the Host Partner is determined, in the first instance, by the 
decision to seek to minimise organisational change resulting from the 
development of the Integrated Commissioning arrangement.  As a minimum, the 
Host Partner will deliver the regulatory requirements:

 Appoint the Chief Financial Officer as Pooled Fund Manager;
 Deliver the NHS Bodies and Local Authorities Partnership Arrangements 

Regulations 2000 7(4) and 7(5) requirements:
o Accounts and audit
o Managing the fund
o Reporting to the partners and reporting frequency
o Exercise NHS and health-related functions

11. Responsibilities and role of the Chief Financial Officer as the designated 
Pooled Fund Manager

11.1 The Chief Financial Officer designated as the Pooled Fund Manager by the Host 
Partner in accordance with requirements of the Section 75 Agreement and 
associated regulations.  The appointee attends the Strategic Commissioning 
Board and reports to the Accountable Officer.  The responsibilities of the Pooled 
Fund Manager as set out in the legislation and Regulations (7(4)) are limited and 
specific: - 

 Managing the Pooled Fund 

Document Pack Page 98



/

60

 Submitting monthly reports, and an annual return, about the income of, and 
expenditure from, the Pooled Fund and other information by which the 
Partners can monitor the effectiveness of the Pooled Fund.

11.2 The Chief Financial Officer alongside other Executive Directors will report to the 
Strategic Commissioning Board and will be responsible for the implementation of 
the Integrated Commissioning Strategy; direct procurement of services; and 
managing contract performance.

11.3 Other responsibilities, which will be delegated as necessary and as agreed by the 
Strategic Commissioning Board, will include:

 Compiling the annual Integrated Commissioning Strategy;
 Reporting monthly finance and activity performance to the Joint Executive 

Team;
 Manage delivery of contracts, including outcomes and quality standards 

checks;
 Delivering value for money and effective performance of the Integrated 

Commissioning Fund.

11.4 The Chief Financial Officer will oversee the day to day operation and 
management of the Pooled Fund and will oversee the day to day operation and 
management of the Aligned Fund.

11.5 Financial governance arrangements will ensure expenditure complies with the 
contractual specifications.  Specific responsibilities include to be assured of the 
arrangements for:

 VAT;
 accounts timetable;
 charging arrangements;
 ledger arrangements.

11.6 The Chief Financial Officer will be responsible for maintaining the joint financial 
position of the Pooled Fund:

 Ensuring the adequacy and completeness of financial records;
 Ensuring action is taken over projected over and underspends;
 Reporting performance to the Partners and the Strategic Commissioning 

Board.

12. Dissolution of the Section 75 Agreement

12.1 The legal position is set out within the s75 Agreement, as are the mechanisms 
for dissolution of the s75 Agreement.  This Financial Framework identifies the 
scale of risks that both Partners will accept, before considering the need to 
reduce the scale of the Integrated Commissioning Fund, dissolve the s75 
Agreement and/or this Financial Framework.

12.2 The s75 Agreement identifies a period of notice of three months, subject to the 
Partners’ ability to implement secure alternative arrangements for 
commissioning of each of the Services included within the Integrated 
Commissioning Fund.

 

Document Pack Page 99



/

61

12.3 The Partners will agree the scale of financial pressures that either Partner will be 
willing to accept, before considering the need to dissolve the s75 Agreement or 
this Financial Framework.

12.4 The Partners will agree mechanisms for entering emergency arrangements to 
reverse adverse trends, including:

 protocol for suspending the Host Partner’s management arrangements for 
the Pooled Fund;

 structure of governance and management of the s75 Agreement or this 
Financial Framework in emergency measures.

13. Cessation of the Pooled Fund

13.1 Where the Pooled Fund is to be ceased, due to the dissolution of the s75 
Agreement from the Partner(s) decision to end the arrangement, the ownership 
of assets, liabilities and commitments will revert to the relevant Partner.  If the 
relevant Partner is not clearly identified, ownership will fall to the Partner acting 
as the Lead Commissioner.  This applies to:

 Ownership of invested assets;
 Ownership of consequential service obligations.

13.2 Where the s75 Agreement is to be dissolved due to financial insolvency, the 
Partners will agree the stages for realising the losses accumulated by the Pooled 
Fund.  The stages are:

 apportionment of financial risk;
 allocation and apportionment of financial risk as agreed between Partners;
 agreement of continuation of Services to Service Users.

Scope and description of the Fund

14. Scope of Integrated Commissioning

14.1 The Partners have agreed that the scope of the Integrated Commissioning Fund 
shall be the maximum commissioning resource that it makes sense to pool, or 
align to deliver joined-up commissioning:

 a formal Pooled Fund has been established where possible;
 Aligned Funds will be used where there are specific barriers to pooling 

(including legislative and regulatory barriers).

14.2 Commissioning funding will be pooled or aligned, at service and/or contract 
level.  In the first instance, the service area, or contracts will be mapped entirely 
to either the Pooled Fund or the Aligned Fund.  Contracts will only be split where 
there is value in disaggregating the commissioning arrangement and where this 
can be managed effectively.  The Partners’ financial ledger record will be 
designed to allow for the pooled, aligned and in view elements of the fund to be 
identified and disaggregated clearly.

14.3 Either Partner will be allocated the Lead Commissioner role for each service area, 
or contract, based on the most logical and effective design for the commissioning 
function.

Document Pack Page 100



/

62

14.4 The Partners agree in principle that further Services may be added to the 
Integrated Commissioning Fund; or specific Services may be removed from the 
Integrated Commissioning arrangements, in future.  The decision and approval 
approach to this process will follow best practice in business case development, 
analysis and challenge.

 
15. Better Care Fund

15.1 The Better Care Fund (BCF) is mandated by government.  It was launched 
through the Spending Round in June 2013, with the objective to deliver 
integration of services and improve outcomes for patients and service users and 
carers.  The BCF is set up as a Pooled Fund, with the NHS commissioner and the 
local authorities contributing an agreed level of resource into a single pool that is 
then used to commission or deliver joined up health and social care services.

15.2 The BCF (and improved Better Care Fund) is an element of the wider Pooled 
Fund for Bury. The Pooled Fund, in turn, is combined with the Aligned Funds and 
In View Funds to make up the total value of the Integrated Commissioning Fund.  

16. Value of the Integrated Commissioning Fund

16.1 The Integrated Commissioning Fund (ICF) comprises the Pooled Fund and 
Aligned Fund which it makes sense to plan and manage in a coordinated way 
where legislation allows.  In view funds are also included.

16.2 The establishment of an ICF and pooled funds was formally approved at the 
Council Cabinet meeting of 4 September 2019 and at the CCG Governing Body 
Meeting of 24th September 2019. 

16.3 The stated intention is to maximise the resources and the scale of 
commissioning to be included in the Integrated Commissioning Fund, as either a 
Pooled Fund or Aligned Fund.  The prescribed services that cannot be pooled, as 
summarised in SI(2000)617: NHS Bodies and Local Authorities Partnership 
Arrangements Regulations includes:

NHS

 Acute surgical;
 Emergency ambulance;
 Radiotherapy;
 Termination of pregnancies;
 Endoscopy;
 Laser treatments (class 4);
 Other invasive treatments.

Local Government

 Adoption services (Adoption & Childcare Act, 2003);
 Appointment of mental health professional (MHA, 1983);
 MHP powers of entry (MHA, 1983);
 Safeguarding children in care homes (Children Act, 1989);
 Appointment of director of social services (LASSA, 1970).

Document Pack Page 101



/

63

16.4 Where possible, these services will be included in the Integrated Commissioning 
Fund as an Aligned Fund.

17. Range of the Pooled Fund (cross boundary flows and issues)

17.1 The populations served by the Pooled Fund are not consistent between the 
Partners; and essential Integrated Commissioning extends beyond the 
boundaries of the Pooled Fund.  The Partners agree to seek to avoid creating 
unnecessary barriers or inequalities of access for Service Users.  They agree to 
seek to avoid creating perverse incentives in the design of commissioned and 
provided services.

17.2 Funding inconsistencies are created by:

 BMBC residents registered with GPs outside of the Bury area;
 Non-BMBC residents registered with GPs within the Bury borough;
 Individuals not resident; and not registered with GPs in the area requiring 

services within the scope of the Integrated Commissioning arrangement;
 Service Users who receive Services who are not physically present in the 

borough.

17.3 Unwanted barriers and incentives to commissioning are created by:

 The ‘footprint’ of the main providers of NHS services extending into 
neighbouring areas, 

17.4 Potential service level boundaries and inconsistencies may also occur as a result 
of the range of local government commissioned services that remain with BMBC.

Statutory reporting requirements

18. Annual financial accounts

18.1 The value of the budget for the Pooled Fund, as described in the s75 Agreement, 
will be material to both Partners; and as such will be subject to appropriate 
levels of external and internal audit scrutiny.

18.2 The annual financial accounts of both Partners will be required to include 
sufficiently detailed notes of the financial performance and records of the 
Integrated Commissioning arrangement:

 The structure of reporting to be followed for a “Joint Operation”, such as this 
Integrated Commissioning arrangement, is prescribed by the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) in IFRS11(Joint arrangements) and 
IFRS 12 (Disclosure of interests in other entities);

 The Statement of Financial Performance of the formal Pooled Fund is to be 
reported in the Host Partner’s accounts and reflected in the other Partner’s 
accounts;

 The financial performance of the Aligned and In Collaboration Funds  are to 
be reported within the body of the relevant Partner’s accounts;

 The financial performance of the entirety of the Integrated Commissioning 
Fund; and the associated risk share arrangement, is to be reported as an 
explanatory note in both Partners’ accounts.

18.3 Due to the annual accounts reporting timetables of both Partners, the risk share 
will be calculated on the basis of the month 11 forecast position for month 12.  

Document Pack Page 102



/

64

Any correction to the value of the risk share will be recognised at the start of the 
next financial year.

18.4 Planning for accounts preparation and required audit arrangements will take 
account of:

 Timetables for producing the annual accounts, their audit and reporting 
requirements; recognising the earlier reporting deadlines for NHS accounts.  
It is acknowledged that BMBC reporting deadlines are susceptible to 
change;

 The scope of required reporting, including the contribution to the CCG 
Quality Account; and to BMBC’s Annual Report;

 The evidence required to support the annual statement on governance; and 
for reporting any financial concerns with the Integrated Commissioning 
Fund;

 The evidence required to support the Head of Internal Audit Opinion and the 
external audit Regularity Opinion.

18.5 The annual financial accounts will be delivered within the requirements of the 
financial regimes and rules of each Partner, specific to over and underspending:

 CCG – must operate within a Resource Allocation Budgeting control total 
determined by NHS England.

  BMBC – not allowed to carry forward overspend for the year.  Overspending 
to be met from reserves. 

19. Arrangements for audit and counter fraud

19.1 The Partners agree that they will seek a joint approach and joined up 
arrangements for the internal audit of the Integrated Commissioning function 
and associated budget resources:

 Access arrangements for internal auditors will be agreed as part of the 
annual audit planning and scoping exercise;

 Deliver combined assurance to the CCG and BMBC where possible;
 Deliver each Head of Internal Audit (HoIA) opinion and shared assurance for 

both Partner organisations.

19.2 In terms of the external audit legal and regulatory requirement:

 The Integrated Commissioning arrangements will represent a material and 
significant element of each Partner organisation’s audit;

 The audit will account for the Pooled Fund fully within the Host Partner’s 
accounts, with the required narrative note in the accounts of other Partner;

 The audit will address the aligned and in collaboration elements of the fund 
within the accounts of the Partner with the originating budget, or the 
Partner to which the funds were transferred through s76 or s256 of the 
National Health Services Act 2006, if such transfers occur;

 A note will be included in the accounts of both Partners setting out the 
results; and the risk share impacts, for the entirety of the Integrated 
Commissioning Fund.

19.3 The assurances required for the sign off of the audit of both sets of financial 
accounts will be agreed by the external auditors.

20. Anti-Fraud

Document Pack Page 103



/

65

20.1 The NHS Counter Fraud Authority is the national body tasked to lead the fight 
against fraud, bribery and corruption in the NHS.  The Partners agree that 
coverage of counter fraud culture and issues within the Integrated 
Commissioning arrangement will be joined up, as far as is practicable:

 The CCG and BMBC will agree arrangements for sharing the approach to 
promoting the counter fraud culture; and for investigating and addressing 
instances of suspicion of illegal activity;

 BMBC counter fraud functions will continue to be delivered by its internal 
audit provider and specific fraud team. NHS anti-fraud will continue to be 
provided by its local counter fraud provider, Mersey Internal Audit Agency 
(MIAA) under NHS  Counter Fraud Authority regulations.

Budget Setting

21. Budget setting ground rules

21.1 The Policy for commissioning through the Integrated Commissioning Fund is 
compatible with and delivers effectively the strategic priorities of both Partners.

21.2 Funds can only be used to commission prescribed services (as described in 
various legislation); and services that the Partners agree will contribute to the 
effective delivery of the commissioning priorities.

21.3 Delivery of a balanced outturn is a pre-requisite of commissioning decisions.

21.4 Budgets will be subject to specified limitations; and budget resource will be 
transferrable between the Partners, to enable optimum delivery of commissioned 
services and ensure best value in the use of resources.  This will be recognised 
within each Partner’s medium term financial strategy.

21.5 The Partners agree that the Integrated Commissioning Fund will be reviewed 
annually and updated accordingly in recognition of national funding decisions of 
the Government and associated agencies together with funding decisions taken 
by BMBC and the CCG.

21.6 Commissioning decisions take account of the potential impact on services 
retained by the Partners.

21.7 Commissioning decisions are sensitive to the potential impact on the wider 
community of Providers.

22. Budget setting methodology

22.1 Both Partners need to be satisfied that the other Partner’s methodology for 
setting the annual budget is robust and reliable.  If they are not, the issue shall 
be escalated through the appropriate governance arrangements.  The factors 
that will be considered include:

 Clarity of the Services to be included in the Integrated Commissioning 
arrangement and risk share (Pooled Fund and Aligned Fund);

 Verification of budget determined for each Service;
 Assumed and modelled trends in demand;
 Deliverability of the savings targets applied;

Document Pack Page 104



/

66

 Sufficiency of the budget applied (e.g. compared with previous year 
outturn).

22.2 The Partners will agree:

 A transparent approach to setting budgets shared between the Partners;
 Validation of the key assumptions and approaches used by each Partner to 

determine the budget;
 Plans for migration to a more consistent approach to budget setting and 

demand forecasting that recognises the modelling challenges specific to 
each organisation.

22.3 Both Partners recognise the risk to resources from unmet need and rationed 
Services from previous years.

23. Accuracy of activity projections, trends and interventions

23.1 The CCG approach is based on totals agreed in contract negotiations with 
Providers.

23.2 The BMBC approach is based on cost and volume analysis of likely trends in 
demand for Services.  As part of this, BMBC will:

 Determine the access eligibility thresholds for health related services, as 
defined by the Care Act 2014 and any flexibilities allowed;

 Determine the charges to be levied against Service Users, where this is an 
option.

24. Accuracy of cost projections

24.1 BMBC commissioning budgets will be recognised in gross value, as well as in net 
value:

 Other budgets, where costs are partially offset by income from fees and 
charges and grants, will be included at their net value in the risk share 
calculations.

24.2 BMBC’s scope to assess the eligibility thresholds for access to services; and to 
set fees for services, will be taken into account when negotiating relevant 
contracts.

25. Addressing conflicts in budget setting priorities

25.1 It is expected that the Integrated Commissioning budget planning process will 
not adversely impact on the other commissioning obligations of the Partner:

 The Partners’ oversight and scrutiny functions (CCG Governing Body, 
Executive Cabinet) will have the opportunity to challenge any changes 
proposed;

 The scheme of delegations will provide a level of control over the approval 
of changes;

 Arrangements will be adopted for administering proposals for significant re-
engineering; and compliance with business planning and investment 
proposal discipline, including comprehensive consultation.

Document Pack Page 105



/

67

25.2It is expected that changes in the strategic direction of the Partners will not 
impact adversely on each other.

26. Use of Integrated Commissioning Funds

 Integrated Commissioning Funds shall only be used for Permitted 
Expenditure.

27. Future budget settlements
 

27.1 In the event that financial settlements and budget uplifts for future years are 
insufficient to meet rising demands and rising costs. Possible scenarios for which 
include but are not limited to: 

 Local Government grant funding from government (Revenue Support Grant) 
is projected to reduce significantly;

 NHS allocation growth is significantly less than anticipated plans;
 Both Partners may be required to produce medium term efficiency plans in 

order to receive multi-year financial settlements.
 Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership impose additional 

requirements.

27.2 Principles of response to these risks and future pressures:

 As far as is possible, the value of the single budgets will be kept at their 
equivalent current value

 Treatment of remaining resources gaps will be addressed within the single 
consolidated fund during the period to 2022/2023 with both Partners 
agreeing to vary contributions over a 4 years to mitigate variable pressures 
in health and care services. It is agreed that Bury MBC will increase the 
value of Bury MBC resources within the ICF by a maximum sum of £12.0 
million in 2019/2020 and the CCG will make a reciprocal contribution in 
2020/21 should this be necessary.

28. Boundaries to the Fund

28.1 Budget setting will take account of boundaries on a number of planes:

 Pooled Fund versus retained funds; 
 Pooled Fund versus aligned funds;
 Non-resident patients registered with GPs in Bury;
 Bury residents registered with GPs outside of Bury;
 Budgets allocated to the Bury locality on a per-capita basis.

28.2 Budget setting will also to take account of patients registered with GP Practices 
in the Greater Manchester area, whilst recognising that they are outside of the 
Integrated Commissioning Fund arrangement.

29. Finalising the prior year position

29.1 Both Partners acknowledge that the financial performance of the relevant 
budgets in the current year should be regarded as a key indicator of future 
years’ risks; and of the scale of the savings targets agreed between the 
Partners.  The following constraints will need to be accommodated:

Document Pack Page 106



/

68

 Current year out-turn position will not be known until very late in the 
process.

29.2 The value of the Integrated Commissioning Fund will be based on the budget 
allocations

 Savings targets will be identified by the Partners.

30. Treatment of historical overspends

30.1 CCG would account for prior year deficit as a negative balance on the RAB 
(Resource Account Budgeting) settlement. 

30.2 BMBC cannot record a year-end deficit; and must fund remaining overspends 
from reserves. 

31. Prior year and in-year overspends

31.1. The Partners recognise that differences in funding regimes and freedoms result 
in a different response to recorded “overspends”:

 The CCG must deliver a control total determined by NHS England.  In 
circumstances of financial distress the control total can be adjusted such 
that the CCG can set a budget that delivers a planned overspent position 
but is expected to achieve balance over a 3 to 5 year period.

 BMBC cannot record an overspend at the year-end; and has to account for 
overspent budgets through its reserves.  But the reserves are limited and 
should be replaced through budget targets set in the subsequent year.

31.2. The Partners agree, in principle, that they will use these differing “flexibilities” 
in a combined approach to maximise protection to the Integrated Commissioning 
function.

32. Treatment of underlying and emerging deficit:

32.1 Underlying and emerging deficit will include:

 Unidentified deficit:
o unmet need
o unmet demand

 Identified deficit:
o undelivered services
o service delivery backlogs
o waiting lists

32.2 The CCG and BMBC agree to work together to identify responses to the threat of 
emerging unfunded demand pressures and growth in demand.

32.3 The first point of responsibility for addressing pressures through contracts will be 
the Lead Commissioner.  A Lead Commissioner will be identified for each Service 
Contract.

32.4 Escalation arrangements will be agreed for Service Contracts and commissioning 
arrangements that appear to be overheating and indicate future losses.  These 
arrangements will be agreed by the Strategic Commissioning Board and will be 
determined by the value and percentage growth indicated.

Document Pack Page 107



/

69

33. Setting subsequent years’ budgets

33.1 The s75 Agreement specifies that the Integrated Commissioning Fund will be 
subject to annual review.  This will be alongside the medium term financial plans 
of each Partners.

33.2 The Partners agree to shared approach to:

 Identifying and agreeing future trends in demand and service design;
 Checking sufficiency of growth funding;
 Identifying and accounting for changes in cost pressures;
 Identifying and agreeing savings and efficiency approaches. Ensuring the 

robustness of planned savings programmes;
 Setting criteria for values for savings targets:

o Minimum and maximum allowed;
o Reality checked and deliverable.

33.3 The Partners agree to design a robust business case approach to service 
redesign; and to its financial impact.  This will involve:

 Robust analysis of overall savings projections;
 Robust analysis of comparative impact on Partners; and recognition of the 

need to reflect (compensate) for these impacts in future budget setting;
 Agreement on the impact on the risk share.

Risk Sharing Framework

34. Scenarios of operational pressures and risks in budget setting

34.1 The following sections set out a range of scenarios of risk:

35. Pressures on Partners’ budgets

35.1. Risk: Pressures within either Partner which results in shortfall in 
growth funding and/or increased savings targets

 Possible scenarios are:

 Shifting priorities in Council directorates and services;
 Internal pressure on overall CCG position resulting in pressure on 

budget allocation for Bury patients;
 Changes in targets set (externally) for performance in specific 

service area(s) within the Integrated Commissioning Fund.
 Increased savings targets set (externally).

 Principles of response to these risks and future pressures:

 Impacts due to shifts in internal policy and priority have to be 
discussed by both Partners
o Partners will agree to apply accumulated savings;

 Impacts due to external policy and target changes to be regarded 
as required changes; and partners to agree response

Document Pack Page 108



/

70

oAccumulated savings can be applied to offset, but need to 
recognise limited resource

35.1. Risk: Available resources and budgets do not address current demand

 Possible scenarios are:

 Growth rates in demand for services exceed available funding 
increase;

 New commissioning arrangements and single approach to 
commissioning identifies previously un-met need;

 Providers are carrying backlogs in activity that need to be delivered 
and need to be funded.

 Principles of response to these risks and future pressures:

 The Integrated Commissioning Fund must achieve a balanced 
financial out-turn;

 Providers of services will be encouraged, including through 
contracting, to manage service delivery costs within the allotted 
amount;

 Where possible, Services will be prioritised and needs assessed.  
Non-statutory services may be withdrawn, if impact is less 
significant than effect of rationing funds to areas of demand growth.  
Service rationing will not be organisation specific;

 Funds will be made available to promote more effective and 
streamlined provision of Services.

36. Savings targets, reserves and contingencies

36.1. Risk: Efficiency savings targets applied within budgets are 
undeliverable

 Possible scenarios are:

 A Partner is unable to show robust plans for achieving the savings 
expectations;

 Savings target exceeds sensible levels;
 Savings proposals would have an adverse and costly effect on other 

elements of the overall service delivery.

 Principles of response to these risks and future pressures:

 Agreed process for identifying efficiency savings targets:
o From service delivery re-design;
o From QIPP expectations;
o From benefits expected of merged commissioning;
o From share of organisation’s overall target;

 Agreed approach to identifying benefit shares with Providers.
 Agreed process for verifying likelihood of delivery of the savings 

targets:
oArrangements for assessing schemes to deliver;
oRisk assessment for schemes; and response to higher risk 

proposals.
 Agreed arrangements for sharing the risk of under-delivery of 

efficiency savings targets;

Document Pack Page 109



/

71

 Arrangements for allowing late amendments to budgets and savings 
target:
o e.g. QIPP schemes determined late.

36.2. Risk: Insufficient resources to allow for a contingency or reserve to be 
set

 Principles of response to these risks and future pressures:
 Partners will agree rules specifying whether contingency (both 

recurrent and non-recurrent) is a required element of the annual 
budget; and what this level is:
o Proportion of annual total allocation designated to contingency 

target to be agreed;
oArrangements for agreeing contingency that is lower than the 

agreed target;
 Partners agree proposed treatment of any reserves brought into the 

Integrated Commissioning Fund:
oBudgeted from savings in previous year(s);
oAgreement of priorities and triggers for calls upon reserves;

 Treatment of unspent contingency, or other underspend of the total 
budget to be determined by the Partners:
o Proportion, or target value to retain within the Integrated 

Commissioning Fund;
o Treatment of any underspend to be returned to the Partners;

 Agreement on accounting for reserves.  

36.3 Risk Sharing Arrangements

36.3.1The agreement from 1st October 2019 is that each organisation will 
begin to share financial risk on a 50:50 basis.  

36.3.2The variance to the total net budget allocation at the end of each 
financial year will be financed on a 50:50 basis.

37. Governance and delivery of outcomes  

37.1 The Bury Local Care Organisation (LCO) is at the heart of health and care 
reform in Bury. The new approach requires a stronger focus on outcomes based 
service delivery, highlighted by collaborative work between the One 
Commissioning Organisation (OCO)  and LCO on the development of an outcomes 
framework within clearly defined timescales.  

37.2 New models of neighbourhood working will require the alignment of intelligence 
resource across health and social care.  This will facilitate a whole system view of 
performance (alongside care models) to ensure strategic and operational 
management is underpinned by robust, forward looking insight and intelligence.  

37.3 The LCO are key to the delivery of the Bury Locality Plan which will lead to a 
clinically and financially sustainable health and care system, whilst simultaneously 
improving healthy life expectancy and outcomes for our residents.  

37.4 Bury’s approach to commissioning for outcomes is in development. The OCO 
expect the LCO to engage in the further development of and pay ‘due regard’ to 
the system wide outcomes framework as it further develops. This will include the 
development of outcome measures which will determine the impact of the Healthy 

Document Pack Page 110



/

72

Neighbourhood model and point towards the shifts associated with self-care and 
person centred approaches.  

37.5 The economy works together to address the areas identified as areas for 
improvement from a financial efficiency and quality perspective in the NHS Right 
Care programme.  The economy also ensures outcomes are agreed in line with the 
NHS Long Term Plan. 

37.6 The OCO and LCO will engage in a system approach to the delivery of these 
priorities, which cover the following areas:

 Sustainability Transformation Plans
 Finance
 Primary Care
 Urgent and emergency care 
 Referral to treatment times and elective care
 Cancer
 Mental health
 People with learning disabilities
 Improving quality in organisations

38. Curtailing services

38.1. The existing contractual design allows BMBC and the CCG options to curtail 
service commissioning mid-year.  There is scope to review the notice period 
(BMBC traditionally uses a 3 month notice period; CCG 1 year), but there is 
scope for earlier curtailment in event of failure to deliver the commissioned 
service).

38.2. The Service redesign procedure will include the requirement to identify and 
consider the likely knock-on and consequential effects of the proposed service.  

39. Value of financial risk from the other Partner

39.1. The Partners recognise the high risk of overspending of the Integrated 
Commissioning Fund.  This is based on the Partners’ budgetary performance in 
recent years.

39.2. The Partners will be jointly responsible for the delivery of an annually balanced 
ICF during the period to the end of 2022/2023.

39.3. Contributions between Partners may vary in individual years to meet differing 
financial pressures in health and social care but the Partners will ensure the 
Integrated Commissioning Fund is in balance each year and individual Partner 
contributions will be fully restored and balanced by year ending 2022/23. (please 
refer to section 27.1)

Managing the transactions of the Pooled Fund 

40. Transactions within the Pooled Fund

40.1 Funding management arrangements, at the transaction level, will be designed in 
line with the principle of limited change and aim for consistency with the 
administrative approach of the previous year:  Where practicable funds will 
remain with the respective Partner; and relevant transactions will be handled by 

Document Pack Page 111



/

73

them.  If required, to fulfil specific s75 Pool rules, recharges will be applied to 
ensure that the entirety of the Pooled Fund record is accounted for within the 
Pooled Fund.

40.2 The mechanism of “cash” flow and contribution to the Pooled Fund is managed in 
accordance with the documented procedure for the Better Care Fund in the 
Group Accounting Manual (GAM).  An extract of this procedure is provided at 
Appendix 1.

40.3 Expenditure from the Integrated Commissioning Fund: 

 Contractual arrangements will be unchanged from the Partners’ existing 
arrangements, unless evolving integration necessitates redesign. 

 A Lead Commissioner will be identified for each contractual arrangement. 

40.4 Specific arrangements and rules will be determined for the “direct payments” 
processes for Service Users (use of a holding bank account and “debit cards”).

40.5 Any potential impact of VAT regime differences will be reduced through the 
planned consistency of approach to: 

 Identify the scale and scope of the issue;
 Ensure that the correct VAT regime is applied to each transaction;
 Identify NHS service elements versus health related service elements.

40.6 The governance of transactions will reflect the constitution and financial 
regulations (SOs, SFIs, SoDA) of the Lead Commissioner, which initiates and 
processes the expenditure and payment transactions. 

40.8 The Partners agree that transactions for Aligned Funds will continue to be 
undertaken in accordance with the appropriate Partner's existing mechanisms 
and procedures.

Managing Financial Performance 

41. Budget management general arrangements

41.1 The Strategic Commissioning Board will be responsible for decisions to approve 
the expenditure proposed from the Pooled Fund:

 Each Partner will introduce arrangements whereby the annual allocation of 
funds to the Pooled Fund is agreed in accordance with their Constitution or 
governance requirements;

 Each Partner will approve commissioning contracts, where it is the Lead 
Commissioner.

41.2 The financial regulations (SFIs, SoDA) of each Partner will be reviewed for 
consistency.  Where required, the regulations will be amended to enable the 
proposed structures and responsibilities to be implemented 

Review of in-year budget allocation 

41.3 The basic principle is that budget allocations to the Integrated Commissioning 
Fund will not change (in-year) once they have been agreed. However both 
Partners agree that they will be updated in recognition of national funding 

Document Pack Page 112



/

74

decisions of the Government and associated agencies together with funding 
decisions taken by BMBC and the CCG.

41.4 Resources identified during the year, and specific to the services in the 
agreement and to the population served, will be adjusted accordingly.  Examples 
include:

 Specific grants;
 Funding from DH, NHS England, other government sources;
 Successful bids from Greater Manchester Health and Social Care 

Partnership.

41.5 The Partners have agreement on a model whereby they retain the right to revisit 
allocations during the year 

 Risks arising from external sources (protocol for responding to pressures, 
faced by either partner, from external sources);

 Risks arising from internal sources.

42. In-year financial performance 

Local operating rules 

42.1 The Partners have implemented administrative arrangements based on existing 
arrangements, and that will be developed, where beneficial, for the strategic 
commissioning function as a whole.

42.2 For individual schemes, the arrangements will reflect: 

 Any legislative / funding restrictions or requirements 
 strategic priority restrictions 

42.3 Reporting of performance (financial, contracts, quality etc.) will be delivered in 
terms of gross income and expenditure.

42.4 The forecasting approach for the Pooled Fund and the wider Integrated 
Commissioning Fund will be determined by the Partners.

Monitoring performance

42.5 The Partners have developed a model for monitoring monthly performance of the 
Integrated Commissioning Fund.  This model includes : 

 Actual and forecast expenditure and income;
 Monitoring of service backlogs
 Monitoring against agreed contract outcomes.

43. Responding to overspend trends 

Alerting Partners of the likely overspend

43.1 The Partners have developed an agreed approach to addressing trends towards 
overspending in the Integrated Commissioning Fund.  Design of the tool for 
alerting partners of likely overspend includes :

 Triggers and thresholds;

Document Pack Page 113



/

75

 Agreed sensitivity measures;
 Trend analysis and alerts;
 Analysis of impact of/on related activities;
 Impact of progress along the annual timeframe – forecasting and sensitivity 

analysis over the medium term.

43.2 Escalation rules will address 

 Scope for managing the situation within the Strategic Commissioning 
Management Team, including agreed delegations;

43.3 The Partners’ approach to responding to adverse trends will vary, depending on 
the value of the potential overspend and the progress along the annual timeline:

 differentiating response (scale, threshold etc.) according to progress 
through the financial year.

Managing potential overspends 

43.4 Escalation arrangements for responding to overspends forecast through the year 
includes assessment of options for:

 Management of contracts (and contract adjustments);
 Management of demand;
 Service redesign.

43.5 The procedure includes arrangements for agreeing the response to; and 
flexibility allowed within the Integrated Commissioning Fund for changes in 
allocations, in-year:

 Both Partners options to curtail the Service at any point during the year.

43.6 Where elements of the trend to overspend are specific to one Partner, the 
Partners will agree:

 The priority of demand on available funds to offset overspends;
 The approach to allocating and apportioning risk (in year and forecast 

outturn) between the Partners.

43.7 Where elements of the trend to overspend exist within Integrated 
Commissioning elements i.e. where both Parties would otherwise separately 
contribute to the Service, contributions between Partners will vary in individual 
years to meet differing financial pressures in health and social care but the 
Partners will ensure the Integrated Commissioning Fund is in balance each year 
and individual Partner contributions will be fully restored and balanced over a 4 
year rolling average period.

43.8 The Partners will agree arrangements for emergency management of any 
recovery position, including: 

 suspension of Host Partner’s management of the Integrated Commissioning 
Fund;

 agreed amendments to the structure of governance and management of the 
Integrated Commissioning Fund in emergency measures.

Document Pack Page 114



/

76

44 Responding to annual overspends

44.1 The Partners will develop arrangements for addressing Overspends not 
recovered at the year-end and/or projected in future years as outlined in 
paragraph 43.7.

44.2 BMBC’s inability to carry-forward an overspent position will be addressed 
through use of reserves, which will be recovered in the subsequent year(s).

45 Responding to annual underspends 

45.1 The Partners will identify underspends as generated:

 By whole Pooled Fund;
 By specific Pooled Fund elements;
 By Partner responsibility.

45.2 Options for addressing underspends recorded at the year-end will include: 

 Allocate to investment fund;
 Carry forward to next year’s budget:

o Legal restrictions (CCG RAB budgeting);
o BMBC’s scope to hold balances, but CCG to prove no draw-down in 

advance of need;
 Off-set against next year’s budget;
 Return to Partners:

o Mechanism for agreeing share of returns.

Other financial Considerations 

46 Design of the financial ledger 

46.1 Both Partners will design processes that deliver a clear audit trail of each 
element of the Integrated Commissioning Fund.

 Assurance on the accuracy and completeness of the records will be provided 
by the Partners;

 Assurance of compliance with s75 may be through a self-assessment and 
self-certification.  But the Partners agree that this will be subject to an 
Internal Audit review, as a minimum.

47 Financial reporting responsibilities of the Host Partner and the Chief 
Financial Officer

47.1 The Partners will agree the arrangements for administering and managing the 
financial records of the Pooled Fund.  Elements specific to the set-up of financial 
record include:

 Ledger and consolidations (developing the arrangement for combining the 
Integrated Commissioning Fund records of the Partners);

 Transactions (delivering the audit trail to show the transactions making up 
the Integrated Commissioning Fund record);

 Reporting.

Document Pack Page 115



/

77

47.2 The Partners will agree the financial performance reporting needs of each, 
including providing analysis and summaries of the financial performance of the 
strategic commissioning function, in accordance with the Partner organisations’ 
requirements 

 In accordance with timetables agreed by both Partners;
 Providing the details required by both Partners;
 Designed to meet the needs of the differing audience(s).

47.3 The Chief Financial Officer will ensure the proper treatment specific aspects of 
the Pooled Fund and its transactions: 

 Ring-fenced budgets, specific schemes and funding restrictions:
 VAT;
 Year-end treatment of surpluses;
 Audit.

47.4 The Chief Financial Officer will ensure the provision of the annual return to 
Partners, identifying separately and in total: BCF and Pooled Fund

 Contributions to the Pooled Fund:
 Expenditure from the Pooled Fund:
 Treatment of the difference / risk share;
 Detail for ring fenced schemes and restricted funds;
 Reporting deadlines.

Requirements of partner organisations 

47.5 The Partners will agree their respective requirements for the monitoring and 
reporting of the financial position: 

 Financial contribution to the Integrated Commissioning Fund:
 Expenditure and commitments;
 Contract performance ;
 Overall performance of the Integrated Commissioning Fund.

47.6 Assurance framework requirements:

 Sources of assurance;
 Specific funding and ring fencing requirements in respect of appropriateness 

of spend.

47.7 Overview of management of the Integrated Commissioning Fund:

 Review arrangements;
 Access to records, including audit access;
 Ad hoc reviews.

47.8 And year-end requirements:

 Deadlines specific to NHS/Local Government (LG) and specific reporting 
requirements;

 Accountable Officer / s151 Officer assurance requirements;
 IFRS reporting requirement;
 Governance statement requirements.

Document Pack Page 116



/

78

48 Managing the cash position 

48.1 The Host Partner will: 

 Hold monies contributed to the Pooled Fund that are required for 
transactions generated from the Host Partner:

 The timing of contributions will align to payment obligations
 Administer the payment processes for its own transactions;
 Administer the consolidation of the financial records of the Pooled Fund.

48.2 The Partners will adhere to the rules and restrictions applying to them:

 The CCG is required to limit cash draw-down to the monies required, when 
they are required:
o Not allowed to draw excess cash;
o Not allowed to earn interest, or investment income;
o Not allowed to have a cash balance at the year-end;

 BMBC is allowed to invest available cash to earn income on its own resource 
allocation:
o BMBC will determine how interest income is used; and is not obliged to 

include any part of that interest income in the Integrated 
Commissioning Fund.

48.3 Banking arrangements will reflect existing arrangements.

48.4 Transaction payments from the CCG and BMBC will be unchanged from current 
arrangements.  BMBC should not suffer a reduced capacity to generate 
investment income from retained cash and investment balances.  But, BMBC will 
not be able to derive investment advantage through early draw-down of CCG 
funds. 

49 Payment mechanisms 

49.1 The Partners acknowledge responsibility for paying all sums due to Providers, in 
compliance with contract terms.

49.2 The Partners will agree arrangements for making payments to Providers, such 
that Providers are not affected by any changes to the structure of commissioning 
from the Integrated Commissioning Fund.

49.3 The design of payment mechanism will ensure that the Integrated 
Commissioning Fund structure delivers the full process of receipt of invoice, 
confirmation of service delivery and standards compliance, confirming amount 
due to invoice amount, instructing payment.

49.4 Providers will not be affected adversely by any specific rules that apply to certain 
services managed through the Integrated Commissioning Fund.

49.5 Any specific arrangements for LG and NHS to comply with will be identified and 
addressed, as necessary.

50 Direct Payments 

50.1 The Partners recognise the growing importance and impact of direct payments to 
Service Users for purchasing their own agreed packages of care.

Document Pack Page 117



/

79

50.2 The design of the resource allocation arrangements will deliver:

 Discipline over approval of proposed care plans and direct payments 
approach;

 Security of funding ahead of spend by Service Users (e.g. “debit card”, pre-
approved spend) 

 Approach to recovering unused funding from individual Service Users.

 Income opportunities 

50.3 Grants and sponsorship

50.3.1 The partners will seek to maximise uptake of opportunities of funding 
offered, including:

 Government Grant funding:
oAs an annual allocation;
o Through one-off projects;

 Grants from other organisations;
 Sponsorship;
 Opportunities to charge for enhanced services commissioned.

50.4 Chargeable health related services 

50.4.1 BMBC will retain responsibility for assessing the contribution (to a 
provided social service) to be paid by Service Users.  

50.4.2 BMBC will retain responsibility for collecting the assessed contribution.

51 Insurance and VAT 

51.1 Insurance 

51.1.1 The NHS element of the Integrated Commissioning Fund will continue to 
be risk-shared by the NHS Litigation Authority.

51.1.2 BMBC will maintain its approach to insuring its service commissioning 
role.

51.1.3 Providers will be contractually required to prove that they have adequate 
and sufficient insurance cover for the services that they deliver. 

51.2 VAT 

51.2.1 The Partners will set out the details of the treatment of VAT in respect of 
the Services commissioned through the Integrated Commissioning Fund:

 Identify range of services for which VAT is reclaimable;
 Identify charged services which have to be subject to VAT;
 Identify controls for ensuring that VAT is treated correctly.

52 Capital investment 

52.1 The financial arrangements for the Integrated Commissioning Fund will recognise 
and allow for BMBC’s approach to delivering future service improvement through 

Document Pack Page 118



/

80

capital grants to achieve improved quality, lower cost accommodation for 
services e.g.  

 Disabled Facilities Grant 

52.2 BMBC will retain ownership of any assets that are to be retained.

52.3 BMBC has the option to arrange on behalf of both Partners unsupported 
borrowing to support capital investment in the Bury economy.

Document Pack Page 119



/

81

Appendix 1  

Extract from the Group Accounting Manual (formerly Manual for Accounts)

Accounting for Section 75 agreements
The DHSC manual for accounts (MfA) recently superseded by the Group Accounting 
Manual (GAM) but underpinned by the same accounting principles reports:

There is no requirement to physically transfer cash from any entity to the host in 
order to have a pooled budget arrangement under s75.  The Pooled budget is an 
accounting concept that does not have to be represented by the creation of a pooled 
cash resource.

Given the above, and based on the decision tree extract, from the DH SC Manual For 
Accounts, members will have direct accounting relationships with providers.  This will 
eliminate the CCG risk associated with NHS England consolidation, as well as simplify 
the Agreement of Balances process, and ensure that each member accounts for its 
own share of assets and liabilities.  This will, however, result in the requirement of a 
memorandum to each of the members accounts, detailing the consolidation of the 
‘pooled’ funds

Transfer of cash will only take place where services are commissioned on behalf of a 
member, by another member and will only be transacted as required, supported by 
detailed cash flow information, and not in advance of need.

Document Pack Page 120



1

MEETING: Overview and Scrutiny Committee

DATE: 10th March 2020

SUBJECT: Bury Market

REPORT FROM: Councillor Jane Black, Corporate Affairs and HR

CONTACT OFFICER: Paul Lakin, Director of Economic Regeneration

1.0 BACKGROUND 

1.1. At its meeting on 12 September the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
requested that a report setting out the work of the Bury Market Working Group 
be brought to a future meeting of the Committee. 

1.2. This report responds to that request by setting out the remit and methodology 
of Bury Market Task Group.  The work of the Task Group is described.  The final 
report of the Task Group with recommendations for action is being compiled 
and will be submitted to Cabinet on 23 March.  That report will be available for 
scrutiny by this Committee. 

1.3 Bury Market is a major asset for the Borough and has underpinned the success 
of Bury Town Centre (the third most successful in GM).  In 2019 Bury Market 
won National Association of Recording Merchandisers Best Markets Attraction 
Award and has won numerous other awards.  However Bury Market, along with 
markets and town centres nationally has to face the challenges of on-line 
shopping.

1.4 During 2019 the Council received representations from market traders at Bury 
Market about difficult trading conditions and the operation of the Market.  
These representations included requests for rent reductions. 

1.5 Following discussions with Market traders, including the Bury Market Traders 
Association, the Council agreed to invest in physical improvements to the 
Market and to establish a cross party Task Group to identify options for the 
long term future of Bury Market. 

2.0. Bury Market Task Group

2.1. The membership of the Task Group was:

Cllr J Black – Chair 
Cllr S Wright
Cllr G McGill

Agenda
Item

SCRUTINY REPORT  

Document Pack Page 121 Agenda Item 7



2

Cllr Y Wright

2.2. The remit of the Task Group is:

 To agree a strategy for Bury market to ensure that it remains at the heart of 
the town’s retail experience for the next 20 years

 To help create a vision for how the Market evolves to meet changing 
consumer tastes and preferences

 To identify the investment opportunities that can secure the future of the 
Market 

 Identify how the Market can better connect to wealthier local residents who 
don’t use it

 Identify how the Market can change without alienating its existing customer 
base. 

2.3. To complete its work the Task Group has:-

 Engaged Bury Market Traders and other stakeholders in Bury Town Centre 
including 

o A work shop was held in July 2019 with one of the outcomes being a 
Member led task group.  

o All Traders were also invited to the first Task Group in October 2019 
although none attended. 

o All Traders were also invited to the Task Group meeting on 20 
November with 6 Traders attending  

 Taken evidence from experts in retail, market trading and place marketing.  
To do this the task Group has worked with Leeds University who have 
undertaken a nationally funded research programme on Markets.  Bury 
Market is one of three case studies to underpin the research.  This has given 
the Task Group access to data and research which has created an evidence 
base. 

2.4. The Task Group has received evidence on:-

 The operation of the market
 Occupancy rates
 The level of rents, which have been frozen over the last three years
 Footfall associated with the Market and the importance of this to the town 

centre as a whole
 Customer demographics
 Parking charges 
 The financial performance of the Market 
 The perceptions and image of the Market
 The diversity of goods offered 
 Bury Market as a tourist attraction and the impact of coach visitors on trade

2.5 From the evidence gathered on the issues listed in 3.4 above, and from its 
engagement with Market traders and other stakeholders, the Task Group has 
been able to address a range of key issues, specific to Bury Market.  The 
impact of on-line shopping is being felt by markets in town centres across the 
country.  However the response to this challenge has to be specific to each 
market in its place.  This is certainly true of Bury market which has a unique 
heritage and role (social as well as economic) in Bury.  The key issues which 
the Task group has addressed include: 

 How the market can be promoted to increase footfall and spend

Document Pack Page 122



3

 The future development of the market to expand the range of experiences 
offered and to broaden the customer base, without putting at risk the 
existing customer base.  

 The functions of Bury market within Bury Town Centre as a whole and how 
future development of the Town Centre can support the long term 
sustainability of the Market. 

 How traders can be supported to develop and where necessary diversify 
their business. 

 The involvement of data and intelligence on the performance of the market 
to inform future developments. 

3. CONCLUSION  

3.1 The findings and recommendations of the Bury markets Task Group are being 
compiled.  This input from the research by Leeds University is in the process of 
being assessed included in the final analysis.

3.2 The report from the Task Group will be submitted to Cabinet on 25 March 2020.  
The decision of Cabinet will be subject to the normal call-in process for 
Overview and Scrutiny. 

TRACKING/PROCESS

DIRECTOR: Paul Lakin 

Chief Executive/
Strategic Leadership 

Team

Executive 
Member/Chair

Ward Members Partners

x x

Scrutiny Committee Committee Council

Cabinet report 
25.3.20

Document Pack Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 MINUTES
	OverviewScrutiny11thFeb2020

	5 COMMUNITY ASSET TRANSFER UPDATE
	Appendix a

	6 BURY INTEGRATED COMMISSIONING FUND
	7 BURY AND RADCLIFFE MARKETS UPDATE

